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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of CHINA
GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “We”)
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 (the “Year”).

In 2016, the recovery of the world economic is still slow and international
trade and investment is relatively weak. The world economy is still struggling
in the “low growth trap” due to the lack of growth momentum. In the context
of the world economic downturn, in 2016, as the beginning year of “13th
Five-Year Plan” of the People's Republic of China ("PRC" or "China"), China
seizes the opportunities such as the acceleration of internationalization of
the Renminbi, the establishment of the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank
as well as the implementation of “One Belt One Road” strategic measure
to speed up the transformation of economic development mode and
restructuring of economic so as to ensure that the economic maintains in
a reasonable range. Meanwhile, the economic growth model also changed
gradually. In 2016, consumption has become the greatest driver of China’s
economic growth. The scale of China’s consumer market ranked second
in the world. The economic growth model has shifted from primarily relying
on investment-driven to consumption-driven. The central government also
proposed to promote new urbanization in the country to maintain steady
economic growth. With the improvement of domestic consumer confidence,
we made more effort on the development of sales channels based on
the existing stable production, supply and marketing system to achieve
continuous growth of the Group’s results. During the Year, we recorded
a revenue of RMB1,086,200,000 (2015: RMB762,120,000), represented
an increase of approximately 42.53%. In 2016, we concentrated on the
development of domestic channels and maintained satisfying business
growth. We established new operating companies in cities in the provinces
in northeast China, central China, southern China and southwest China
respectively and leveraged the existing channels to develop a nationwide
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

sales channel network. Moreover, we improved our production capacity
through further upgrade of edible fungi production technology and
introduction of new equipment, and expanded our market share in the edible
fungi sector for sustainable our profitability in future. We will proactively
develop our business in the shiitake mushroom and black fungi market to
achieve our goal of becoming an integrated supplier of edible fungi food
products in China. We will also strengthen the research and development
of new spawn with a view to diversify edible fungi species and uphold the
strategic plans of the Group. With China’s One Belt, One Road initiative,
development of the industrialized cultivation technology for new breed of
edible fungi will be carried out and the developed technologies or products
will be exported overseas for the development of a circular economy. We
are also proactively looking for merger and acquisition opportunities for
expansion of the scope of cultivation and increase profitability. Meanwhile,
we abide by our social responsibility as a listed company all the time.
Enterprises earn from the community and they should give back to the
community when capable. For such purposes, we take the social obligation
in various aspects such as staff welfare, food safety, environmental
protection, charity, and make use of cooperate resources and ability to
benefit the community so as to achieve the win-win situation in the business
efficiency and social benefits.

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my wholehearted gratitude to
all the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). In 2016, in
the support and effort of our staffs, we achieve stable and sustainable
development for the Group. In 2017, we will continue to forge ahead to
adhere the objective of creating greater value for the Shareholders.

Zheng Songhui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2017
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
EEER DT

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading integrated supplier of edible fungi products in the
PRC. According to Euromonitor International Limited, the Group was the
largest supplier of king trumpet mushroom and the seventh largest producer
of button mushroom in the PRC in terms of production volume in 2013.
The Group’s edible fungi business operations covers the cultivation and
sales of fresh edible fungi products including king trumpet mushroom,
button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom, as well as
the manufacturing and sales of various processed edible fungi products
and edible fungi healthcare products. In 2016, a segment of cultivation
and sales of shiitake mushroom was newly added by the Group. Such
integrated business model distinguishes the Group from other fresh and
processed edible fungi suppliers in the PRC, most of which are mainly
engaged in part or parts of the value chain of cultivation, processing and
sales of edible fungi. The Group is also a manufacturer of processed food
products such as canned food and other processed food products in
the PRC. With edible fungi industry currently becoming well-developed
and facing intensified competition, the Board is of the opinion that further
expansion of its distribution and sales network is a key to further increase
its market share and coverage. As such, the Group took an active approach
in establishing sales channels for edible fungi and strived to expand both
the coverage and scope of which through global deployment in 2016.
To date, the Group has already set up operating subsidiaries in Xinjiang
Uyghur Autonomous Region, Heilongjiang Province, Hebei Province, Jiangxi
Province, Guangdong Province and Yunnan Province of China, Hong Kong,
Japan and Singapore, specially focusing on the sales of fresh edible fungi
products and edible fungi healthcare products.

The Group’s products are primarily marketed under the core brands,

1'%’7’; "and “BRTREE " and are mainly categorised into two series,
namely (I) fresh edible fungi products consisting of king trumpet mushroom,
button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom; and (Il)
processed food products consisting of canned food such as canned
edible fungi, canned vegetables and canned fruit, and other processed
food products such as brined mushroom, preserved vegetables and dried
mushroom. Canned food is primarily original equipment manufactured
(“OEM”) products. Goods for trading mainly comprise edible fungi, fruits,
vegetables, canned food, frozen food and edible fungi healthcare products
etc.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
B EwED AT

King Trumpet Mushroom

King trumpet mushroom is the most successful and the largest business
segment of the Group since its entering in the edible fungi industry. Sales
of king trumpet mushroom has always contributed the majority of the
Group’s revenue. During the Year, sales revenue of king trumpet mushroom
amounted to 33% of the Group’s revenue.

Button, Straw and Shiitake Mushrooms

The Group first started cultivation of button and straw mushrooms in
2009 and 2012 respectively and successfully extended its reach to the
industrialized cultivation of shiitake mushroom in 2016. During the Year, the
sales revenue of button, straw and shiitake mushrooms represented 18% of
the Group’s revenue.

Processed Food Products
Canned Food

The Group principally supplies canned edible fungi, canned vegetables and
canned fruit, etc. A majority of the canned food products of the Group are
manufactured by OEM, with only part of those being manufactured and
sold under the Group’s own brands. During the Year, the sales revenue of
canned food products of the Group represented 7% of the Group’s revenue.

Other Processed Food Products

The Group is also engaged in the manufacturing and sales of a variety of
other processed food products, including brined mushroom, preserved
vegetables and dried mushroom, all of which are sold under the Group’s
own brands. During the Year, the sales revenue of other processed food
products of the Group accounted to 5% of the Group’s revenue.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
B EwED AT

Trading through domestic network

During the Year, the Group endeavored to build up sales channels for
edible fungi so as to achieve its goal of national deployment of its own
sales channels. Through newly established subsidiaries in various regions of
China namely Heilongjiang Province, Hebei Province, Guangdong Province
and Yunan Province, etc., the edible fungi and vegetables which we
procure from the market will be sold to different market across China after
preliminary processing. During the Year, the sales revenue generated from
domestic channel accounted to 14% of the Group’s revenue.

International trading of food

The international trading of food business involves mainly the procurement
and sales of edible fungi, vegetables, fruits, canned food, frozen food and
edible fungi healthcare products, in which overseas orders will be entered
into between the wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong established by the
Group and foreign trading companies, and procurement contracts will be
signed with the domestic qualified trading companies for the procurement
of required export goods. During the Year, the sales revenue of the
international trading of food business of the Group represented 23% of the
Group’s revenue.

PROSPECTS

The world’s annual average growth rate of the production volume of edible
fungi from 1994 to 2013 was 14.3%, which was mainly contributed by
the PRC. In 2013, the PRC, ltaly, the United States, the Netherlands and
Poland are the five largest manufacturers of edible fungi around the world,
representing 71.29%, 7.98%, 4.09%, 3.25% and 2.22% of the global
production volume of edible fungi, respectively.

China is the world’s largest manufacturer of edible fungi and its total
production volume represents more than 70% of the world’s total
production volume. In China, edible fungi is the sixth kind of key products,
only after grain, cotton, oil, fruits and vegetables.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
SRR RS

In view of the rapid development of the social economy of China, the living
standard of consumers is improving and the public is becoming more aware
of healthy diet. Being one of the most environmental-friendly and healthy
consumer food products, edible fungi has gained increasing acceptance
and recognition from consumers. Also, the huge growth potential of
edible fungi market in China has been reflected by its largest population
base around the world. Given the concern of food safety and the ever-
growing consumer demand, the traditional cultivation model of edible
fungi will be gradually replaced by the more advanced and fully automated
way of industrialized cultivation. Equipped with a well-established quality
management system, the industrialized cultivation model is capable to
protect safety across the whole processes from the source of edible fungi to
finished products, as well as enhance productivity. In the future, the edible
fungi industry will step towards higher level of industrialized cultivation.

Through technology upgrading, the Group will increase its production
volume by raising the biotransformation rate and expand its production
capacity by building its own factories and through mergers and acquisitions.
It will actively seek high-quality industrial base of edible fungi as the targets
of merger and acquisition. The Board is of the view that appropriate
integration, merger and acquisition of the industry will facilitate the
development of edible fungi industry, while at the same time is beneficial to
the expansion of the scope of cultivation and the increase of profitability of
the Group.

Much effort will be devoted by the Group in the establishment of sales
channels inside or outside China so as to build up its own sales platform
for assurance of better business development. The Group believes the
establishment of our own sales platform will help further increase our market
shares and product coverage, thereby driving the future development of the
Group.

Upholding its aim of becoming an integrated supplier of edible fungi industry,
the Group always strives to develop both the upstream and downstream
segments of the edible fungi industry, targeting to pioneer the development
direction of the edible fungi industry. The Group will reinforce its efforts
in research and development and try its endeavor to achieve technology
breakthroughs in respect of edible fungi healthcare products, so as to
develop new products. Development of the industrialized cultivation
technology for new breed of edible fungi will be carried out, and, driven by
the PRC’s state policy of “One Belt, One Road”, the relevant technologies or
products will be exported overseas, which will enable the development of a
circular economy.

While maintaining good operation and management, the Group
also undertakes proper social responsibilities. The Group was
awarded the “Community Chest Annual Presentation of Awards
(BEAR#HE — A& E ) and the “Business Excellence Awards — The
Best Edible Fungi Health Industry Supplier (#HE¥EE A E-HERAR

fi R EE ZE AR FERS)” in 2016.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
EEER DT

USE OF PROCEEDS

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”)
on 18 June 2015 (the “Listing Date”) and the net proceeds from the
global offering were approximately RMB444,990,000 (net of underwriting
commission and relevant expenses). The Company has not utilized the
proceeds from the Listing yet. The Directors intend to utilize the proceeds
in accordance with the ways set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 18
June 2015.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and gross profit

The Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,086,220,000
during the Year (2015: RMB762,120,000), representing an increase of
approximately 42.53%. In which, sales of (I) king trumpet mushroom; (Il)
button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom; (lll) canned
food; (IV) other processed food; (V) trading through domestic network;
(VI) international trading of food were approximately RMB362,110,000,
RMB191,570,000, RMB76,150,000, RMB52,350,000, RMB150,960,000
and RMB253,080,000, respectively (2015: RMB296,870,000,
RMB243,200,000, RMB99,620,000, RMB45,540,000, RMB3,180,000 and
RMB73,710,000), representing approximately 33.34%, 17.64%, 7.00%,
4.82%, 13.90% and 23.30% of the revenue of the Group, respectively
(2015: 38.95%, 31.91%, 13.07%, 5.98%, 0.42% and 9.67%).

The increase in revenue during the Year was mainly because (1) the Group
intensified its effort in the establishment of channels during the Year. On
the basis of the subsidiaries in Jiangxi, Xinjiang, Fujian in the PRC, the sales
channels in the PRC increased as a result of the newly set up subsidiaries in
Guangdong, Yunnan, Hebei, Heilongjiang in the PRC, which enhanced the
revenue; (2) the sales volume of the international trading of food business of
the Group increased during the Year, thereby enabling increase in the sales
revenue of the Group; (3) the increase in contract farming boosted the sales
volume of king trumpet mushroom contributing to the increase in revenue;
(4) the Group’s advancement in its technology improved the quality of king
trumpet mushroom, allowing prices to rise and driving up the revenue.
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The following table sets forth our revenue and the percentage of revenue by T Z #5174~ & EixE LA El 5 2 ARG
product categories:

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
HZE2016512A31HILEE HE2015F12A31B LFE
Percentage Percentage
of sales of sales
Product category Revenue revenue Revenue revenue
1 E 1h3HE
EmER A WAB DL WA WABED L
RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%)
AREFT ARBEFT
King trumpet mushroom ek 362,106 33.34% 296,873 38.95%
Button mushroom, straw mushroom B BEERER
and shiitake mushroom 191,564 17.64% 243,199 31.91%
Canned food EER M 76,146 7.00% 99,617 13.07%
Other processed food products Hip TR 52,352 4.82% 45,538 5.98%
Trading through domestic network NRBIHE 150,964 13.90% 3,179 0.42%
International trading of food BERRAES 253,084 23.30% 73,712 9.67%
Total A 1,086,216 762,118
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The following table sets forth the Group’s gross profit (before business tax  FR &I AEBIZE RO EIADEMWEEALE
and surcharges) and gross profit margin by product category before and  ERZEAIREMEEA L BERAZE ZENCRI

after fair value adjustment on biological assets: R 2B R M an) R FEF K
For the year ended 31 December 2016 For the year ended 31 December 2015

HEN16512831BLER HE15512A31R L ERE

After fair value adjustment ~ Before fair value adjustment  After fair value adjustment Before fair value adjustment
MEERRE AREEREH ArEERER ArEEREA

Product category Gross profit  Profit margin ~ Gross profit Profit margin ~ Gross profit ~ Profit margin -~ Gross proft ~ Profit margin
EREA EZl EHZ £ ER% E Eiks £ EE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR AREFT AREFT
King trumpet mushroom Pt 126,297 34.88% 129,065 35.64% 125,832 42.3%9% 120,683 40.65%

Button mushroom, straw mushroom &% « EFERER

and shitake mushroom 96,276 50.26% 90,997 47.50% 104,906 43.14% 125,409 51.57%
(anned food BERM 16,078 2.11% 16,078 21.11% 20,764 20.84% 20,764 20.84%
Other processed food products EMIRG 9,868 18.85% 9,868 18.85% 5,291 11.62% 5,291 11.62%
Trading through domestic network REEHE 15,660 10.37% 15,660 10.37% 333 10.47% 333 10.47%
International trading of food BBERRES 14,406 5.69% 14,406 5.69% 3,987 5.41% 3,987 541%
Total ait 278,585 25.65% 276,074 25.42% 261,112 34.26% 276,467 36.28%

The following table sets forth the sales volume and average selling price by TRIYIEERERZ D ZHEERTHER
product categories:

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
HZ2016F12831HILFE HZE2015F12A31AILFE
Sales Average Sales Average
volume  selling price volume selling price
$HE THEE HE THEE
(Kilogram) (RMB) (Kilogram) (RMB)
(AF) (AR®) (AF) (ARH)
Fresh edible fungi FEHERARER
King trumpet mushroom oy afes 46,478,441 7.79 39,833,043 7.45
Button mushroom, straw mushroom Bt BEREREHE
and shiitake mushroom 25,194,485 7.60 30,625,221 7.94
Processed food MIRMA
Canned food R m 10,951,171 6.95 14,147,307 7.04
Other processed food products HipM TR M 5,050,057 10.37 4,765,448 9.56
Trading of food RmEZ
Trading through domestic network BAREHE 17,897,572 8.43 399,008 7.97
International trading of food BREERE S 14,604,930 17.33 5,491,778 13.42
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Analysis of the changes in revenue

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately RMB324,100,000
or 42.53% from approximately RMB762,120,000 for the year ended
31 December 2015 to approximately RMB1,086,220,000 for the Year,
primarily due to: (I) the surge in revenue from international trading of
food of approximately RMB179,370,000 or 243.34%; (ll) the increase
in income from the trading through domestic network of approximately
RMB147,790,000 or 4,648.79%; and (lll) the rise in revenue from king
trumpet mushroom of approximately RMB65,230,000 or 21.97%.

The Group’s king trumpet mushroom business consists of two business
models, namely self-owned cultivation and contract farming. The self-
owned cultivation represents the production and sales model of cultivating
king trumpet mushroom with the self-built factories and employees of the
Group, whereas the contract farming represents the agricultural production
and sales model that, when the Group receives sales orders and expects
that the production capacity of its self-own cultivation is not able to satisfy
the demand, the Group enters into contracts with qualified farmers for
the arrangement of their production and cultivation technology support,
pursuant to which the Group undergoes unified acquisition of the high
quality king trumpet mushrooms after harvest.

The sales volume of king trumpet mushroom for the Year increased by
approximately 6,645 tonnes, primarily due to the growth of contract farming
after signing contracts with qualified farmers as the production capacity
of the self-own cultivation fails to satisfy the demand, with the increase in
sales orders after the optimization of sales channels of the Group during
the Year. The average selling price per kilogram rose by RMB0.34, which
was mainly due to the improvement of the Group’s technology resulting in
the increase in the quality and selling price of king trumpet mushroom. The
overall rise also attributed to the Group’s new factory for bottle-cultivation
of king trumpet mushroom in 2016, with the produced small king trumpet
mushroom available in the end market located in Thailand, as well as its
business expansion to markets in such areas as Nanchang and Xinjiang in
the PRC. As a result of which, revenue from king trumpet mushroom in 2016
surged by approximately RMB65,230,000 as compared to that in 2015.

The sales volume of button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake
mushroom for the Year decreased by approximately 5,431 tonnes, primarily
because the Group phased out mushroom plants with obsolete production
facilities, which led to the drop of the cultivation area for button mushroom
and straw mushroom in Fujian province of China. The cultivation area of
button mushroom decreased from 890,000 sqg.m in the first half of 2015
to 590,000 sg.m in 2016, and that of straw mushroom decreased from
880,000 sg.m in the first half of 2015 to 790,000 sg.m in 2016. Meanwhile,
the factory in Sichuan province of China stopped production at the end of
last year resulted in the decline in the volume of industrialized cultivation of
mushroom. The average selling price per kilogram of button mushroom and
straw mushroom products for the Year increased by RMBO0.42 compared
to last year and the average selling price per kilogram of the newly-added
shiitake mushroom segment was RMB2.67. The unit selling price of button
mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom products generally
lowered by RMBO0.34 compared to last year due to the change of product

WAZB DT

RNEFRAREE2015F12A31HIEEEHA
RE76212EETHENARKEI241088 T
542.53% E RN FAN L AR1,086.22E F T -
FTEHRNNERRRESHERAERHARE
179.37 B B 7L 8243.34% » (INEI AR EHE UK
AERHOARB147.79H B L 54,648.79% : &
(N FF S E R A RN AREESS.23F &rsk
21.97% °

AEBERMEXBEEMERN a6 EER
AEFTEAREEN - AFEERAREALAE
EEEmHE BTTEREIABELGHENEHR
X ATEXAREREASERIIHERER @ &
STEEREMEREEREH R FAHETE]
ROEFPEIT A  BBTHEPETEEYH
TRERMES  ERPRRRREAVEED
MAMEERETR —WEN —BREEHER -

NE RN ELE S B IN46,6450 © EBEMMAAK
FALEBERBENL  HETEEN  A5&H
BEBEMNEREEZRER K  AMEAKTEER
MEFEPRFTAL  sTENBEEN: FHER
FrifEsE EAARKOSAT T 2EhRALEH
gL eklE - A MAE FAEERS B2016
FAREEFBEHDRE TR EX/ BT
MBS URER  UEHRABTHREES -
FEEME  HESERSHEHEESEEIRA
MRS MEHEBEE LA BRFE2016F AT HE
EUWALL2015F LN A RH65.23E & T ©

AENEL B NREWEEERD 45,4310 -
FEARAEBRAAEERCRENTERE  EX
RPEEEENER REENEERRE NE &
HIEEEER2015F F¥FH8B A KRLE
2016 M598 K - B EEMEIEH20159F £
FFEHBBE T AR E2016F 798 F K
ESRFREOIEZIMR LEFEREE  ITH
{CIEEEERAERD  AFEHEMEEFHER
FrifEEEELEF FAARKO42TT » FTEE
BEBFHETATHEEBARBK267L AR

MEBNRE  REREERE  BELREEE
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structure. As a result of the decrease in price per kilogram and sales volume,
sales revenue from button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake
mushroom in 2016 decreased by RMB51,640,000 as compared to that in
2015.

The sales volume of canned food for the Year decreased by approximately
3,196 tonnes, which was primarily attributable to the influence of the
international market, such as the decline in demand for edible fungi canned
food in Russia, Europe and the US, hence resulting in the decrease in
sales volume. The average selling price per kilogram for the Year dropped
by RMBO0.09 as compared to that in 2015, mainly due to the vigorous
competition in the export industry of canned food products. In order
to enhance the export volume, the selling price of the Group’s canned
food products was accordingly adjusted downward to maintain price
competitiveness. Due to the decrease in sales volume and selling price, the
revenue from canned food products in 2016 dropped by RMB23,470,000 as
compared to that in 2015.

The sales volume of other processed food products for the Year increased
by 285 tonnes as compared to that in 2015, primarily due to the increase
in the market demand of brined mushroom this Year, and in this regard the
Group processed more brined mushroom for sale. The average selling price
per kilogram for the Year increased by RMBO0.81 as compared to that in
2015, primarily due to the increase in the selling price of brined mushroom
as a result of the influence of the demand and supply this Year, and the
relatively higher selling price of dried mushroom also raised the selling price
of other processed food products in general. As the unit price and sales
volume increased, the revenue from other processed food products in 2016
increased by RMB6,810,000 as compared to that in 2015.

During the Year, the Group placed much effort in building up domestic
channels and establishing new subsidiaries in various regions in the
mainland China, namely Guangdong, Yunnan, Hebei and Heilongjiang on
the basis of the subsidiaries in Jiangxi, Xinjiang and Fujian in the PRC. It
purchased a huge variety of local edible fungi products and vegetable, and
sold them to every part of the country after primary processing. In 2016,
the sales volume from the trading through domestic network was 17,898
tonnes, whereas the revenue was amounted to RMB150,960,000.

The Group reinforced its endeavor to develop food trading business in the
international market during the Year, which mainly involves trading of edible
fungi products, fruits, vegetables, canned food and frozen food as well
as edible fungi healthcare products. The sales volume of the international
trading of food for the Year increased by 9,113 tonnes as compared to that
of last year, while the average unit selling price per kilogram for the Year
rose by RMB3.91 as compared to that in 2015, which was mainly because
the products sold during the Year were primarily fruit, vegetables and frozen
food as well as the newly-added edible fungi healthcare products during the
Year with higher selling prices. As a result of the increase in sales volume
and unit selling price, revenue from international trading of food for the Year
increased by RMB179,370,000 as compared to that in 2015.

EREEFREARE0S4TT  BREATER
MEEA TR - BF2016FER « Bk B 5
BEUWA 20155 M ARES1.64FETT ©

AENEERBEERDLS,1961 - TZEHN
SEBETESEEE  REN  BESHHRARSE
BERMEREREK HERL  AFREBLF
FHERER2015F N EARK0.097T° TELMH
REEEREORFSR - BEREZHHO
AEBEBEEERNEEERDABREEAERE
BEFN  AREEREEEERIE - BUF2016
FHERDEEWAL2015F [ AR #23.47
BETT-

EREA I TR AE2015F §5 2 1 2851 -
FTERAABAFENKENSEFTR LA REBEM
TTREZHEKERNEE  AFRBLAFTFY
HEEEL2015FEMARK081TL TERA
BARESHEIBRYEEKEEELEZERS R
UREEMNEERs b TEEEMMIR
MEEE ARHEEEMBEE EA - BUF2016
FHEMTIRBEEWRAB2015F LA AR
6.81THETT °

RERNRNEENMABAREZENE  EFET
7 ¥l RESWBARTMERLE  RER -
Ef A RBEEISHHRANBAR  BES
WERERAR XS LBYHAMILEHE
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17,898MF * WA ABARME150.96E &L °

REIRE™S  KREBAFAMAKERRMESHE
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¥ BE RERMLRABRERERR  AF
NERRMLE S 2R TR LN, 1130
AERNGATHEEEL2015FE A R K391
T TEBRAAFHEERTZAKR BBER
BRERS  BAFHERAEERERR &
BRm AREEREEEENRA - BEBEHE
BEmESHHEE WA 2015518 N AR#179.37
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Analysis of gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, gross profit of the Group (before business tax
and surcharges) was approximately RMB278,590,000 (2015:
RMB261,110,000), and gross profit margin was 25.65% (2015: 34.26%).
In particular, gross profit margin of (I) king trumpet mushroom; (Il) button
mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom; (lll) canned food;
(IV) other processed food products; (V) trading through domestic network;
and (VI) international trading of food was approximately 34.88%, 50.26%,
21.11%, 18.85%, 10.37% and 5.69%, respectively (2015: 42.39%, 43.14%,
20.84%, 11.62%, 10.47% and 5.41%).

The sales volume of king trumpet mushroom for the Year uplifted by
approximately 6,645 tonnes as compared to that in 2015, and the average
unit selling price of king trumpet mushroom per kilogram rose by RMB0.34
from that of 2015. The surged sales volume results in an increase of gross
profit of king trumpet mushroom for the Year of RMB460,000 as compared
to that in 2015. The decline in the gross profit margin of king trumpet
mushroom for the Year mainly attributed to the growth of contract farming
driving up the sales volume of king trumpet mushroom during the Year while
the gross profit margin of contract farming is lower than that of the Group’s
own cultivation resulting in such overall decline, leading to a decrease in the
gross profit margin from 42.39% in 2015 to 34.88% this Year.

The sales volume of button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake
mushroom for the Year decreased by 5,431 tonnes as compared to that
in 2015 and there was a decline in unit cost per kilogram of RMBO0.74 in
2016 over that in 2015. The primary reason were the slight decrease in the
purchase price of key raw materials for cultivation of button mushroom and
straw mushroom in the market and the lower unit price of raw materials for
cultivation of shiitake mushroom, which dragged down the overall unit cost
of button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom. As a result
of the decrease in cost being offset by the decrease in unit price, coupled
with the decrease in sales volume, gross profit of button mushroom,
straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom dropped by RMB8,630,000 as
compared to that in 2015. The decrease in the average unit selling price of
button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom per kilogram
for the Year by RMBO0.34 and decline of average cost per kilogram by
RMBO0.74 led to the increase of the gross profit margin from 43.14% in 2015
to 50.26% this Year.

The sales volume and the cost per kilogram of canned food for the Year
decreased by 3,196 tonnes and RMBO0.09 as compare to that of 2015,
which were mainly attributable to the slight decline in cost of raw materials.
As the decline in selling price and unit cost offset each other, together with
the decrease in sales volume, gross profit of canned food decreased by
RMB4,690,000 during the Year as compared to that of 2015. The average
unit selling price of canned food per kilogram for the Year decreased by
RMBO0.09 and the unit cost per kilogram dropped by RMB0.09, leading to
the increase of the gross profit margin from 20.84% in 2015 to 21.11% this
Year.

ENREFEDM

AER - REBEF(CRIIBEER LKW OA
ANR#278.59H B L (2015F : AR ¥261.11
BE;T) r mEFEXAA2565%(2015F :
34.26%) + ()AL ()ELE - BEiE REFLE()
BEERIVEMINIERVBEANREHESV)EH
BRAEZSEMNEDFIHE34.88% ' 50.26% -
21.11% * 18.85% * 10.37% % 5.69% (20154 :
42.39% ' 43.14% » 20.84% * 11.62% * 10.47%
F5.41%) °

AN R M 8 E B 2015 18 1N 496,645M8 © 7
f7hE FBEEE2015F LA ARKOIMTER
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The sales volume of other processed food products for the Year increased
by 285 tonnes as compared to that of 2015, and the cost of the Year
decreased by RMBO0.04 per kilogram as compared to 2015, which were
mainly attributable to the lower cost of brined mushroom for the Year,
causing the overall unit cost of other processed food products, including
brined mushroom, dried goods and preserved vegetables, to decline. As
the decline in unit cost offset the increase in sales volume, coupled with the
rise in selling price, gross profit of other processed food products in 2016
uplifted by RMB4,580,000 as compared to that of 2015. The unit selling
price of other processed food products per kilogram for the Year increased
by RMBO0.81, and the cost per unit per kilogram decreased by RMBO0.04,
leading to the increase of the gross profit margin from 11.62% in 2015 to
18.85% this Year.

The sales volume of the segment of trading through domestic network for
the Year was approximately 17,898 tonnes, as the Group reinforced its
effort in the channel establishment and set up new subsidiaries in such
areas as Guangdong, Yunnan, Hebei and Heilongjiang in China. These
branches principally engaged in the procurement and sales of fresh edible
fungi. Restricted by limited growth potential of the gross profit margin of
the business, the gross profit of the segment of trading through domestic
network for the Year was RMB15,660,000 and the gross profit margin for
the Year was 10.37%.

The sales volume of international trading of food for the Year increased by
9,113 tonnes as compared to that of 2015 and the unit cost per kilogram for
the Year rose by RMB3.64 as compared to that of 2015, which was mainly
because the products purchased for international trading of food for the
Year were primarily tangerines and pomelos with higher selling prices, thus
lifting up the overall unit selling price of the international trading of food. As
the increase of selling price per unit slightly higher than the increase of unit
cost and a higher sales volume was recorded, the sales margin of trading
of food increased by RMB10,420,000 in 2016 as compared to that of 2015.
The average unit selling price of the international trading of food per kilogram
and the unit cost per kilogram for the Year rose by RMB3.91 and RMB3.64
respectively, causing the increase of the gross profit margin from 5.41% in
2015 to 5.69% this Year.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales primarily consisted of costs of raw materials, direct labour and
the manufacturing overheads. Direct labour cost included wages and other
compensation paid to workers, while the manufacturing overheads included
depreciation, transportation cost, packaging and utilities charges. Cost of
raw materials constituted the majority of the cost of sales and represented
approximately 70.82% of the cost of sales for the Year (2015: 50.92%).
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The following table sets forth the breakdown of our cost of sales for business T~ 3= & 51| F {574 BT 1 4F [ 45 4 52 75 4 & Ak 25 ) B
operation for the years indicated: #

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12831HLLFE

2016 2015
20164 20154
% of cost % of cost
RMB’000 of sales RMB’000 of sales
L E B A IESEE A
AR®BT T Aokl AREFT Btk
Raw materials B4R
— Cultivation materials —TEEME 101,814 10.03% 136,358 18.24%
- Fresh fruit and vegetables —HEK R KRB 602,716 59.38% 226,987 30.36%
- Packaging materials — B MR 14,336 1.41% 17,359 2.32%
Direct labour BEET 24,282 2.39% 30,780 4.12%
Labour subcontracting fee BREEE 19,669 1.94% 24,618 3.29%
Cultivation overheads FEELE MR 41,713 4.11% 42,232 5.65%
Manufacturing overheads AEREMRAX 5,612 0.55% 7,317 0.98%
Change in fair value of biological “£¥&EE RN AEBEEF
assets 204,908 20.19% 262,071 35.05%
Total st 1,015,050 747,722

The following table sets forth our cost of sales by product categories for the ~ TR FEFINTRFEENEREBREI D HEE
years indicated: AN -

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2016 2015
2016%F 20154
% of cost % of cost
RMB’000 of sales RMB’000 of sales
EEHER A IBSHERAR
AR®ET T Bak AREFT AL
Fresh edible fungi products FHERRER
King trumpet mushroom poy-afed 340,007 33.50% 286,237 38.28%
Button mushroom, straw mushroom Bt BB
and shiitake mushroom 198,510 19.56% 269,814 36.08%
Processed food products MIEm
Canned food HEERM 60,068 5.91% 78,853 10.55%
Other processed food products Hip TR M 42,482 4.19% 40,247 5.38%
Trading of food EmES 373,983 36.84% 72,571 9.711%
Total FEb 1,015,050 747,722

17




18

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
EEERwED T

Other income

Other income for the Year was approximately RMB19,160,000 (2015:
RMB24,390,000) which mainly included (l) interest income; (Il) exchange
gain; (lll) government subsidies and rewards; (IV) gains on disposal of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments; (V) rental
income; (VI) scrap sales; and (VIl) others.

The interest income for the Year increased by RMB2,100,000 as compared
to that of 2015, primarily due to the increase in term deposit. The exchange
gains and losses, net of the Group in 2016 was RMB5,430,000 (2015:
RMB11,350,000), which decreased by RMB5,920,000 as compared to
last year, which was primarily caused by the decline in the Group’s foreign
currency fund at the end of the reporting period as compared to that of
the corresponding period of last year, leading to the decrease in exchange
gains and losses, net upon translation. Government subsidies and rewards
decreased by RMB2,260,000 as compared to that of 2015, which was
mainly attributable to the decrease in government subsidies during the Year
as compared to last year. During the Year, the Group disposed a piece of
land and a building thereon, recorded a gain on disposal of RMB1,400,000.

Finance costs

The Group’s financial costs represented the interest on bank borrowing
required to be repaid in full within a year. The Group’s financial costs
amounted to RMB810,000 in 2016 (2015: RMB620,000), which increased
by RMB190,000 as compared to that of 2015. The main reason for the
increase was due to increase in interests of other payables as compared to
2015.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense increased by 40.44% from approximately
RMB2,710,000 in 2015 to RMB3,800,000 in 2016. The increase was mainly
due to the decline in the proportion of revenue contributed by the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC which enjoy preferential tax treatment. The revenue
from international trading of food increased also raised the tax expense.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses for the Year mainly included (I) wages; (ll) transportation
costs; and (lll) advertising and promotion expenses, which increased to
RMB4,580,000 for the Year from approximately RMB3,870,000 in 2015.
The increase was mainly because the Group has newly established several
subsidiaries for the Year, and the increase in sales personnel led to an
increase in wages.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the Year were approximately RMB66,380,000
(2015: RMB59,770,000) which mainly included (I) wages; (ll) equity-
settled share-based payments; (lll) professional fee; and (IV) research and
development expenditure.
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As compared to that of 2015, the increase in administrative expenses for the
Year was mainly caused by the recognition of equity-settled share-based
payment of RMB33,510,000 (2015: RMB31,800,000) for the Year. Besides,
the research and development expenditure increase by approximately
RMB2,670,000 to approximately RMB3,600,000 for the Year, as compared
to that of 2015.

Profit before tax and profit attributable to owners of the Company

For the Year, the Group recorded profit before tax of approximately
RMB225,440,000 (2015: RMB220,440,000) which represented an increase
of approximately 2.27%. The Group’s profit for the Year attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately RMB222,090,000 (2015:
RMB217,730,000), which represented an increase of approximately 2.00%.

During the Year, net profit of the Group increased by approximately
RMB3,910,000 to approximately RMB221,640,000 (2015:
RMB217,730,000); net profit margin was 20.40% (2015: 28.57%),
representing a drop of approximately 8.17%. It was primarily due to
the equity-settled share-based payments of RMB33,510,000 (2015:
RMB31,800,000). Excluding the said payment, net profit of the Group for the
Year would be approximately RMB255,150,000, representing an increase
of approximately 2.25% as compared to that of 2015, and net profit margin
would be 23.49%.

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Group for the Year
was approximately RMB43.5 cents (2015: RMB49.2 cents).

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2016, trade receivables of the Group were
approximately RMB196,650,000 (2015: RMB124,480,000). The increase
was mainly attributable to rise in the sales of the international trading of food
by RMB179,370,000 in 2016, which led to an increase in the balance of
trade receivables.

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

As at 31 December 2016, deposits, prepayments and other receivables of
the Group were approximately RMB121,870,000 (2015: RMB112,820,000),
which mainly included (I) land prepayments; (ll) deposits; and (IIl)
prepayments. The overall increase for the Year was mainly attributable to the
increase in prepayment to suppliers of RMB12,950,000 and the increase in
operating lease prepayments of RMB1,900,000.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2016, the issued share capital of the Company was
US$5,200,000, divided into 520,000,000 shares with nominal value of
US$0.01 per share. Gearing ratio (calculated by dividing total borrowings by
total equity) was 0.60% as at 31 December 2016. Current ratio (calculated
by dividing current assets by current liabilities) was 13.7 times as at 31
December 2016. The Group will continue to stringently monitor the policy of
debt recovery to minimise the risk of credit sale and ensure timely recovery
of the capital.

Current capital and financial resources

As at 31 December 2016, the total bank and cash balances of the Group
were RMB1,174,000,000 (2015: RMB1,014,350,000). The Shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 18 June 2015 and
the net proceeds raised (net of underwriting commission and the relevant
listing expenses) was approximately RMB444,990,000; as at 31 December
2016, interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group were approximately
RMB10,000,000 which was due in 14 March 2017 and renewed for one
year, and will be due on 14 March 2018.

Exposure to exchange rate risk and related hedge

The subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the PRC are mainly engaged
in business using RMB as their denominating currency, while the Hong Kong
subsidiaries of the Group are engaged in business denominated in USD. The
reporting currency of the Group is RMB. Most of the cash and bank deposits
of the Group are dominated in RMB. The interest-bearing bank loans of the
Group are in RMB. In terms of declaration of dividends, the Company will
distribute them in Hong Kong dollars. The Directors are of the opinion that
the exchange rates between RMB and other currencies are relatively stable
and the Group will closely monitor the exposure to changes in exchange
rates, and therefore, it is not necessary to adopt hedging policy at the
moment.

Pledge on Group assets

As at 31 December 2016, machineries and facilities with a net value
of RMB22,130,000 had been pledged for securing bank loans (2015:
RMB2,730,000).

Capital commitments and operating leases commitments

As at 31 December 2016, capital commitments of the Group contracted but
not provided were approximately RMB75,480,000 (2015: RMB76,250,000).
As at 31 December 2016, operating leases commitments of the Group
in respect of lands, buildings and other properties were approximately
RMB54,550,000 (2015: RMB55,140,000).
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Employee benefits and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 654 employees in total (2015:
1,054). The remunerations of employees of the Group were determined
according to their experience and qualifications, performance of the Group
and the market condition. During the Year, staff costs including directors’
emoluments were approximately RMB69,580,000 (2015: RMB73,090,000).
During the Year, staff costs accounted for approximately 6.41% of the
Group’s revenue (2015: 9.59%).

The Group adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) on 27 May 2015. On 17 June 2015, the Group granted
share options to certain eligible individuals to subscribe for 25,000,000
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each of the Company pursuant to the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme on 27 May 2015. During the Year, a total of
10,000,000 share options were exercised by an aggregate of 30 employees
of the Group.

The Group adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 27 May 2015. On 31 March 2016, the Group granted share options to
certain eligible individuals to subscribe for 25,000,000 ordinary shares of
US$0.01 each of the Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme on
27 May 2015. During the Year, a total of 10,000,000 share options were
exercised by an aggregate of 31 employees of the Group.

Pursuant to the PRC’s social security regulations, the Group participated
in the social security scheme operated by the related local government
authority which covers pensions, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, work injury insurance and maternity insurance.

Significant investment held

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not hold any significant investment.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Zheng Songhui (E8#A##), aged 54, is the founder of the Group. Mr.
Zheng is the chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer and an
executive director of the Company. Mr. Zheng was appointed as a Director
of the Company on 28 March 2011. Mr. Zheng also currently holds
directorship in each of the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zheng is the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Zheng is in charge of the overall operations
and development strategy and overseeing internal control of the Group.
Mr. Zheng founded the Group in November 1995 when he established our
first operating subsidiary, Fujian Greenfresh Foods. Mr. Zheng has around
20 years of experience in fresh and processed food industry and was
recognised as an intermediate engineer of food processing by the Office of
Human Resources Development of Fujian Province (18 2% A 718 R %k
A=) and the Public Servant Bureau of Fujian Province ({8 2% A1 8 B)
in July 2011. Mr. Zheng graduated with a bachelor degree in earth study
from Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University (182 2 AE) (formerly
known as Fujian Agriculture Institute ({832 22Fx)) in July 1984. Mr. Zheng
was admitted to a program of executive master of business administration
at Xiamen University in July 2007. Mr. Zheng was elected as the vice
chairperson of Industrial Sub-committee of China Edible Fungi Association
(PEEAEHGS THRIEEEZBE) in 2013. Moreover, Mr. Zheng was
awarded Outstand Talent (255 A ) by the government of Zhangzhou (&N
mARBT) in 2012, Outstanding Entrepreneur in the PRC (Bl 1 (b % %)
by China Economy And Trade Promotion Association (fF BI4&& B E 512 iES)
in January 2011, China Outstanding Innovation Entrepreneur (F1 B2 5 & ¥
1% R) jointly by China Private Entrepreneur Association (7 B R &b 2K #
@) and China Academy of Science Information Consulting Center (% B %} £
BT{E B5&3A 0 in August 2010 and Asia Top 10 Innovation Personality (25
MR-+ KB A ) by Asia Brand Ceremony (351 & % 2% #1) in September
2009. In October 2014, Mr. Zheng was appointed as the leading talent
of technology entrepreneurship of Fujian province (fRi2 & RHLAIEEE
AA) by the talent working committee of Fujian Provincial Committee of
Communist Party of the PRC (FF 1@ 4 & A4 T4HEE /).
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Mr. Zheng Tianming (¥JX8f), aged 48, is an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Zheng was appointed as a Director of the Company on 4
February 2013. Mr. Zheng has joined our Group since our inception in
November 1995 and has since then been assisting Mr. Zheng Songhui in
the development of our Group by taking an active part in the production
and operation of our Group. Mr. Zheng graduated from the Open University
of China (FREFESH KAL) in July 2013 with a certificate in Business
Administration (majoring in sales and marketing).

Ms. Zheng Ruyan (Z(203%), aged 42, is an executive Director, the vice
president, the chief financial officer and joint company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Zheng was appointed as a Director of the Company on 4
February 2013. Ms. Zheng is responsible for the Group’s management
of finance and legal affairs and investors’ relation. Ms. Zheng obtained a
master degree in accounting from Xiamen University (EF9X22) in December
2011. She obtained the certificate of Certified Internal Auditor issued by
China Institute of Internal Auditors (FFBREE 5% 2) in November
2004. Ms. Zheng has over 19 years of experience in auditing, accounting
consultancy and financial management. From December 1995 to November
2006, she was responsible for the internal auditing management of the
internal units of Huadian Fujian Power Generation Company Limited (now
known as Huadian Fuxin Energy Corporation Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 816)). From December 2006 to December
2011, Ms. Zheng had been the vice president of Changfeng Axle (China)
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1039) responsible for financial management, corporate management,
human resources administration and management.

BRREALE - 4857 0 AARIHITESE - BARER
2013F2 A4HEZE AL LRES - BALER
19956 11 AR 1% » BRCAENAKRER - Atz
% BEEFZABRGSEAEENEERLER
BEMB S B RAEE - B AER2013F7 A
BEENPREFRERAZ BEIFER(XEH
ERITH)EE -

BRI £ - 4257 ARRIFITEEREILH

HEVWHEREERAWE - MZLiM201342
RABEZTARRRES - BRI AEEEAE
BRSNS RERAREEEENEEZ - B
THR20MF12ARSEFIARESHELTZEM -
#2004F 11 AEE P RN IBETAIIH S HER
AMAISEFAEES - BT NET - St

LS ER A B19F 455 - 1995412 A
F2006F11A BHRESERESEARAACGE
BESETERERDAR QA (—RHRERFT LW
AT RHRE : 816)) B ERNESEMAHAEE
SHEE - B2006F 12 AR E2011F 127 » B
THRAGEEB(PE)BRAF(—ERERA L
TERTF - BRDASR - 1039) N EIEE - B EHB
TE - QREE  ANBRITEEEERIE-

23




24

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhang Lin (58#f), aged 47, is a non-executive Director of the Company.
Ms. Zhang was appointed as a Director of the Company on 4 February
20183. Ms. Zhang is currently the deputy general manager of COFCO
Agricultural Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. and continues
to serve as the secretary of the board and the general legal counsel of
COFCO Agricultural Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.. She
has been working in COFCO and its affiliated companies for more than
22 years since April 1994. Ms. Zhang graduated from Shanghai Maritime
University (/%785 K 2) with a bachelor degree and a master degree, both
of international economics law, in July 1991 and April 1994 respectively.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Hing Keung, Thomas (2 #3%), aged 54, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company appointed on 27 May 2015. Mr. Mak
obtained a bachelor degree of commerce from Queen’s University, Canada
in May 1989. Mr. Mak is a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Mak was the chief financial officer of Fortunet
e-Commerce Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1039) since 1 January 2017. Mr. Mak Hing Keung ceased to be
the chief operations officer of HF Financial Group (China) since 1 January
2017. Mr. Mak was the chief financial officer and the company secretary
of Heritage International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 412) from October 2014 to May 2015. Mr. Mak has
been an independent non-executive director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 573) since June
2007. Mr. Mak has extensive experience and expertise in accounting and
financial management. From May 2010 to April 2014, Mr. Mak worked as
the chief financial officer of South China Media Group. From October 2007
to April 2010, Mr. Mak worked as the chief financial officer of Redgate Media
(Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Redgate Media Group.
From February 2006 to October 2007, Mr. Mak worked as the chief financial
officer of MMG Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1208). From June 2001 to January 2006, Mr. Mak worked as the
chief financial officer of RoadShow Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0888). From June 2000 to June 2001, Mr.
Mak worked as senior manager in corporate finance department in Vickers
Ballas. From October 1997 to May 2000, Mr. Mak worked as a manager in
the listing division of Stock Exchange. Mr. Mak had also worked in Ernst &
Young for about 7 years. Mr. Mak is the Chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee of the Company.
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Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung (%), aged 43, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company appointed on 27 May 2015. Mr. Lou is
qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in December 2002 and has over 12
years of experience in legal field. From August 2012 to November 2013,
Mr. Lou was the legal manager of Acer Incorporated (ZE& D AR A 7).
Mr. Lou is the chief legal officer of TransAsia Airways Corporation (18 #2fi
=B E % {7 B R A 7)) from December 2013 to 1 May 2016. Mr. Lou was
appointed as a senior consultant of Lin & Partners in Taipei, with effect
from 1 June 2016. Mr. Lou obtained a bachelor degree in foreign languages
and literature in National Taiwan University (872 X&) in June 1995 and a
bachelor of arts in jun’s prudence in Oxford University in August 2000. Mr.
Lou obtained a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in the City University of
Hong Kong in July 2000 and a master of laws with the Northwest University
(FA4ERE) in June 2004. Mr. Lou is a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung (£fl%E), aged 40, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company appointed on 27 May 2015. Mr. Cheng is currently
a production manager of Hong Kong Rainigrace Agricultural Science
Group Holding Company Limited (B2 2R S EZRBRR A F]) which
he has joined since November 2014. He worked as production manager in
Epicurean and Company (Hong Kong) Limited from April 2013 to October
2014, production manager of City Super Limited from September 2009 to
March 2013, assistant production manager in Original Taste Workshop Ltd
(R KEFMR A F) from February 2007 to June 2009. From April 2004
to November 2006, Mr. Cheng worked in the Hung Fook Tong (China)
Development Limited, which was a subsidiary company of Hung Fook Tong
Holdings Ltd (&&= £ ®). Mr. Cheng has over 10 years of experience in
food testing and quality control industry. Mr. Cheng obtained a bachelor
degree of science majoring in applied chemistry from Hong Kong Baptist
University in December 2000. Mr. Cheng obtained basic food hygiene
certificate for hygiene managers by School of Continuing and Professional
Education, City University of Hong Kong in October 2008, and was
awarded “level 2 award in food safety in catering” by Chartered Institute of
Environmental Health in September 2008. Mr. Cheng completed food safety
management systems auditor — lead auditor training course in April 2008.
Mr. Cheng is the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
the audit committee and nomination committee of the Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Wei (}#1&), aged 51, is the vice president of the Company. Mr.
Chen joined the Group in January 2006 and is responsible for the Group’s
research and development, production and operations. Mr. Chen has
around 19 years of experience in food processing industry. Before joining
our Group, Mr. Chen was the deputy general manager of Fujian Zhangzhou
Gangchang Canned Foods Co., Ltd. ({@E& ZINTEERERMAR A A)
responsible for the management of operation, production and technology
from January 1995 to December 2005. Mr. Chen obtained diploma (Z%}) in
quality management from the Fujian Economic Management College (f&#24%
BEEEZPE) in July 1990 and graduated with a bachelor degree of economic
management from the Open College of the Central Communist Party School
(FF H AP R B IR EPR) in December 1996.

Mr. Wei Hao (/£ %), aged 39, is the vice president of the Company. Mr.Wei
joined the Group in January 2016, who is responsible for businesses
such as strategic planning, marketing planning, investment analysis and
administrative management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Wei served as
a reporter at Xiamen TV from 1999 to 2009 and was engaged in reporting
“three-dimensional rural issues” in a long term. He was an assistant to the
President of Fujian Minneng Group (f& &R g¢ & &) from 2009 to 2011 and
the general manager of Xiamen Bohui Financial Guarantee Limited (EF3{&
Emh & ERAA]) from 2011 to 2013. He has accumulated experiences of
operation management, investment planning and marketing advertisement.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Zheng Ruyan (£f213%), as to the biographical details of Ms. Zheng
Ruyan, please refer to “Executive Directors” of this section.

Ms. Ng Wing Shan (= 7k ), aged 40, was appointed as the joint company
secretary of the Company on 28 November 2014. Ms. Ng is an assistant
vice president of SW Corporate Services Group Limited and is responsible
for assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial work.
She has over 10 years of professional experience in the company secretarial
field. Ms. Ng is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in
the United Kingdom.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), as
its own code on corporate governance practices. The Board will review
the corporate governance practices from time to time and update as
appropriate to align with the CG Code. Continuous efforts are made to
review and enhance the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and procedures in light of changes in regulations and developments
in best practices. The Company has complied with the CG Code during the
Year, unless otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct governing Directors’ securities
transactions. All Directors, following specific enquiry by the Company, have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

The members of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this report
are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 57 to 79. Each of the Directors,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years, as stipulated by the CG Code. As
such, the Company considers that such provisions are sufficient to meet the
intent of the relevant provisions of the CG Code.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years in accordance with the Company’s articles of association. Directors,
Mr. Zheng Songhui, Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas and Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-
sung, will retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the Year, the Company held four Board meetings and one general
meeting. Details of attendance of Directors at the general meeting and
Board meetings during the Year are set out in the table below:

General Meeting

RAFER  ARmHARTHREFTEE &
—REERRE REFERAFEANHERRERS
REREEERZFHBHN TR

Board Meeting

RERRE EEEER
Number Number

Attendance of meetings Attendance of meetings
Name of Director EEHR HERE 2ERE R E SERY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zheng Songhui (Chairman) BB () 1 1 4 4
Mr. Zheng Tianming PN 1 1 4 4
Ms. Zheng Ruyan BN+ 1 1 4 4
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. Zhang Lin RIf A& 0 1 4 4
Independent Non-executive Directors J§Y IEHITES
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas PR E A 1 1 4 4
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung EEeEE 1 1 4 4
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung B A4 1 1 4 4

SEPARATE ROLE OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Zheng Songhui, the Chairman of the Board, is also
acting as the chief executive officer of the Company. The Board believes
that vesting Mr. Zheng Songhui’s roles of both the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive
Directors.

ITFRETHRERZED
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OPERATIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board determines the mission and broad strategies of the Company,
monitors and controls operating and financial performance and sets
appropriate policies to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic
objectives. Decisions involving financial statements, dividend policy,
material contracts and major investments and divestments are reviewed
and subject to approval by the Board. Other main roles of the Board are
to review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and to ensure that adequate risk management and internal control
systems and management information systems are in place, including
being in compliance with every aspect of the provisions of applicable
laws, regulations, rules, directives and guidelines to create value for its
shareholders and to ensure that the Company has adequate management to
achieve the Company’s strategic objectives.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and operation of the
Group’s businesses to management of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Where appropriate, decisions are also taken by way of circulated
resolutions. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at least four times
per year. Notice of at least fourteen days should be given of a regular
Board meeting to all Directors. For all other Board meetings, reasonable
notice should be given. Agenda and all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board
meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decisions.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary and internal auditors of the Company, and upon reasonable
request, independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expense.

Independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Company received
confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors (the “INEDs”) pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. During the
Year, the Company considers that the INEDs continue to be independent.
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Relationship Among Members of the Board

There is no relationship among members of the Board in respect of financial,
business, family or other material relationship.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Each of the Directors has adhered to his or her responsibilities as a Director
of the Company and keeps pace with the operation, business activities
and development of the Company. Directors are provided with the latest
information on regulatory and governance developments ongoingly.
Directors are encouraged to participate in professional development
courses and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the Year, all Directors namely, Mr. Zheng Songhui, Mr. Zheng
Tianming, Ms. Zheng Ruyan, Ms. Zhang Lin, Mr. Mak Hing Keung
Thomas, Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung and Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung received
regular briefings and updates on the Group’s business, operations, risk
management and corporate governance matters. Materials on new or
changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to the Group were
provided to the directors. They also attended regulatory update sessions
and seminars on relevant topics. All Directors are requested to provide the
Company with their respective training record pursuant to the CG Code.

In compliance with the Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, during the
Year, each of Directors has attended continuous professional development
programmes as follows:

ESENEZHNER

BESZMYEME X% KEIHOERH
&

ESRIIRSESERR

BREBEFUETERARREBEEZAEM  LHEK
REZBE  EHEPREREMILE - EFH
BRIRERERBRZENEN - ARARRE
EE2HIXERABLATE  RBRREHR
HAE N R

RAFER > 2R8ES(AEHNBLE  BRAK
£ B L R KL EEBEL BF
BELE BEBEAL)EEREFHAEEEL
2E REREERCEEAETHEZEHBHREE
o BENERCEARAEENTEERR
GPIEZEZR RG22 - WETHEERH
RMEERENRENATE - REBELEEERT
A MBEFAMARAREES X ZFIIL

RBEGEERTAZ TANRXEAB.5F  RFHE
N BEEEETIAA2EBERREE

Type of Training

Name of Director EEHA EIIEER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Zheng Songhui BN 5 A4 A-B
Mr. Zheng Tianming B KBRS A A-B
Ms. Zheng Ruyan BN 2+ A-B
Non-executive Director FHITES

Ms. Zhang Lin SR+ A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYIEHITES

Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas R ST A B
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung BE=EE A-B
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung B0 B S A A B

A: Attending seminars/courses/conferences and developing professional skills and knowledge
B: Reading the latest regulatory information

A HERNE R SRR TR RN
B: BIEENEEEN
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other. They are subject to retirement by rotation at
the annual general meeting pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company and the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Year, three Board committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee oversaw
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs pursuant to the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The majority of members of Board committees are INEDs.

These three committees are established by the Company with defined
written terms of reference, approved by the Board, which set out the
Committees’ major duties. The terms of reference are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of Board member
diversification to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company is of
the view that increasing diversity at the Board level as one of the essential
elements in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually, and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to ensure its
effectiveness.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (THE “REMUNERATION COMMITTEE”)

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Company pursuant
to a resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code which deal
clearly with its authority and duties.

The principal role and functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on its policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management, as well as to determine
the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment. During the Year, the Remuneration Committee
comprises the INEDs Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung and Mr. Mak Hing Keung
Thomas, and the executive Director Mr. Zheng Songhui. The INED, Mr.
Cheng Hiu Yung, is the chairman of the remuneration committee.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under code
provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to propose to the Board, with delegated
responsibility and authorisation by the Board, the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management.

During the Year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held by the
Company. The individual attendance of each member was as follows:

rMEEE(HFHEES )
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Number of meetings

held/

attendance

BITFRRE

Name of committee members ZEENENE HEIRE
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung (Chairman) e S E =) 2/2
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas PR R S A 2/2
Mr. Zheng Songhui BRI SR A 2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year:

e recommended to the Board the directors’ fees for the year ended 31
December 2016 for the approval of shareholders;

e considered to grant share options and made recommendations to the
Board;

e reviewed the Share Option Scheme; and

e reviewed the employee’s remuneration policy.
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Level and Make-up of Remuneration

The Group’s remuneration scheme for executive Directors and senior
management is established based on performance, service seniority,
experience and scope of responsibility, which are reviewed from time to time
to align with requirements under the Group’s human resource manual and
market/industry practices.

The level of remuneration of non-executive Directors reflects the level of
responsibilities undertaken by them.

The fees of Directors, including non-executive Directors, are recommended
by the Board and approved by Shareholders at the Company’s annual
general meeting.

COMPENSATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive
compensation in the form of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary
bonuses related to the performance of the Company. The Company also
reimburse them for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred
for providing services to the Company or executing their functions in relation
to the operations of the Company.

During the Year, the details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the Year, the remunerations the senior management of the Company
(excluding Directors) are within the following ranges:

FEKFEREE

AEEHRTEERSEERRE 2 HUBIZER
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RAEER AAGSREBRRB(TEFEES)
FOEBEN FATEHE :

Number of people

A8

Nil to HK$1,000,000 (approximately RMB 813,000) £ 21,000,000 7T (41 AR #813,000) 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7L £2,000,0007% 7T

(approximately RMB 813,001 to RMB 1,626,000) (B AR%813,001tE AKE#1,626,0007T) 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 3,000,001 025,000,000/ 7T

(approximately RMB 2,439,001 to RMB 4,065,000) (9 AR¥2,439,001 702 AR #4,065,000) 2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (THE “NOMINATION COMMITTEE”)

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company pursuant to
a resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirement of the CG Code which deal
clearly with its authority and duties.

The principal role and functions of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board, and to review the independence of INEDs,
the suitability of Directors who will stand for re-election and Directors’
continuous training and development programme. During the Year, the
Nomination Committee comprises the executive Director Mr. Zheng
Songhui, the INEDs Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung and Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung. The
executive Director Mr. Zheng Songhui, is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.
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The Nomination Committee had met after the financial year end to propose
the re-election of retiring Directors Mr. Zheng Songhui, Mr. Mak Hing Keung
Thomas and Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held by the
Company. The individual attendance of each member is as follows:

REZBERAMBRFEHERBTEALES
FRRREEBREAFAS LEREREIEETEMN
ML REREERERSEL -
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RAFEAR  RABHRBITT -REELEZESE
# o [ERIK B HEZ BERESIT

Number of meetings

held/

attendance

BITERRE

Name of committee members ZEEHENSR H RS
Mr. Zheng Songhui (Chairman) ERAB S (F/E) 11
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung BRI E S A 11
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung BEESEE 11

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

e reviewed the structure, size and composition as well as diversity
policy for the Board members (including without limitation, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, skills, knowledge,
professional experience, competences, length of service, and the
balance between executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive directors) and is of the view that there is an appropriate and
diverse mix of skills and experience;

e reviewed the independence of INEDs of the Company; it also confirmed
that all INEDs are considered independent; and

e reviewed the continuous training and development programs
undertaken by Directors and confirmed that an appropriate program is
in place.

AUDIT COMMITTEE (THE “AUDIT COMMITTEE”)

The Audit Committee was established by the Company pursuant to a
resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirement of the CG Code which deal
clearly with its authority and duties.

TIRRAZEENAFEZTHERE

s MIABFEZRE MRRMAK  REFE®
KB Z LR (BRRETRNIER - & -
XERBEES Bk - WL ME - BE
KB e RBEHURAT - ERTR
BIYFRTEER 2 FE)  URREZENK
BABEEMZ L2 REBERER -

s REZEGCEMARFBIUIFNTESRZ
BN A REEZESCTHERZESE
TIFRITEEHEEYL R

e RWNEFTBEZHEEIIKERER - Wi
REEHEEZEE -

EREZER(BEREER])

AARR2015F5 A27THRIBEES S HRZRK

UEZEZREE IRAFALEEATRZAR
EmBELE ERITHEEORBE -



2016 F3f / FEGEEBBR AT

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The key roles and functions of the Audit Committee comprises overseeing
the financial reporting process and assessing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company. The Audit Committee meets with the Company’s external
and internal auditors, and reviews their audit plans, the internal audit
programmes, and the results of their examinations as well as their
evaluations of the risk management and internal control systems. It also
reviews Directors’ interests in contracts and connected transactions.
The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s and the Company’s financial
statements and the auditor’s report thereon and submits its views to the
Board. During the Year, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Mak Hing
Keung Thomas, Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung and Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung, all of
whom are INEDs. The INED, Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas, is the chairman
of the Audit Committee.

During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held by the Company.
The individual attendance of each member was as follows:

ERZEeNTIEACNBERRERMBMRE
REAEFERAARRREREMAEZERS
EEETFFELAN BHRZERERARFZ
SNERZEED R A EED - AERRE BT
& AMEREE  REFRZERUARKES
RERERRABERRRZTE BRZEEN
EHEERARMEEX S ZNEBR - BERE
BERMAEENARE 2 MBHRRIALBE
REMHREE TRAEEFRIER - RAFE
N BREEEMBELFRTEREABREL
HEBEEEMERSSREMANK - BUFRITES
BEBREEREVZESERF

ERIAC B HE Z BEREFINT

Number of meetings

held/

attendance

HITERRE

Name of committee members ZESHREHR HERE
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas (Chairman) BEE A (FF) 2/2
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung BB ST A 2/2
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung BEERE 2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year:

e reviewed the audited annual results, consolidated financial statements
and the independent auditor’s report of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2015;

* reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group;

e reviewed the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2016;

e reviewed the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies;

e reviewed at various times the potential impact of the generally accepted
accounting principles in Hong Kong on the Company’s accounts;

e reviewed the nature and scope of external audit and approved the
external audit fee;
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e reviewed adequacy of resources, qualifications and experiences of staff
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes; and

e reviewed connected transactions entered into by the Group or
subsisting during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARING THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the Year. There are no material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 80 to 84 of this annual report.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Ms. Ng Wing Shan, the assistant vice
president of SW Corporate Services Group Limited, as its joint company
secretary. Her primary corporate contact person at the Company is Ms.
Zheng Ruyan, the other joint company secretary and an executive Director
of the Company. Ms. Ng Wing Shan and Ms. Zheng Ruyan had taken the
relevant professional trainings for no less than 15 hours during the Year in
accordance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee of the Group on the audit and non-audit scope, paid or payable
to the auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the
auditor of the Group, RSM Hong Kong, were as follows:

— audit services RMB910,000

— non-audit services RMB410,000

THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE BOARD TO PERFORM CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties, which
primarily includes the followings:

a. developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, and make recommendations to the Board;

b. reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
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c. reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

e. reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report in the annual report of the
Company.

During the Year, the Board has performed the above corporate governance
duties.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility on maintaining sound risk
management and internal control systems to protect the Shareholders’
interest. The internal control system of the Group was established for
enhancing the effectiveness and efficiency in operations, safeguarding
assets against any unauthorised use and disposition and ensuring the
maintenance of proper accounting records and the truth and fairness of
the financial statements as well as the compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations. With respect to the procedures and internal controls for
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Company has set up
policies for inside information disclosure pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy setting out principles
and procedures for the Directors, employees of the Company and other
persons having business relationships with the Company to report
suspected improprieties and misconducts in a fair and proper manner.
Pursuant to which, employees may raise their concerns either verbally or
in writing to the chairman of the Audit Committee or the chairman of the
Board. Upon receipt of disclosure, the chairman of the Board or such other
persons as designated by the chairman of Audit Committee or the Audit
Committee shall discuss the reporting matters with the Audit Committee
and determine whether any further investigation is needed. If it is considered
necessary, the chairman of the Audit Committee or such other persons
as designated by the Audit Committee shall be in charge to conduct such
investigation for misconduct and the results of which shall be reported to
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee shall make recommendations to
the Board on the necessary actions to be taken based on the investigation
results. In the event that the Audit Committee is involved in the investigation,
results of such investigation shall be reported to the chairman of the Board.
Such reporting matters shall be passed to the relevant authorities for further
actions if there is evidence of possible criminal offences.
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The Board undertakes its responsibility for the risk management and internal
control systems and has delegated the Audit Committee to be in charge of
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

In performing relevant duties, the Audit Committee, with the assistance of
the Group’s Internal Audit Department (the “Internal Audit Department”),
ensures that the management are immediately informed regarding the new
risks of the Group; assesses whether the action plans and control systems
established for such risks are necessary; and oversees the implementation
of action plans and the effectiveness of the control systems. These
procedures have been in place and will be carried out on an on-going basis
with a regular review by the Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Internal Audit Department has conducted reviews
on internal control of various important areas, including financial control,
operational control and compliance control so as to minimise the overall
business and operational exposure of the Group. In addition, crisis
management plans have been created for timely and proper responses
to any sudden event affecting consumers’ confidence in the Group. The
Internal Audit Department submitted the report on internal control to the
Audit Committee for review, the audit results and recommendations therein
were discussed at the Audit Committee meetings and Board meetings.

During the Year, the Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee,
has conducted the annual review on the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and considers that such systems are necessary and
effective. The Board and the Audit Committee believes that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are reasonably and effectively
implemented in the key areas. The Board also explains that such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the head office or the Office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be
convened on the written requisition of any one member of the Company
which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the head office or the Office. The
written requisition must (i) specify the objects of the extraordinary general
meeting and (i) must be signed by the requisitionist, provided that such
requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company. If the Directors do not within 21
days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all expenses
reasonably incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board of Directors shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders of the Company to put
forward proposals at the general meeting under the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company or under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands. If shareholders of the Company wish to do so, they may
follow the procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives. These
include annual general meeting, annual report, interim report, various
notices, announcements and circulars.

The Company shall communicate other information to shareholders on a
need basis by way of announcement which will be posted on the websites
of the Stock Exchange. Other than annual general meeting, extraordinary
general meeting shall be held pursuant to relevant rules and regulations
if required. Shareholders shall receive explanatory circulars and proxy
forms relating to the general meetings. Proxy arrangements for the general
meetings are in place for shareholders who are unable to attend the
meetings in person.

Shareholders and the investment community may make a request for
the Company’s information to the extent such information is publicly
available or send their enquiries to the Board in writing by email to
service@greenfresh.com or by addressing their enquiries to the Board in the
following manners: The Board of China Greenfresh Group Co., Ltd. 18/F,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or 8th Floor,
Building No. 10, Guanyinshan Business Center, Siming District, Xiamen,
China.

AMENDMENTS TO THE MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATIONS

The Company has not made any significant changes to its memorandum
and articles of association during the Year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to enhance communication between the Company and investors/
analysts, senior management will hold meetings with investors/analysts
upon request as and when the need arises.

Investors are welcome to send email directly to the Company’s email at
service@greenfresh.com or browse the Company’s website for the latest
release and financial information.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT AR E
Company introduction SEEN

China Greenfresh Group Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as "China FEGEEBEAR AR (THE [HRELE] X [&
Greenfresh", or the "Group") is an edible fungi supplier, established in B )2 —XKEPEHER @ |2 19954 - hE
1995. China Greenfresh adopts a vertically integrated model from cultivation 4 BXFREEILEMEENTERKBER
of edible fungi to the manufacturing and sales of processed products. The —8{tERHELERR - ERBIEAMHE - 20
Group's products include King Trumpet Mushroom, Common Cultivated % - EHEMEE S - B EBEEEN - EE %
Mushroom, Button Mushroom and Straw Mushroom. In addition to edible ~ FNTEMALEE - NESBEL - HEEFRIME
fungi production, the Group also engages in the manufacturing of processed  SE/KRZ -

food, such as canned edible fungi, canned vegetables and canned fruits.

IMPORTANT HONORS
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e
) wRs e
\'J‘ NATIONAL KEY LEADING ENTERPRISE

OF AGRICULTURAL INDUSTRIALIZATION

CHINA CANNED (EXPORT )TOP10

CHINA EDIBLE FUNGI

AAA LEVEL CREDIT ENTERPRISE CHINA QUALITY PRODUCT
INDUSTRIALIZATION BRAND TOP10

NATIOMNAL EXCELLENT LEADING CHINA CANNED BRAND TOPL0 NATIONAL EXCELLENT LEADING

EDIBLE FUNGI ENTERPRISE EDIBLE FUNGI CANNED BRAND

In June 2015, the Group is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The listing is awarded as one of the top
ten events of China edible fungi industry in 2015.
201556 H - KENERXMERENE LT - KB [2016FPEARARETETAEMN] -
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Reporting scope

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report is the first
report published by China Greenfresh on social responsibility. The purpose
of this report is to enhance the Group's transparency, disclose the
Group's sustainable development strategies and contributions, and receive
public supervision on its ESG matters. The Group has proactively found
solutions to problems, strengthened the sustainable development planning
and management, and continued to promote the Group's sustainable
development strategy.

Unless otherwise stated, this report is consistent with the reporting period
of the annual report, covering the environmental and social efforts and
contributions of China Greenfresh in 2016 financial year (i.e. 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2016).

This report covers business scopes of all of China Greenfresh's
manufacturing plants, which are located at Hebei Pingquan, Jiangsu
Changzhou and Fujian in China. Hebei Pingquan plant is equipped with
modernized mushroom cultivation facilities; Jiangsu Changzhou plant is
equipped with modernized King Trumpet Mushroom production facilities;
and, Fujian plant is equipped with mushroom and King Trumpet Mushroom
cultivation and production facilities. The three manufacturing plants supply
products to markets of various regions in China, and more than 50 overseas
countries and regions.

Reporting principles

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide, Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules of the
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEx”). This report has
incorporated reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency. The information relating to corporate governance of China
Greenfresh is discussed in the annual report of the Group according to the
Corporate Governance Code, Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Group has appointed Allied Environmental Consultants Limited to
prepare the report in accordance with outstanding information collected.
The Group's senior management team has approved and would like to
express gratitude to all the responsible parties that have contributed to the
report.
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Reporting theme

China Greenfresh commits to create value for the community. Numerous
sustainability policies have been implemented during the Year. Since the
sustainability policies are integrated in each of the Group's production
processes, this report categorizes the Group's sustainability measures in
accordance with Group's main business — edible fungus cultivation:

Fixing the soil

Fostering employees is similar to fixing the soil prior to plantation.
Employees provide appropriate support and nutrients to assist in the
Group's sustainable growth. To foster employees suitably, the Group
adheres to the people-centred spirit through respecting human rights and
caring the employees in its employment policies. This section discloses the
Group's employment policy for the financial year.

Preparing to plant

Preparation shall be arranged prior to the plantation of edible fungi, such as
sourcing materials to assist in the cultivation of edible fungi, and maintaining
a set of product quality control system. This section details the Group's
procurement and quality requirements, and preparations to ensure that
edible fungus are safe to consume.

Producing "green" fungi

China Greenfresh integrates environmentally friendly concept into the
production process. This section introduces the Group's efforts and
measures on environmental protection.

Creating value to society

China Greenfresh proactively seeks ways for social contribution, puts efforts
to build a more harmonious society.

Comments and feedbacks

China Greenfresh values your comments and feedbacks. Welcome to
express your views on the report content and the Group's sustainable
development strategy through:

Tel: +86-592-2999800

Fax: +86-592-2999828

E-mail: service@greenfresh.com
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FIXING THE SOIL

Employees are the foundation of China Greenfresh's steady development,
which help to realize the Group's values and objectives. Therefore, the
Group has been cherishing its employees by upholding the people-oriented
spirit in appreciating all of their contributions. The Group demonstrates
its people-oriented spirit through respecting human right and caring for
employees.

The people-oriented spirit has been fully embodied into the Group's labour
policies, and received support from top management for the following
policies:

e Fully complies with relevant national laws and regulations such as
National Labor Law

e Resolutely prohibits the employment of child labor and other workers
who do not meet national statutory requirements

e  Maintains good relationships with employees, and provide equality and
mutual assistance

e  Provides vocational training for employees
Respecting human rights
Good employment management

Respecting human right is the basis for achieving good employment
management. It includes protecting human against enslavement by
recruiting suitable candidates for the workforce. Upholding the principles,
China Greenfresh strictly prohibits any recruitment of child or forced labor in
order to prevent depriving their rights to freedom, education or other basic
pursuits.

The Human Resources Department has conducted detailed background
investigation for every candidate, through inquiring for their identity proofs,
and academic and qualification certificates. The measure ensures that the
candidates meet the Group's age requirement and pass the identity check
before employment. The Group has complied with all regulations and laws
related to child and forces and has not discovered any non-compliance case
within this financial year.
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Following the recruitment policy of preventing child and forced labour, China
Greenfresh adheres to the principles of diversity, equal opportunity and
non-discrimination in its employment policies and system. The Group would
not differentiate the applicants according to race, sex, identity, age and
disability, but only on their working experience, ability, skills and suitability of
the position.

In addition, all employment practices including recruitment, training, working
hours, promotion, rewards and punishments, disciplinary action, salary,
benefits and demission, retirement and other employment resolutions are
dealt with strict compliance of employment regulations. During the financial
year, the Group has complied with all the employment related laws and
regulations.

Once any personnel concerns on the employment issues, employees can
always refer to China Greenfresh's comprehensive employment policy and
search for effective follow up by responsible departments.

Providing a safe and healthy working environment

In response to employee's health and safety issues, China Greenfresh
ensures that the Group's policy is executed, and promises:

e To comply with national regulations that are relevant to employees'
health and safety

e To provide the necessary physical examination and safety training
e To provide a safe working environment for employees

e To regularly conduct safety inspections to protect employees from
occupational hazards

Further to the health and safety policy, China Greenfresh treats health and
safety preventive measures seriously to avoid and manage any undesired
occupational hazards. The Group has improved facilities of manufacturing
plant, including provision of escape route maps, adequate emergency
equipment, first aid kits and fire protection equipment in conspicuous
locations, in respond to emergencies.

In the financial year, the Group has complied with all occupational health and
safety related laws and regulation.
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Caring for employees BiEET
Caring employment conditions K E

China Greenfresh has offered the best possible working benefits and HE4ERAEAE TIRESTFNFEMN TIER
conditions for employees, so as to reward the staff for their continued ff UHEEEIHELEERXENEE - £F
contribution to the Group's development. The Group has provided benefits  I2HAEFBIEEHES « AL S FFEEEH
included birthday and festive allowance, as well as double paid at the end % - £ BEEEGALE TR RPEESEL -
of the year. The group also actively organized internal charitable donations  EBEERHMWE TEBHRE - ASHEHERE

among employees to help those colleagues in needs. Human Resources  THt:EEEF MG & EE TR °
Department has also regularly organized activities and parties for employees
to relax.

?E%{m EE iﬁ'-tﬁl\

“ bj.!.\.! ‘ 1 1\\‘ L\ . _l |

China Greenfresh organized employees' activities, allowing employees to relax, and maintaining mental and physical wellbeing
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China Greenfresh's Mother's day function, facilitated gathering among employees and their family members, and delivered
gratefulness
FEGEN [FEALRERIBRHED  BATERARE -2 SEERQL

Apart from caring the employees, China Greenfresh also takes care of their
families. The Group has provided employees and their family members with
allowance for funeral, marriage and birth, to demonstrate loves towards
the family members of the employees. On top of that, Zhangzhou Branch
organized a special activity to celebrate Mother's Day to remind employees
to show cares for their parents after work. During the activities, employees
and their family members gathered and showed their gratitude to family
members.

Vocational training

Another important element for China Greenfresh to show cares for its
employees is to cultivate its employees and help them stretch their
potentials to the fullest. The Group has established training systems to
provide appropriate training opportunities satisfying the developmental
needs of employees.
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China Greenfresh's vocational trainings, allowing employees to better equip themselves with knowledges and skills, and stretch
their potentials

REIARERIRINES) BT

BEA A ERREREBED  —RATE

To design suitable training program, China Greenfresh's Human Resources
Department holds a department heads' meeting annually to develop next
year's internal training program. The program design would consider the
difference skills and knowledge requirements of different job positions, and
the departmental development needs of the subsequent year. The Group
has installed suggestion boxes to collect comments from employees. The
comments collected also serve as one of the considerations for Human
Resources Department tailoring the training program.

Training programs incorporate various modes of training, namely internal
training and external training. Internal training includes induction training,
general staff training as well as professional and technical training, such
as general management courses. If necessary, external lecturers would be
hired to cater for the specific training needs. The Group also encourages
employees to participate in external trainings which are organized by other
domestic training organizations.

PREPARING TO PLANT

China Greenfresh upholds high expectation on quality throughout the entire
business process, ensures that the Group's operations from procurement,
production to sales meet the quality requirements. To achieve it, the Group
has a comprehensive set of procurement and quality control policies to
ensure every consumer, after intaking the Group's edible fungus or other
products, is physically healthy.
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Prudent procurement

Safeguarding product quality begins with the good management of raw
materials, which ensures that the materials used for production are safe
and in good status. China Greenfresh has adopted a vertical integrated
production model, so as to reduce the risk of sourcing materials, such as
pesticides contamination, production qualification and quality of material,
through using self-producing raw materials as much as possible. Inevitably,
there are still sourcing needs of certain raw materials to meet the increasing
demand from the market. Therefore, the Group is responsible for managing
its supply chain, through imposing environmental and social-related
requirements on suppliers.

Environmental and social requirements on supply chain include the
following:

e Suppliers should fully comply with relevant environmental regulations

e  Suppliers should be conserving energy and reducing emissions, or
adhere to discharging standards

e  Suppliers must not have illegal employment practices

e  Suppliers should have no records of arrears and unpaid wages, and
keep a good reputation

The Group regularly conducts necessary site visits and surveys to ensure
that suppliers meet the Group's supply chain requirements.

Materials sourced must comply with the quality standards of China
Greenfresh before entering the manufacturing plants. The Group only
accepts materials with quality assurances (business license, QS card, third-
party inspection report card) in the first place. On top of that, the Group has
a series of quality requirements of materials, such as physical and chemical
characteristics, transportation, to ensure that the materials are safe and of
good quality upon their arrival.

Procurement ethics

China Greenfresh has high expectation on the integrity of internal staff and
external business partners. Any business dealings (including purchasing and
sales) must be conducted with fairness and honesty, and in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations. The Group strictly opposes to any intentional
fraudulent act to seek individual unlawful profits at the expense of the
Group's interests or for the benefit of improper corporate interests, such as
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, etc.
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In view of the Group's anti-corruption expectation, China Greenfresh has
developed a set of anti-corruption policies and related measures to maintain
business integrity. The Group conducted effective communication or training
in various forms (such as employee manuals, publicity or training, etc.) to
ensure that employees understood the concepts involved in the Code of
Conduct. The Group's Audit Department would evaluate the anti-corruption
policies and related measures on a quarterly basis, and put forward
rectification opinions. Internal members or social parties directly or indirectly
related to the Group could report actual or suspected fraud behaviour of the
Group and its personnel through telephone or email.

Under the effective implementation of anti-corruption policy, the Group has
not discovered any concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices in this
financial year, and continued to maintain integrity and equity throughout the
operations.

Responsible production

As a food production and processing enterprises, China Greenfresh rates
highly on food safety and product liability. The Group promises to:

e Fully comply with national regulations on food safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters

e Strengthen customer information management on regular basis to
protect the customer's information security

e  Produce in safety and compliance manners, and ensure that products
meet food safety standards to protect the health of customers

e  Guarantee the recall of products with quality issue
e  Establish an effective customer complaint handling process

e Become a comprehensive service provider for the Chinese edible
fungus industry

Directed by the product responsibility policies, China Greenfresh has
implemented strict product testing procedures to ensure that fresh fungus
sold in market are safe and non-poisonous. The Group has assigned Quality
Control Department to conduct sample inspections making sure that every
batch of products meet the Group's requirements.
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Apart from fresh fungus, all batches of China Greenfresh's canned products
has been sampled and tested by state-recognised professional company, to
guarantee food safety. Canned products could only be sold after the Group
obtained positive qualification report from third party.

In recognising China Greenfresh's efforts on product responsibilities, the
Group is awarded the "Business Excellence Awards — The Best Edible
Fungi Health Industry Supplier" by the Association of the International
Certified Financial Consultants (AICFC) this year. The award affirms the
Group's position as the modern manufacturer of high quality edible fungus
products. Responding to the trust on the Group's product quality, the Group
is committed to providing greener, healthier food of high quality.

In the financial year, China Greenfresh has complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding food safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters.

PRODUCING "GREEN" FUNGI

China Greenfresh commits to produce healthy and green products through
avoiding any environmental impacts, so as to create a better living and
business environment. The Group has constructed its production chain with
environmental awareness, from the consumption of raw materials to the final
product realization, to achieve green production.

P g e
Pre-harvesting condition of China Greenfresh's
Common Cultivatea Mushroom
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China Greenfresh received the "Business Excellence Awards — The Best Edible
Fungi Health Industry Supplier" award, in recognizing the Group's product
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Echoing to the environmental aspirations, China Greenfresh has established
a clear environmental policy to ensure production fulfils eco-friendly
expectations.

e  Fully complies with all applicable environmental laws and regulations;

e  Conserves energy and reduce emission, achieving status of low carbon
enterprises;

e  Effective uses of all resources including energy, water and other natural
resources;

e Adheres to the discharge standards, and continuously enhance the
Group's environmental performance;

e Reduces significant impacts on the environment and natural resources;

e Provides the training and resources required to fulfill environmental
responsibility.

Use of resources
Waste to gem

China Greenfresh is pleased with its green circular production chain. It
protects environmental resources, meanwhile creates values for the nearby
farming communities.

Throughout the edible fungi cultivation process, it has produced resources
that are generally considered to be wastes, such as waste cultivation bags,
coal residues, fruit remaining and sludges from sewage treatment. All of the
above mentioned "wastes" are still valuable, such as sludges can be used as
fertilizer, waste cultivation bags can be used to produce Common Cultivatea
Mushroom, coal residues can become fuel source again. Therefore, the
Group has sold its production "wastes" to nearby farmers at a reasonable
price, turning wastes to gems, to reuse wastes.

On the other hand, China Greenfresh has purchased farmer's agricultural
wastes (such as sawdust and straws, etc.) to cultivate edible fungus.
Thereby it reduces the waste discarded by farmers, and avoided
environmental pollution for raw material transportation.

China Greenfresh is committed to do its utmost to recover and reuse
materials. For those cannot be recycled (including both hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes), responsible parties would clear and properly handle the
wastes, so as to prevent causing pollution to the surrounding environment.
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Energy conservation

Energy is important to drive production equipment, but consuming it
produces atmospheric emissions, including greenhouse gases and air
pollutants. The energy consumed by China Greenfresh is mainly from
electricity, coal and bio-fuels (wood chips and waste cultivation bags etc.).
They are used to power machinery for sterilization, packaging, maintaining
appropriate edible fungi growing environment.

As a starting point, the Group has been using environmentally friendly and
energy-saving LED lights for its manufacturing plants to provide adequate
lighting. The Group's Hebei Pingquan manufacturing plant even utilizes
sunlight to reduce the energy consumption from lighting.

Water conservation

China Greenfresh actively responds to China's water-saving policies, tries
to avoid water used in production and enhances water efficiency. The
Group is committed to conserve water in production, effectively use water
for cleaning materials and packaging, and maintaining the temperature of
breeding rooms. Wastewater generated by the boiler is recycled through the
wastewater circulating system as water vapor and cooling water, therefore
eliminating the use of fresh water. The Group's bathrooms also installed
water-saving devices to reduce water consumption.
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Fruiting state of China Greenfresh's edible fungus
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China Greenfresh received President's Award,
recognising the Group's contribution to the
society
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Emission

In this financial year, China Greenfresh has complied with laws and
regulations regarding emission and water discharge, waste management
and other environmental related aspects.

Emission management

Sterilization and cooking processes are essential to ensure that products
are fully cooked and safe for consumption. The Group is equipped with
boilers to provide steam for sterilization and heating to kill bacteria (e.g. high
temperature and pressure bactericidal cabinet, and automatic pre-cooker
etc.).

Boilers releases air pollutants and greenhouse gases through burning
coal, wood chips or waste cultivation bags. In view of this, the Group has
obtained boiler operation permit, regularly monitored the emission data
and installed the dust removal equipment to ensure that the boiler emission
meets the national emission standards.

In spite of the boilers' emission control, trees can naturally absorb carbon
dioxide in the atmosphere, alleviate the greenhouse effect. China Greenfresh
supports afforestation and commits to build green manufacturing plants.
Large parcels of vegetation were planted in the manufacturing plants to
beautify the manufacturing bases, meanwhile reduce the atmospheric
greenhouse gas content.

Wastewater discharge

To treat wastewater generated from mixing compost and cleaning, China
Greenfresh particularly established wastewater treatment facilities to purify
wastewater. Wastewater contained organic matters. It was treated through
sedimentation tank and hydrolytic acidification tank, separated water
from the pollutants. Wastewater also went through a series of treatment
subsequently to ensure that the effluent meets the governmental discharge
standards.

CREATING VALUE TO SOCIETY

The ultimate purpose of an enterprise is to create value for different
stakeholders in the society, such as investors, customers, suppliers and
the community as a whole. In addition to producing quality products for
consumers, the Group also creates value for the community. During the
financial year, the Group has continued to promote social wellbeing and
harmony, and encouraged employees actively participated in social welfare
activities.
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Contributing to agricultural development

The green circular production chain contributes beyond environmental
protection to promote the development of neighbouring agricultural
businesses, which helps farmers to get rid of poverty. The Group has
acquired agricultural wastes from nearby farmlands, provided a platform for
farmers to sell their agricultural by-products, and hence increased farmers'
income. On the other hand, the group has sold waste cultivation bags after
fungal fruiting at a reasonable price to farmers, which can be used to grow
Common Cultivatea Mushroom for earning a stable income.

Supporting social welfare activities

China Greenfresh is aware of the development of public welfare in Hong
Kong and has actively participated in the charitable fund-raising activities of
the Hong Kong Community Chest. The Group's charity donations were used
to fund more than 150 organizations to provide social welfare services that
benefited 2.1 million people in Hong Kong. The Group was honoured with
the President's Award to show gratitude for its contribution to the public
welfare.
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External stakeholders visited the modern edible fungi science and technology museum for knowledge sharing
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Advocating green food

China Greenfresh has been providing quality edible fungus, and fruits and
vegetables products to encourage healthy diets. In the meantime, the
Group also established the first modern edible fungi science and technology
museum, that regularly invited institutions to visit, for visits, and deliver
healthy diet concept through the video and interactive technology.

China Greenfresh will uphold and optimize its green circular production
chain and continue to contribute to different stakeholders in the society,
including investors, consumers, and the nearby communities. At the
same time, the Group will adhere to integrate the concept of sustainable
development into its business operating to ultimately create multiple values.

CONTENT INDEX OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange. General
disclosures are indicated in the table below, that directs readers to the
relevant sections.
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The Directors submit the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
businesses of its subsidiaries are mushroom plantation, production of
canned food and other processed food as well as trading food and other
products.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

All subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are wholly owned enterprises
established in the PRC (except for Pingquan County Lvhe Biotechnology
Co., Limited, which is a joint venture and is owned 60% by the
Company). As at 31 December 2016, the bank and cash balances of
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB1,0083,375,000 (2015: RMB675,219,000). Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations. Detailed analysis of the subsidiaries of the Company
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the significant factors relevant to the Group’s
business performance, results and financial conditions during the year and
the business prospect of the Group are set out in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 4 to 5 and Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to
20 of this annual report respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial position, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected, directly or indirectly, by risks and uncertainties
pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The principal risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group are set out below. Such risks and uncertainties
are by no means exhaustive, and there may be other risks in addition to
those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may not be
material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk that affects profitability or ability to meet
business objectives arising from the movement in market prices. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s principal business is located in the PRC and its major
transactions are conducted in Renminbi.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. The Group is subject to the risk
that the Chinese government may take certain actions which may affect
exchange rates and in turn result in material adverse effects on the Group’s
net assets, earnings and any declared dividends, if such dividend is to be
exchanged or translated into foreign exchange. The Group has not entered
into any hedging transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign
currencies.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk represents the potential that the Group may fall short of its
obligations at maturity due to the failure to obtain adequate funding or
liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors cash flows
and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalent to ensure
the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the impacts of
fluctuation on cash flows.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk represents the risk of loss resulting from any fault or
deficiency in internal processes, staff and systems or from external events.
The responsibilities with respects to managing operational risks are basically
shared by divisions and departments of various functions.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their own standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The management
will identify and assess the principal operational exposures regularly so as to
respond with appropriate measures.

FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

For details of the financial review and analysis of the use of financial key
performance indicators for the Year, please refer to the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLANS

Details of the Company’s future development plans are provided in the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 20 of this annual
report.

Events after the reporting period

On 28 March 2017, the Board has proposed, subject to the Shareholders’
approval, a bonus issue of shares on the basis of one bonus share for every
one existing share held by the Shareholders. Further details of this bonus
issue, including the relevant details of the resolutions to be passed by the
Shareholders and the record date for such entitlements, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2017 and further circular to
be published by the Company.
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DIVIDENDS AND BONUS ISSUE

The Board proposes the payment a final dividend of HK2.00 cents per
share (approximately equivalent to RMB1.77 cents) for the year ended
31 December 2016 (2015: HK20.00 cents, approximately equivalent to
RMB17.00 cents) and a bonus issue of shares on the basis of one bonus
share for every one existing share held by the Shareholders. Both proposals
above are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) to be held on 26 May 2017. As to
further details of bonus issue, including relevant details of resolution to be
passed by Shareholders and the record date for such entitlement, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2017 and the
circular to be further published by the Company.

During the Year, the Board declared and paid an interim dividend of HK8.00
cents per share (approximately equivalent to RMB6.88 cents). The total
amounts of dividends declared during the Year accounted for approximately
20.39% of the profit attributable to owners of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

As a responsible enterprise, the Group is committed to environmental
protection and strives to minimise the environmental impact of its production
and business activities. The Group has adopted the concept of system-
wide food safety and environmental design in providing infrastructures
for its factories. Our production base had obtained the approval of the
local government prior to its operation and received the approval on the
environmental impact report. The Group promoted clean production review
mechanism and implemented recycling economy on the basis of the
established and operated ISO14001 environmental management system.
No major irregularities of discharge limits of sewage, smoke and dusts had
been noted in the past three years according to the real time monitoring
system of the environmental bureau of the place where the Group is located
and no major irregularities of waste treatment was found under the periodic
audit of EMS.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE
SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS ON THE GROUP

Compliance procedures of the Group are in place to ensure compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations which in particular, have
significant impacts on the Group. The Audit Committee is delegated by
the Board to review and monitor the Group’s compliance with the policies
and practices on corporate governance and regulatory requirements and
such policies are regularly reviewed. The relevant employees and the
operation units are kept informed from time to time of any change to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. To the knowledge of the Company,
the Company has complied with relevant laws and regulations in all material
aspects which have significant impacts on its operation and business.

RERBITAR

EESEHRNEBE2016F12A31BILEFEY
RERR B ABR2.00B L (HRERARKE1.77
75) (20154 : 20.00781l » H9HEERARE17.00
D) UTEFERESEE —RIBERNDEE K
KRR 2 BEEBFITAIRR - M Fill MIB B
RR2017F5 26 BRI 2 ARRIBRRBAFRE
(TREBEFERE DI EHAEE - BELARRET
MEE— B BERRABBZRABZRNEEH
EERARENZCEAE  BR2HAAT B
B2017F3A28H 2 A E KR A QR ST #
1

FR - BEECCERLENTPHEESRENL
8.00B ML (KIHEERARK6.889) - FNEEIK
2 REBBRBEARNREA AEMRF420.39% °

BRIRHERRR

EBE—REEINGE  ANEERHHESHRER
EBRABNREEERERTHEIREER
VHE REENERBHEAZEBRNRMETE
BoHAERFRESERISH A£EEER
MR E RIS E L BUS A B0E - WERIRIES
ZIREMRE - R BFTISO14001REE 12
BAROER L #OBREESZES - TR
REE I -FRAEEMENAIRERESTE
BEREAE IR LIRSK  AESNBIZS
REBREZ  FARLCBRREREREFXZDOARLY
BEMEENREEENERSRE -

HAEBBREARYENERRERNEST

AEEBHTEERIEF - ABERETOLHE)H
HELERYEZBERER RAURESR -EF
EREERZE SR REEAEEEETEE
ERREERETHANBELER - LHITEHR
EHERN - HEB T REBKZE LS T HEM
BERERE  RAURERZEMES - IBART]
P&l HEREARNTEBTHARAARREREE
BEAZENBARERIESR -

59




60

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Directors’ Report

EEERS

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES
Working environment

The Group provides its employees in the mainland China with nice
workplace in a greening factory, reasonable remuneration, sound incentive
mechanism, broad career advancement and other benefits such as
insurance, housing fund and retirement benefit. We are committed to
improving working environment for our staff.

In addition, the Group always cares its staff who have hardship in living and
has set up a charity fund to help staff who have difficulties in living.

Training and career development

The Group values the importance of staff training. We organised an in-
house business school and developed training programmes for specific
operating business covering various aspects such as personnel, finance,
administration, quality control, marketing and management to enhance
knowledge of managerial and professional staff of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS

We highly value our customers as important partners for the Group’s
sustainability and development. We require our staff to be committed to
both the principle and practice of sincere service.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS

As the supply resources of the company, suppliers achieved business
integrity and mutual benefits. The Group established an incentive
mechanism for distributors and signed agreements with them to regulate our
business and to ensure that the interests of the Group and customers are
protected by law.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the Year, the financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2016 and the Group’s cash flows and statement of changes
in equity for the Year then ended are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 85 to 159.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 16 May 2017 to Friday, 26 May 2017, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 26
May 2017 will be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the AGM, Shareholders should ensure that share
transfer documents together with the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 15
May 2017.

For the purpose to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders to the
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 5 June 2017 to Wednesday, 7 June 2017, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of share will be registered. Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 7
June 2017 will be entitled to the final dividend. In order to be entitled to
the payment of the final dividend, Shareholders should ensure that share
transfer documents together with the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 June
2017.

For the purpose to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders to the
bonus issue, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 5 June 2017 to Wednesday, 7 June 2017, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 7 June
2017 will be entitled to the bonus issue. In order to qualify for the bonus
issue, Shareholders should ensure that share transfer documents together
with the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 June 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Year
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS

Particulars of bank loans and overdrafts of the Group as at 31 December
2016 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Zheng Songhui
Mr. Zheng Tianming
Ms. Zheng Ruyan

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Zhang Lin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas

Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung

Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors) has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Company’s Directors and the senior management
are set out in pages 22 to 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions”
and note 35 “Related Party Transactions” to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries, or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or a connected entity of a
Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands where the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, each of Directors shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers, which gives
appropriate cover for any legal action brought against its Directors. The level
of the coverage is reviewed annually.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

At the general meeting, the Shareholders authorised the Board to determine
the remuneration of the Directors. The remuneration of the Directors are
determined by the Board base on the recommendation made by the
Remuneration Committee with reference to their job complexity, workload
and responsibilities and the Company’s remuneration policy. Details of the
remuneration of the Directors during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals of the

Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

As at 31 December 2016, the distributable reserve of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB530,880,000.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, there were no charitable donations made by the Group.
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Exempt Continuing Connected Transaction

Ms. Zheng Ying, the daughter of Mr. Zheng Songhui, the chairman, chief
executive officer, executive Director and a controlling Shareholder of the
Company, is a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07(4) of
the Listing Rules.

On 25 March 2015, the Company entered into the following lease
agreements (the “Lease Agreements”) with Ms. Zheng Ying with respect to
the land and properties (the “Properties”) located at Longhai Yancuo Town
Qiaoshan Village Jin Pu, Fujian Province, PRC ({22 & e/ 8 A& S
LA §8 )
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Lease Agreements Lessor Lessee Term Annual Rental Description of Leased Properties
HE R A REA 1BER 3k HENEHET
Property A Lease Ms. Zheng Ying  Zhangzhou Commencing from RMB22,824 payablein  Land parcel of site area of 5,282
Agreement Greenfresh 18 November 2014 and arrear annually sq.m. (‘Property A”)
expiring on 17 November 2017
(terminated on 30 April 2016)
WEFREWZ iy Y b fod: B2014F 11 A1BEMMTR  BFURNFAXN  LimiEs,282F 7 KR
2017F11 A17REIE(E AR¥22,8247T (MR 1)
1201654 A30B £41E)
Property B Lease Ms. Zheng Ying  Fujian Greenfresh Commencing from RMB100,452 payable in - Buildings of total gross floor area
Agreement Foods 18 March 2015 and arrear annually of 1,287.88 sg.m. used for
expiring on 17 March 2018 production base, warehouse
and office purpose (“Property B’)
W RERH Brit BREGERM B2015%3 A 18 A FfAL® BREAMRN AN  @EEEE287.88F /K
2018F3 A17E %4 AR¥100,4527 BR(WEZ))  kEE
£ RERBAEAR
Property C Lease Ms. Zheng Ying  Fujian Greenfresh Commencing from RMB163,680 payable in  Buildings of total gross floor area
Agreement Foods 18 March 2015 and arrear annually of 1,363.98 sq.m. used for office
expiring on 17 March 2018 purpose (‘Property C’)
WERNRE G ) S BESERR B201543 A 18 A R BEAMRNAXN  @EEEE363.98F REE

2018F3A17HZ| 5

The Company are entitled to terminate each of the Lease Agreements by
giving a 30-day prior notice. Upon its expiration, the Company will have the
priority in leasing the Properties under each of the Lease Agreements from
Ms. Zheng Ying upon negotiation of the rentals and signing of the renewed
lease agreements.
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The Properties were originally leased by the Company from Fujian Minhui
Packaging Group Company Limited (f& & E B E LB R A E]) (‘“Minhui
Packaging”), an independent third party. The lease agreements with Minhui
Packaging were terminated upon Ms. Zheng Ying acquired the Properties
from Minhui Packaging in November 2014.

The Directors confirm that the terms of the Lease Agreements are on normal
commercial terms and are determined by the Group and Ms. Zheng Ying
on arm’s length basis with reference to the historical annual rentals paid to
Minhui Packaging for leasing of the Properties.

In view of the fact that Ms. Zheng Ying is a connected person of the
Company, the transactions under the Lease Agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company (“Lease Transactions”)
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of
the Listing Rules, the considerations payable under each of the Lease
Agreements are considered on an aggregate basis for the purpose of
classification of the continuing connected transactions.
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For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEE

2016 2017 2018

Lease Agreements HEW= 20164 20174 20184
Property A Lease Agreement YWERAERZ RMB22,824 RMB22,824 RMB22,824
ANR#ED22 82477 AR¥228247T ARM22,8247T

Property B Lease Agreement W AE R RMB100,452 RMB100,452 RMB100,452
AR#100,4527T ARM100,4527T AR®E100,4527T

Property C Lease Agreement WERBERZ RMB163,680 RMB163,680 RMB163,680
AR#163,6807T AR¥163,6807T ARK163,6807T

Total et RMB286,956 RMB286,956 RMB286,956

AE#286,9567T

AR#286,9567C A R¥286,9567T

Based on the above annual cap for each of the three years ending 31
December 2016, 2017 and 2018, each of the applicable percentage ratios
under the Listing Rules will be less than 5.0% and less than HK$3,000,000.

Given that each of the Lease Agreements is on normal commercial terms,
according to Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the Listing Rules, the Lease Transactions
will be exempt from the reporting, announcement and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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Non-Exempt Connected Transaction

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 23
December 2016. On 23 December 2016, Fujian Greenfresh Foods Group
Company Limited* (l2 24 B R mEE BB A F]), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as vendor entered into an asset transfer
agreement with Ms. Zheng Ying (#54), the daughter of Mr. Zheng Songhui,
as purchaser. Pursuant to the asset transfer agreement, Fujian Greenfresh
Foods Group Company Limited* agreed to dispose and Ms. Zheng Ying
agreed to acquire the following land use rights and related buildings (“Land
Use Rights and Related Buildings”) at a consideration of RMB7,800,000
in cash:

(1) the land use right of the industrial land situated at Qiaoshan Village of
Yan Cuo, Longhai, Zhangzhou, Fujian Province, the PRC (FEligiE&
B8N EBE AT L) of approximately 3,570 square meters (Long Guo
Yong (2015) No.G2915) and the related buildings with a total gross floor
area of approximately 1,832 square meters constructed on such land;

(2) the land use right of the industrial land situated at Qiaoshan Village of
Yan Cuo, Longhai, Zhangzhou, Fujian Province, the PRC (FF EligiE%&
B8N EBE AT L) of approximately 6,406 square meters (Long Guo
Yong (2015) No.G2916) and the related buildings with a total gross floor
area of approximately 4,082 square meters constructed on such land;
and

(8) the related buildings with a gross floor area of approximately 3,424.22
square meters in respect of which building ownership certificates have
not been obtained and which are located on the abovementioned two
parcels of land.

The consideration was arrived at after arm’s length negotiations between the
purchaser and the vendor with reference to the valuation for the Land Use
Rights at RMB3,600,000 and Related Buildings at RMB4,200,000 prepared
by the independent valuer. The disposal is scheduled to be completed on or
before 30 June 2017.

* For identification only
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The purchaser Ms. Zheng Ying is the daughter of Mr. Zheng Songhui,
the chairman, chief executive officer, executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder of the Company. The purchaser being an associate of a
Director, is therefore a connected person of the Company and the disposal
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as
defined in the Listing Rules) calculated in respect of the disposal are more
than 0.1% but are all less than 5%, the disposal is subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) confirm
that the transaction is in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group and the terms and conditions of the asset transfer agreement and the
transaction are on normal commercial terms, which are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The
Company has complied with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of its connected transactions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in the
section headed “Connected Transactions” above, no other related party
transactions set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
constitute discloseable connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of its connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions.

NON-COMPETITION DEED

The Company has received the written confirmation provided by each
of the controlling Shareholders, confirming that each of the controlling
Shareholders have not breached the Deed of Non-Competition dated
27 May 2015 entered into between the Company and the controlling
Shareholders.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and received confirmation by the controlling Shareholders
and, on the basis of such confirmation, are of the view that the controlling
Shareholders have complied with the deed of non-competition and such
deed of non-competition has been enforced by the Company in accordance
with its terms.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s pre-IPO share option scheme was adopted by written
resolutions of the then Shareholders on 27 May 2015 (the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) and a summary of the principal terms are set out as
follows:

U}

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to Eligible Persons (as mentioned in paragraph (i)
below) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Company and to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees.

Grantee

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is available to the directors and
employees (whether full time or part time) of any member of the Group.

Maximum number of shares to be allotted

The maximum number of the Shares with respect to which options
may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be
25,000,000 Shares representing approximately 5% of the Company's
issued share capital immediately after completion of the global offering
and the capitalisation issue (assuming the over-allotment option,
options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and are
not exercised).

Maximum number of options to any individual

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the “Relevant
Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant, the number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options (granted and
proposed to be granted, whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding)
to the Relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period expiring on the
date on which an offer of the grant of an option under the Share Option
Scheme is made to the Relevant Eligible Person would exceed 1%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue at such time,
unless:

BR
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(v)

(vi)

e such grant has been duly approved, in the manner prescribed
by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, at
which the Relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstained
from voting;

e a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing the
information specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules; and

e the number and terms (including the subscription price) of such
options are fixed before the general meeting of the Company at
which the same are approved.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of each share issued pursuant to the
exercise of options granted hereunder shall be determined by the Board
at its own discretion and set out in the relevant offer letter(s), provided
that it shall not be less than the nominal value of the shares. The
subscription price in respect of each share under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme is HK$2.0.

Remaining term of the scheme

After the Latest Practicable Date, no further options will be offered or
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme but in other respects
the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
and options which are granted on or before the Latest Practicable Date
may continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.
No option may be granted more than 10 years after the date of approval
of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

(vii) The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can

be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, provide that
in granting options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Board
can determine whether there is any minimum holding period.

v)

(vi)

(vii)
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(viii) Exercise period and vesting period and expiry date of exercise

(ix)

(x)

period

Unless otherwise provided in the offer letter(s), options granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are to be vested and exercised
during the three years after the shares of the Company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 18 June 2015 (the “Listing
Date”) in the following manner:

(1) agrantee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of options
granted after six months from the Listing Date;

(2) a grantee is entitled to exercise an additional 30% of the total
number of options granted after eighteen months from the Listing
Date; and

(8) a grantee is entitled to exercise a further additional 30% of the
total number of options granted after thirty months from the Listing
Date.

Exercise of options

Any exercise of an option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is conditional upon:

(1) the Listing Committee granting approval of the listing of, and
permission to deal in, the Shares which may fall to be issued
pursuant to the exercise of any options granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme;

(2) the commencement of dealings in the Shares on the Stock
Exchange;

(8) any such conditions as may be specified in the offer letter in
respect of the grant of options. The expiry date of the exercise
period of any such options shall be set out more particularly in the
relevant offer letter in respect of the grant of options.

Rights personal to grantees

The option shall be personal to the grantee and shall not be assignable
nor transferable, and no grantee shall in any way sell, transfer, charge,
mortgage, encumber or create any interest (legal or beneficial) in favor
of any third party over or in relation to any option.

(viii) 17 fEHA % 55 88 A I AT R B fE 0% B

(ix)

(x)

BIFBWRMZEREEIN  BRREER
N ENBARES BN AR QAR 122015
FoA18RAEHZMERLEM(TETAH])
SERNF M BREIZ AT X BEE RATE

(1) ARARR LT HBNEARITREER
TEHAEIEN40%

(2) AFEARR LT HES+ @B RTERE
P BN RRIN30% ¢ I

(38) AWEATR LT REB=1EB®RTEE
[l HEE 48 20 B EESINB0% ©

BRENTE

TEBEERAFESIBRESSREN
FBRREZAA T IRIFERR - BRI

(1) EhZEeMERTEREERAFRE
5 A FE PR RT B A A (A B AR A T AT
BEBITHEMRG L REE

(2) BiFMEBIMES

(3) I B AR ) 2 49 K A T RE 51 B B AT
ZEG - BROBRENBREZO RS
B A S 3% 5 R AR A e 7T 2 28
B H AR -

S YN EPN:oki-Z|

BRI RARAEARA » TNEEEKE
B AR ARG A 7 A s E IR AR
MEME=ZSALAZHEALE  BE& K&
;e EREREEIEMEROEER

g%) °



2016 F3f / FEGEEBBR AT

Directors’ Report

ESERE

The following table discloses the details of the outstanding options of the TEFEBEAQNFES BEATREREBRNAE
Company held by the Directors, connected persons and certain employees  F£ERIEEH XA EMBRETZFEN AR

of the Company under Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the Year. AIARITFEBEARESEE -
On
On 1 January 31 December Exercise Exercise
Name of grantees Date of grant 2016 Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2016 price period
R2016%F R2016%F
ERAER R A 1A18 =X B BAM 12A31R g (g
(HK$)
(BT
Directors
L
Zheng Songhui 17 June 2015 2,000,000 800,000 - - 1,200,000 2.00 Notes (1)(2)(3)
NS 2015F6R17H HiFE(1)2)(3)
Zheng Tianming 17 June 2015 1,500,000 600,000 - - 900,000 2.00 Notes (1)(2)(3)
LIPR] 2015564178 MEE()2)9)
Zheng Ruyan 17 June 2015 1,500,000 600,000 - - 900,000 2.00 Notes (1)(2)(3)
k3 2015F6R17H Hi7E1)2)(3)
Senior Management
BREERE
Chen Wei 17 June 2015 1,500,000 600,000 - - 900,000 2.00 Notes (1)(2)(3)
Bz 2015F6A17H Hi7E1)2)(3)
Employee’s in aggregate 17 June 2015 18,500,000 7,400,000 - - 11,000,000 2.00 Notes (1)(2)(3)
EE&# 2015%6A17H ME(1)2))
25,000,000 10,000,000 - - 14,900,000
Note (4)H5F(4)
Note: PR3

(1) A grantee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of options after 6 months from the (1) AFARR LT E 6 BB ITEERELEHN40%
Listing Date.

(2) A grantee is entitled to exercise an additional 30% of the total number of options after 18 (2) AFBEARRR ETHE18(E A BITEIEAEAEEEIN0%
months from the Listing Date.

(8) A grantee is entitled to exercise a further additional 30% of the total number of options 30 @) ABEARIN LT HHS0ME A EITHFEREAENBBEIN
months from the Listing Date. 30% °

(4)  The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the exercise (4)  ARARKRDEEEXARMBEEATREIETTE B HaTH0 e
date of the share option was HK$3.73. FHWR T E RS 73T ©

The estimated fair value of the options on this date is approximately BER#ENRZBENGHIHE AL BEN A ARK
RMB52,680,000, details are provided in note 31 to consolidated financial ~— 52,680,0007T + £ B2 5¥ 4151 & 74 42 & B 7% 4R 35 I
statements. The value of the options is of subjectivity and unpredictability. 31 o ZHIERNBEMEE TEHE M LTEE B8]
It depends on various assumptions used in estimate and is subject to the — FFrRAMZIERE @ bt EEHIR ] o
limitation of the model.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted by written resolutions of
the then Shareholders on 27 May 2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and a
summary of the principal terms are set out as follows:

U

(ii)

(iii)

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or
reward to Eligible Persons (as defined in the paragraph below) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, our
Group and for such other purposes as the Board may approve from
time to time.

Grantee

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible persons (being
any director or employee (whether full time or part time), consultant
or advisor of the Group who in the sole discretion of the Board has
contributed to and/or will contribute to the Group) (the “Eligible
Persons”) the options to subscribe for such number of shares in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of shares to be alloted

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number
of shares of the Company in issue from time to time. No options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

At the time of adoption by the Company of the Share Option Scheme
or any new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”), the aggregate
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, the New Scheme and
all schemes existing at such time (the “Existing Schemes”) of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the Listing Date (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”), representing a maximum of 50,000,000 shares.
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Maximum number of options to any individual

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the “Relevant
Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant, the number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options (granted and
proposed to be granted, whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding)
to the Relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period expiring on the
date on which an offer of the grant of an option under the Share Option
Scheme is made to the Relevant Eligible Person would exceed 1%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue at such time,
unless:

e such grant has been duly approved, in the manner prescribed
by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, at
which the Relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstained
from voting;

e a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing the
information specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules; and

e the number and terms (including the subscription price) of such
options are fixed before the general meeting of the Company at
which the same are approved.

Remaining term of the scheme

No option may be granted more than 10 years after the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme.

Subscription price

The subscription price for a share in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme (which shall be payable
upon exercise of the share option) shall be a price solely determined by
the Board and notified to the Eligible Person and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of granting
option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer to grant option (“Offer Date”) (provided that
the new issue price shall be used as the closing price of the shares of
the Company for any business day falling within the period before the
listing of the Company where the Company has been listed for less than
five business days as at the Offer Date); and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares. A consideration of RMB 1 is payable on acceptance of the offer
of an option.

(iv)

v)

(vi)
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(vii) The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised under the Share Option Scheme, provide that
in granting options under the Share Option Scheme, the Board can
determine whether there is any minimum holding period.

The

followings are details of share options exercised by employees

(vii) BT A A ERFAENRESRR

TTREFB AT IR TV g » HAE T
A &ERA BE - EEREBRESIR Y
BEER - EERTREEMREFE SR -

T RRERREREBRES TTRE

under the share option scheme during the Year: Rt 2 5515 -
On
31 December Exercise Exercise
Name of grantee Date of grant Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2016 price period
20165
EEYN 2] REAH BRI BTE [BEE BAH 12A31H T8 Cgd
(HKS)
(%B7L)
Employee’s in aggregate 31 March 2016 25,000,000 10,000,000 = - 15,000,000 3.71  Notes (1)(2)(3)
EEAH 2016F3A31H 3 (1))
Notes: B 5 -

M

@

(©}

4)

A grantee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of options after the Date of
Grant.

A grantee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of options after 6 months from
the Date of Grant.

A grantee is entitled to exercise an additional 20% of the total number of options after 12
months from the Date of Grant.

The closing price of the Company’s shares was HK$3.78 immediately preceding the Date
of Grant.

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the
exercise date of the share option was HK$3.72.

The estimated fair value of the options on this date is approximately HK$19,698,000,
details are provided in note 31 to consolidated financial statements. The value of the
options is of subjectivity and unpredictability. It depends on various assumptions used in
estimate and is subject to the limitation of the model.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as the land lease disclosed in “Connected Transactions” above, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or subsisted
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as the section of “Non-competition deed” disclosed above, during
the Year, none of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the

Group’s

business, which is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,

with the business of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, EERESITHRAEBRRY - HERGORESF
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES 2R

As at 31 December 2016, the Directors and chief executives of the R2016F 128310 * AR FEEHHESTHA
Company have the following interests or short positions in the shares, BRZAAF KA FMBEEE(TERLESEN
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated ~ £571% 55 & Bl & (501 ([ 25 35 R B S 1461 1) XV
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures — #F)8IA% 1D ~ BN R E#EET - BEREES
Ordinance (the “SFO”), Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) which are ~ REISIEFIEXVEIE7 R ESH AT AR AT R
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant B FTHIEMERSOAR @ SiBEEE K EIE K
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required, pursuant 5] 85352 (&30 85 70 5% (& 171 BT it 0 2 52 i} 7 0 4F ] e
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, #8042 @ SARIRIZ ST BB F € KD 7 M BERT
or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the — FTE{E(AllEzs s KA AT

Company and the Stock Exchange:

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of shares/ in the Company
Name of directors Nature of interest underlying shares held (Note 1)
EEHE EmMtE st HERHE VNGBS
BHABEI
(MI7E1)
Mr. Zheng Songhui Interests in controlled corporations 268,464,777 52.01%
BRFANE 2 A RZAEEE R R (Note 2)
(FfizE2)
Beneficial owner 2,000,000
EnEAA (Note 4)
(P7E4)
Total 270,464,777
FEE
Mr. Zheng Tianming Interests in controlled corporations 6,310,305 1.50%
B R BR % A& REZAEEE R R (Note 3)
(Fi3E3)
Beneficial owner 1,500,000
EnEAA (Note 4)
(PF7E4)
Total 7,810,305
FEE
Ms. Zheng Ruyan Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.29%
N2z + BB A (Note 4)
(FfizE4)
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Notes:

@)

(4)

As at 31 December 2016, the Company has issued 520,000,000 shares.

Held by Mr. Zheng Songhui through his wholly owned Song Rising Co., Ltd (“Song Rising”) and
Grand Ample Limited (“Grand Ample”), and Song Rising and Grand Ample owned 258,119,600
and 10,345,117 shares respectively. Consequently, Mr. Zheng Songhui was deemed to be
interested in an aggregate of 268,464,777 shares held by Song Rising and Grand Ample.

Held by Mr. Zheng Tianming through his wholly owned Sunny Foods Co., Ltd (“Sunny Foods”)
and Sunny Foods owned 6,310,305 shares. Consequently, Mr. Zheng Tianming was deemed to
be interested in the 6,310,305 shares held by Sunny Foods.

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 27 May 2015. Mr. Zheng
Songhui, Mr. Zheng Tianming and Ms. Zheng Ruyan were granted 2,000,000, 1,500,000 and
1,500,000 share options respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2016, according to
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, Mr. Zheng Songhui, Mr. Zheng Tianming and Ms. Zheng
Ruyan had 1,200,000, 900,000 and 900,000 outstanding shares options.

Save from disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors
nor chief executive of the Company had interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(1) #2016F12A31H + AARIE #17520,000,0008 f% 15 °

(2)  EBIAFESE A4S B H & & %A Song Rising Co., Ltd([ Song
Rising|)£2Grand Ample Limited([ Grand Ample |)#5% *
il Song Rising £ Grand Ample 81 % 5 # & 258,119,600
110,345 117 B2 B 17 At - BOFAHE % 4 3 4R /B 7 Song
Rising#2Grand Ample# &3/ £1268,464, 777 B i (3 R A
s o

(3) EIRBALAEBBEEEBASUNNY Foods Co., Ltd([Sunny
Foods])#% * MSunny Foods &I 56,310,305 ik 15 °
A bt + B8R BA 5 A 448 A R Sunny Foods#% A 16,310,305
BRAR AR R M 2 o

(4)  ARER2015F5 427 HERME X ARSI EREE -
ERIMIB ST A - BBRBASE A R B INFR 2 + 5 B 2008 8%
1508 i 1508 B EE AL - HZE2016412A31 B 1L - REHE
IRAFRE N BT S - BB E - BRI A R BN
HLTHBIE 1208 - 0B ARFNO0E AR B AR HE 1 AT T1E ©

B P EE SN - 2016512 A31H - &AA A
EENHETHA BBLEN AR Bk H 0] A5 5
FE(EEREHFLEEEGEXVID) NS - 8
RO REEET  BEBREESFRPERIE
XVEBEET7 M HE8H TAME AN 5] KB AR TR
SRR - RIRIEE S M RG] 55352160 8%
RZEPI Tt ZE MR TS sAxR » &
IR IB <P BB 21 & A D7) M B 32 P 0 (] i 25
IR o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2016, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as
indicated by the register recording share interests and short positions
required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, the persons
(not being Directors or chief executives of the Company) listed in the
following table had interest and/or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company:

TERR2FRES

2016512310 - IBESMM - RIEEF M
B &P EXVAFE 3365 ERFE 2 et #m K
KRBLMAR  TRANAL(EIEARRES
HRSITHAE)FEH AR TR FARRE B0 B9 F2
RSk E

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of ordinary shares/ in the Company

Name Nature of interest underlying shares held (Note 1)
ma AR ERME FrisEiER - HERHH VNN EET
BXABEDL
(PRFET)
Song Rising Beneficial owner 258,119,600 (Long positions) 47.98%
EnEAA (&)
COFCO (Beijing) Agricultural Beneficial owner 26,448,790 (Long positions) 5.09%
Industrial Equity Investment (HFE)
Fund (A Limited Partnership)
(Note 2)
iR R)EXRERE EnBEAA
REES (BREE)
(ff7E2)
COFCO Agricultural Industrial Interested in controlled 26,448,790 (Long positions) 5.09%

Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd. (Note 2)
EEARAF(HFE2)

corporation

MEEEE S

Note:
(1) As at 31 December 2016, the Company has issued 520,000,000 shares.

(2) 26,448,790 shares were held by COFCO (Beijing) Agricultural Industrial Equity Investment Fund
(A Limited Partnership) (‘COFCO Fund”) and COFCO Agricultural Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd. was the manager of COFCO Fund.

Save from disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Directors were
not aware of any other persons (not being Directors or chief executives of
the Company) who had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which would be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO.

(#77)

&
(1) #2016%12H31H - &AAFIE#17520,000,0000& 8% 15 ©

(2) 26,448, 790RBRMEFR (I R) BREEXREREESR(H
REB)([HRES A MPRREEXESEEAR
BEERARATRESHEEA -

B EXFHEES - H20165F12A318  SiE=E
Fran - tiEAmEaA L (WEARRESSHES
THBAB)BEREEFRBEKRHEXVBELR
3P EBEE AR AR RIF B AL SR AR E
F R HEIEGIE336IEFEN B LM AR RS
ARG RIS S AR o
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR SIMILAR
RIGHTS

Other than the share option schemes as set out in this annual report, the
Company had no other outstanding convertible securities, options, warrants
or similar rights as at 31 December 2016.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the share options granted in prior years and the Year are set out
in note 31 of the consolidated financial statements and “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Options Scheme’” contained in this Directors’
Report. For the share options granted during the year 10,000,000 shares
were issued during the Year. Except as disclosed above, the Company has
not entered into any equity-linked agreements for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Year, neither did the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Total revenue from the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 33% of the Group’s sales for the Year, in which the sales to
the largest customer accounted for approximately 9.16% of the Group’s
total sales for the Year.

Total purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 53% of the Group’s purchases for the Year, in which the
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 28% of the
Group’s total purchases for the Year.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their associates or
any Shareholders who own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital
has any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
sufficient public float under the Listing Rules.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise
of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they are advised to
consult an expert.

RRES - BRE - RREEELER

B A AE SRA BB AR S BISN - R EN2016%F 12
A1 B H M R TT R AT AR EE 25 - B ARAE -
R AEF SR LER -

PRt
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AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong has audited the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2016. RSM Hong Kong will retire,
being eligible, and is willing to offer themselves for reappointment at the
AGM.

By the order of the Board

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.
Zheng Songhui

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2017
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CHINA
GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 159, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

RSM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS B ERSE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, BREREIEARETE  EEYE  RAYHAN
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HEGAMBRRIERRAEE 2 EIE - %5
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the FHEREEZEZEXREEZAVBHRRLEASRR
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and ER @ MBS AU ZEEEIEHERNZER -
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on  EEH R 7 BREEZEEE ¢

these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Fair value measurement of biological assets 1. EMEEZAARBE=E
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BERERSEE EE2ERPIREFARERSER
Fair value measurement of biological assets Our procedures in relation to the fair value measurement of
EYEEZ A EEFE biological assets included:

BERENEEZ AR EFEZERFER -

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

BIRIMER A B ISR M EE21 © - Evaluating the independent professional valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

The Group’s biological assets comprise mushrooms. B EELER 2 BREE - BRI BB

During the growing period, fair value is estimated using

a cost approach and during the harvest period a market - Assessing with the assistance of our in house

approach is adopted. The determination of fair value valuation experts the appropriateness of the valuation

requires significant management estimation, particularly methodologies, key inputs and assumptions adopted;

with respect to unobservable inputs such as expected EEZABHEERBE TEEMRAZHERE - &

crop vyields. As at 31 December 2016, the Group had ZEBERBRESEE

biological assets with a carrying amount of RMB59

million. — Checking the accuracy and relevance of the inputs to

EEEZEVEERREERER - EARBBFEAKAE supporting evidence; and

BEAAME  MBRKBRIFKATSE - BEAAETE# REEIE 2 ERER R T ES FEBER &

TEEZBENE LERYH NI HRE - RS ED

EE - R2016512A31H - EEBEAEWEERAEEAA -  Considering the adequacy of the fair value disclosures in

R¥598&TT ° relation to biological assets.

EREEYEEMMZAABERBEEGEH -
The Group engaged an independent external valuer to
assist the directors in assessing the fair value of biological

assets.
BEEEZEBEIINMEEM R ESTEENEEZAR
-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Liu Eugene.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

VA=
W= }E\m For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31BILFE
2016 2015
20164 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBTT AREF T
Revenue 1'@N 7 1,086,216 762,118
Changes in fair value of biological EYMEERNREEE)
assets less cost to sell VERI=k=AD 7N 207,419 246,716
Cost of goods sold BEEYMREAR (1,015,050) (747,722)
Business tax and auxiliary charges EER e KK (542) (798)
Gross profit EF 278,043 260,314
Other income E A A 8 19,161 24,385
Selling expenses SHERRS (4,582) (3,873)
Administrative expenses TR (66,376) (59,774)
Profit from operations REORA 226,246 221,052
Finance costs B RAR 10 (808) (615)
Profit before tax BENEF 225,438 220,437
Income tax expense RSB 11 (3,799) (2,705)
Profit for the year FR=EF 12 221,639 217,732
Attributable to: BER
Owners of the Company RAREEA A 222,092 217,732
Non-controlling interests FEEAR M 2 (453) -
221,639 217,732
Earnings per share BRER 16
Basic (RMB cents per share) BER(ERARESD) RMBAR# RMBA K%

43.5 cents7

49.2 cents?

Diluted (RMB cents per share)

BE(BRARED)

RMBA R #
43.4 cents?

RMBA R #
49.0 cents7




ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

fmAdE T %
F ==K & = J‘Hlé@ LI&flﬁ For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

2016 2015

20164 2015%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREBTFT

Profit for the year FEREH 221,639 217,732
Other comprehensive income FREMEERE

for the year, net tax MBRTEE - -

Total comprehensive income for the year £ R2E IS5 221,639 217,732

Attributable to: BER :

Owners of the Company RARER A 222,092 217,732

Non-controlling interests eI R 2 (453) -

221,639 217,732
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2016 F3f / FEGBEEBBR A A

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

4= 3
ARE R R & At 31 December 2016
20165 12H31H
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBTT ARBFIT
ASSETS aE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MRE 17 180,214 161,802
Prepaid land lease payments Jaft L E R 18 32,784 36,858
Other assets Hith&EE 19 690 706
Total non-current assets ERBEES 213,688 199,366
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 20 19,037 18,999
Biological assets EYEE 21 59,319 53,102
Trade receivables B 5 IE 22 196,645 124,480
Deposits, prepayments and Ze  BRFRER
other receivables H b fE YL ZRIE 23 121,865 112,816
Due from a related party el —% ?ﬁ@ﬁm 6,800 -
Due from non-controlling interests B U e Hﬂémmlﬁ 1,962 -
Bank and cash balances RITMIB S8R 24 1,174,002 1,014,346
Total current assets mEBEEMARE 1,579,630 1,323,743
TOTAL ASSETS BEERRE 1,793,318 1,528,109
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmFafs
Equity attributable to owners BN AR RES AR
of the Company
Share capital & < 25 31,919 30,586
Other reserves Hith 27 1,639,434 1,422,710
1,671,353 1,453,296
Non-controlling interests FEEAR M 2 5,311 -
Total equity TERABEE 1,676,664 1,453,296
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities ERBARE
Operating lease rentals WK EHER S
received in advance 1,091 -
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables %’%Fﬁﬁm 28 79,993 41,278
Accruals and other payables FEstER &E{@Féﬁm 29 24,566 17,483
Bank loan fEﬁE 30 10,000 10,000
Current tax liabilities BT IR B (E 1,004 1,062
Total current liabilities 115,563 69,813
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EnkaERsE 1,793,318 1,523,109

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2017 and are signed onits ~EE&R2017FE3 A28 B EL H N EEK K
behalf by: H5E

Zheng Songhui
R NE

Zheng Ruyan
B 40 3%




ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

VAN Iy =
MERREER For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31BILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRNALEEEA

Statutory Share  Shares Non-
Share Other Share  Capital  surplus option tobe  Retained controlling Total
capital  reserve  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve issued  earnings Total interests equity

tEBR  BRE AIEG FER
kA St RORE ARG i R ZBH REEA 5t Br EafE
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'0C0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2015 R 20158141 375 (1,000 129479 - 33,349 - - 5%573 758,776 - 758,776

Total comprehensive income Eh2ERELE

for the year - - - - - - - ATIR A1 - ATIR
Issue of new shares pursuant REXHEELTHRE

o global offering (nofe 25(d) (B5E25(a) 7640 - 456385 - - - - - 0% N
Cost of ssuing new shares REZREER

pursuant to global offering ARMRE - - (19,03) - - - - - (19,03) - (19,03)
Capitalisation Issue of shares ERLEARE (Woat)

(note 250) 0571 - @) - - - - - - - -
Equity-setfled share-based payments  MEREERM ARH 2 (7 - - - - - 31801 - - 31801 - 31801
Transfer to statutory suplus resene. BRI TR = - - - 776 = - (776) - - -
Dissolution of a subsidiary FH-FHELR - - - - 250 = = 2500 = = =
Chenges i equiy for the year ENESLD 0211 - uTTe - (7 38 - 219456 69450 I
At 31 December 2015 R2015F12A31R 30,586 (1,000 544,255 - 31,625 31,801 - 816029 1453296 - 1453296
At 1 January 2016 R2016%F1 718 30,586 (1,000) 544,255 - 31,625 31,801 - 816,029 1,453,296 - 1,453,296
Total comprehensive income Eh2EhRLE

for the year - - - - - - - 22,002 222,09 (453) 221,639
Transfer £ - - (200,000) - - - - 200,000 - - -
Receipt for exercise of share options ~ {7{PEERIER izt - - - - - - 010 -0 - 300
Equity-settled share-based payments  MEREERABERE 213 - - - - - 33510 - - 33510 - 3510
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve.~ EEZEERAERE - - - - 30 - - B0y - - -
Issue of shares under share REBRETHEARA

option schemes 1,333 - 15811 - - (28,699 - - 485N - 485N
Dividends paid (note 15) BfRE (Wi15) - - - - - - - (122,506)  (122,506) - (122,506)
Capitalinjection to a subsiciaryby ~ FEERERR-FHBATTE

non-controlling interests - - - 2,440 - - - - 2,440 5,764 8,204
Changes in equity for the year 1,333 - (124129 2,440 3,014 4811 34,010 296572 218,057 5311 223,368
At 31 December 2016 R2016E12A318 31,919 (1,000 420,132 2,440 34,639 36,612 34,010 1,112,601 1,671,353 5311 1,676,664
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2016 F3f / FEGBEEBBR A A

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

III-J_\ IE%/JHJE'IEE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KRETHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 5 Al g ) 225,438 220,437
Adjustments for: K
Changes in fair value of biological EMBEEARBEBRHERAE
assets less cost to sell 207,419 246,716
Finance costs B 75 A AN 808 615
Interest income FEMA (9,357) (7,255)
Depreciation E 11,053 9,639
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEAT 1t 72 & 500 5
payments 761 761
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, BEVE  BEIKER
plant and equipment and prepaid land T L HERZ
lease payments (Wezs) /518 (1,399) 88
Equity-settled share-based payments AR A E AR D B AR 2 5K 33,510 31,801
Operating profit before working EEBSEERIMNLEEF
capital changes 468,233 502,747
Decrease in other assets Hith & B 16 17
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEEEM), SR (38) 4,760
Increase in biological assets B EIE AN (213,636) (206,111)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE WIS hn (72,165) (65,626)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, %Be - EAREREMERRE
prepayments and other receivables () /R (9,049) 5,323
Increase in trade payables B 5 e ERIE LN 38,715 24,798
Increase/(decrease) in accruals .;I'Eﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁgﬁm
and other payables 40 CRi > 7,083 (2,361)
Due from non-controlling interests FEHSU‘H Hﬂ%ﬁ:’n}\lﬁ (1,962) -
Cash received from operating SHEReMKRS
lease rental 1,091 -
Cash generated from operations KEEBMERE 218,288 263,547
Income taxes paid BRFEH (3,847) (1,865)
Interest paid BFIE (808) (615)
Net cash generated from operating BB TS IR SR 58
activities 213,633 261,067
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETH2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant BEME - BERE
and equipment (32,553) (80,704)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME  WEREER
plant and equipment and prepaid land TEAS 4 40 8 &R A5 5RIE
lease payments 7,800 10,671
Earnest money paid for acquisition B T REZHES
of land use rights - (7,449)
Due from a related party U — & B 5 OB (6,800) -
Interest received [EALEIES 9,357 7,255
Net cash used in investing activities BB EHATAE S5 (22,196) (20,227)
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ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTMEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARBF T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METEF2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank loans raised IS ERITE R 10,000 10,000
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (10,000) (18,000)
Issue of share capital BITIRA 48,511 444,987
Receipt for exercise of share options FT{E B R AE B WLk 34,010 =
Capital injection to a subsidiary by JEIEHE RS A — KB A REE
non-controlling interests 8,204 -
Dividends paid to owners S FARRAREEAZRE
of the Company (122,506) -
Net cash (used in)/generated mEEE (A,
from financing activities Fri§38 & %% (31,781) 436,987
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BERBRESESEYIEINFEE
EQUIVALENTS 159,656 677,827
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R1B1EMNEBEERBEESEEY
AT 1 JANUARY 1,014,346 336,519
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS M12A31EMNEERIBESEEY
AT 31 DECEMBER 1,174,002 1,014,346
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND BeRESEEUIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE ek 1,174,002 1,014,346




2016 F3f / FEGBEEBBR A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016

GENERAL INFORMATION

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is 8th Floor, Building No. 10, Guanyinshan
Business Center, Siming District, Xiamen, People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Song Rising Co., Ltd.,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is the immediate
parent, and Mr. Zheng Songhui who is a director of the Company, is the
ultimate controlling party of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”). IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”); International Accounting Standards (“IAS”); and
Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

HZE2016F12A31BILFE

FESEEEEGRAR(IARAT]) HRHAE
ERSFAMKILZBRAR o ANAEH M
# = B i A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands o H & Z & 2 4 Bh 7 j A 2
ARKEMB([HE]DEMEHAESRS LES
FO105RIEN\E « KRR ZRHREBE S
RGFBRAR([ERA]) 2 ER LM -

ARBRREZERRA - BB AR 2 EE
FIEEN R B MTE IR M 536

KRABEERA ' Song Rising Co., Ltd.(—
FREBEZESHMEIHAR)BEAAF
HESRAR  MAQREEDNBELEELERAK
REIRBIERT -

R

KRR MBEREDIZBRHBEE S EAZE
(RS ENZES ) BEHEHNEER
B B B B A R ZE R ([ EIBR B AS SR 5 22 1 )
fREL o BURR BT 75 R 5 22 Bl B R A0 B PR B 7S 3R
SAER([EBRHERELER ) - BES%E
A (TEIB TR ) RRE - RgA VKR
RNFEHRMES EMAA (T EHmRA])
ZHEAEERTE  UWEREBLQRIEH (5622
B)ZHETEEN -

BEREFENEE SO RME T REE
AT BIRR B 75 3RS RN AR B E AT & 51
B ERERH AR - FRERZFHE
AREE A BRI R] KB RT RT3 20 E Al
MAEEHHE S BHRED  ERBRR
REAUBIHRERA - BREERFIFNHES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B RAR MR

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised IFRSs

IASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRSs that are first
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
Of these, the following new or revised IFRSs are relevant to the
Group:

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change,
existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify various
presentation issues relating to:

e Assessment of materiality versus minimum disclosure
requirements of a standard.

e Disaggregation of specific line items in the statement(s)
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the
statement of financial position. There is also new guidance on
the use of subtotals.

e  Confirmation that the notes do not need to be presented in a
particular order.

e Presentation of other comprehensive income items arising
from equity-accounted associates and joint ventures.

None of these developments have had a material effect on how
the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior
periods have been prepared or presented.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

3. BRANETRT RARIER] 2 BURR B 35 3R 5 X B

(a)

FE R T ET B A48 5T B PR B 75 3R 5 2 B

Bt E£EZ 8B EMEZIER2016
F1A1R AR FEHMEXE
M2 FE] MAME T R B 5 3R 5 %)) ©
ZEERF - AT BB TR
RS AR AE E AR ¢

//5Z

\\1

175 # %

B Rt R E1SR(ERTA) BB R TR
REHERIFERNAE - fIEEEET
RNIBES - ZEEFTEFZERTIIE
HEBNZIME :

o HWERMUMFMHEIXEENRKER
ERBEERNERE -

o RBE:mRNMEMEBEKZRERME
MRARADHEFEIRRB » H/NETH)
ERIREHES

o MRBEZBTEIER 2P -

o REEZEIZENBEATIREE
TENEMEEmKEIEEHZ -

EETMESAEEERZCRTHMA

RERABAROGERKEINTAFE
N X



2016 F3f / FEGBEEBBR A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 3.
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

PRANETRT B ARMERT 2 Bl A B 3R 5 2E R (48)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(b) AEMRE [ R A R AYHTRT B AR BT BB
B R E 2R A

AEEBVEREEAEEMGEEEAR
201641 A1 B A 2 B BEE £ B2
FIREERT R BIPR B A 3R 5 2R o S
FE] R AS(E 5T BIBR B 75 3R 45 2E Al sl B AR

The Group has not early applied new and revised IFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2016. These new and revised IFRSs include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure initiative

Bt ERIETRRSRER(EFIA) « WEFHE

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of deferred tax assets

for unrealised losses
BIFR S ERIFE 129 SR (85T A) : ERKREHREIE
RERIBA E

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
BIFR B s ERIFER e T A

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

BIBREA 3R EXERIFE 155 R BB P A LA

SEER - BEATEE-

Effective for accounting periods

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Classification and measurement

of share-based payments
B BR B s o 5 ZE R B 25k AR 9 R ERE 2 (SR (18R AX) -
IRHDRER 2R R I DERE

Amendment to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

BRI ISR EERFE4R (BFIA)  ERBERM G REER
FBARRBE D —HERABERPTEREENFESRSMTH

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or

contribution of assets between an investor and its associates or joint venture

BRI EERIE 105/ A I SR R B R & 5t A
F 28R E N 7]
BEPEZHIHEIRALE

IFRS 16 Leases
BUFR B1 7% 5 AR B 1655 HE

BELEZREERIAR)  REEBHBE DR

beginning on or after

FAAT B
k2 &R
SRFHIRAE

1 January 2017
201741 818

1 January 2017
201741 A1H
1 January 2018
201841 A1H

1 January 2018
201851 H1H

1 January 2018

20181 A1H

1 January 2018

201841 H1H

To be determined

5

1 January 2019
201941 A1H
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R B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE2016F 128318 LFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 3. BRI RIS 2 BRI iSRS 2R (&)

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (b) B AEME [ R4 XA FTET R LASET B PR
(Continued) B IR 2 Al ()

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments and new standards is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far the Group has identified
some aspects of the new standards which may have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements. Further details of
the expected impacts are discussed below. As the Group has not
completed its assessment, further impacts may be identified in due

course.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition

and Measurement.

The standard introduces a new approach to the classification of
financial assets which is based on cash flow characteristics and
the business model in which the asset is held. A debt instrument
that is held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows and that has contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding is measured at amortised cost. A debt instrument
that is held within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both collecting the contractual cash flows and selling the
instruments and that has contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding is
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. All
other debt instruments are measured at fair value through profit

ARE B IEAERT B UL FER] R a] AR
MRERBRBHELE T E - AEE
B B C #Faa 5] 22 R AR A] g ET AR & A 75
BREEABAYEBZETHHE - WA
HREZEZHBER TR - ARA
KB ARTH RSN ARE
R E R 2 -

MR &

pallle

ZOERID B B EHER B0 BT
A MRRE -

\

=13

ZEAGEREESFSIAFHE - &
RREBEFBRFEEENEBKER
HEIT - UKBMENRERERE D
CEBEBRABEZEBIA  k#EAR
HEEXNAEREHREERSHEZ
afBRene 2 ERTA  HIREHEX
K2 - RENRRKKERAE DR SR
ERHETAZEBEAPREZES
TH URBEBEELSZMNARSRHR
EBEASZMEZENREREZEL
TA #BHUAnERBEMEEKER
2 - IBEMEBIE-—RERAAES
BEHAE  RATA-—REARLESR

or loss. Equity instruments are generally measured at fair value BIEEE c A BEEARERTEA

through profit or loss. However, an entity may make an irrevocable
election on an instrument-by-instrument basis to measure equity
instruments that are not held for trading at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

The requirements for the classification and measurement of

EEEE AT HE A& 2 - B IERHE
BEEZRATENAAR EBBEMEE
Llyﬁn.u+$ °

ﬁ%ﬁ“*ﬁﬁﬁriﬁﬁﬂﬁffoIjiﬁﬁﬁ

financial liabilities are carried forward largely unchanged from IAS BER R @t %R FE395% 0 WESE KE
39 except that when the fair value option is applied changes in fair g WHEERALBENE  BEEHE

value attributable to changes in own credit risk are recognised in
other comprehensive income unless this creates an accounting

mismatch.

ERBE2FHAEIHZARERZSINE
EERETER  RIELREELS
sHERAC ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 3. BRI RIS 2 BRI RS 2R (&)
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(b) AEMRE [ R A R AYHTRT B AR BT BB

(Continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

IFRS 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment model to
replace the incurred-loss impairment model in IAS 39. It is no
longer necessary for a credit event or impairment trigger to
have occurred before impairment losses are recognised. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, an entity will generally recognise
12-month expected credit losses. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an entity will
recognise lifetime expected credit losses. The standard includes a
simplified approach for trade receivables to always recognise the
lifetime expected credit losses.

The de-recognition requirements in IAS 39 are carried forward
largely unchanged.

IFRS 9 substantially overhauls the hedge accounting requirements
in IAS 39 to align hedge accounting more closely with risk
management and establish a more principle based approach.

The new expected credit loss impairment model in IFRS 9 may
result in the earlier recognition of impairment losses on the
Group’s trade receivables and other financial assets. The Group is
unable to quantify the impact until a more detailed assessment is
completed.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue standards and
interpretations.

The core principle of the standard is that an entity recognises
revenue to depict the transfer of goods and services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to become entitled in exchange for those goods and
services.

BTSSR S HE R (A7)

AR EOR ST A (&)

17K 7 =7

B B 15 3R & E R 9% 5| AFTIRHIE 18
BERR - RRBER S ERFE395% 2
EREEBRRERR - BABFELERE
SEEMREDERRERSE - siikE
HERAFERURAEFARLMEER
mZeREEMS @ B KGHER12
BEAZRBEEERE - MRTHKRHERER
EERRBRE LT BERESHALA
FRAZEHEEER - ZEURES
FEURIBM A —BRCERIETE - 58
BEATHEEREAFEFRAZAHRE

B SRR EIORAL IR B
KEFHTE -

BRI %S ERIE ISR AR E KRS
FTEERIE IR A 2 $ M & FT B3R - LA
g AENARBERE  URIE
REERANEENGE X -

BB HREERESR 2 M AHEE
EEBEEA TR SRR AR AEE
B 5 EWHR R H M B A E 2 R (E
1B AEERTRERFHMAFHES
AECERTE -

75

R BERFE 1655 B &S A K

BRI 75 #R 5 LR FE 1M PABRE
WAER R 2R

ZEAZZODRERERAHARES
BEam M RIEMERNKA - SRJE
RRBZERBHARBZEE R R
A EYEHIAE -
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

An entity recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle
by applying a 5-step model:

Identify the contract with a customer

Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Determine the transaction price

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract

5. Recognise revenue when or as the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

SN =

The standard also includes comprehensive disclosure
requirements relating to revenue.

The Group is unable to estimate the impact of the new standard on
the consolidated financial statements until a more detailed analysis
is completed.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The
new standard introduces a single accounting model for lessees.
For lessees the distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed and lessees will recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for all leases (with optional exemptions for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets). IFRS 16 carries forward
the accounting requirements for lessors in IAS 17 substantially
unchanged. Lessors will therefore continue to classify leases as
operating or financing leases.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s factory and office premises leases are
currently classified as operating leases and the lease payments
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under IFRS
16 the Group may need to recognise and measure a liability at the
present value of the future minimum lease payments and recognise
a corresponding right-of-use asset for these leases. The interest
expense on the lease liability and depreciation on the right-of-use
asset will be recognised in profit or loss. The Group’s assets and
liabilities will increase and the timing of expense recognition will
also be impacted as a result.

As disclosed in note 34, the Group’s future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases for its factory
and office premises amounted to RMB54,548,000 as at 31
December 2016. The Group will need to perform a more detailed
assessment in order to determine the new assets and liabilities
arising from these operating leases commitments after taking into
account the transition reliefs available in IFRS 16 and the effects of
discounting.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. biological assets that are measured at
fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

ERANETRT B ARMERT 2 Bl A IS 3R 5 22 R (48)
(b) T REMR{E 1 AR EREYHR] R AMERT BB
BTSSR S HE R (A7)

M= S L5 4 A B
Z2ERIZE 167

AEEETTIHBEBAEYEEERS
BARKERE  BENRCGIRERNRE
HEAZ ZBER) R HEMAEERARE
RRFAX - RIEBERMBEHREERE16
5 REE TR K SEEENS R
RERANFEBAE TR FHER
RIEENEAEEE - HERBEHNHNE
AXAREREEENTERNEREN
R - AEBEERBE /LN - 5
RAXHBETEELZEZE -

MM E34FTR + AEBER2016%F 12 A
31 B R & TR & i A2 2 7 Al B A
EHEZARBRREENRBARE
54,548,0007T ° AL E K FH LS BB
S REEAFE1EANAABRELE
R REFEZETE AN -
UE TN EREEERIERELXNTE
EERAE -

EXRSEBE

BT X & BRSAFAN (P ENEET
BARERE)  NERMBRRIVIRELK
RERREL -

BT A BIR M RS BRI P ISR AR
RETHREE A THREEEENER
AEE SRR ABIZT (F L HE - BR
AETH AR S M RRBEARNERENHES
HIKE -




98

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B RAR MR

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the
net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

EDN

For the year ended 31 December 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity s financial
Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified to consolidated
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

(i)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below), are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 5 years
Office equipments and others 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and equipment pending installation, and is stated at cost
less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant
assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

4.

EX

(c)

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

BETBER(#)

%~ BERRIE

ME - BEEREEBEFIERNEER
RHEMIRBERIETHRREZBF(T
N 2 R ERRIN) - BRSBTS
MRILERA - PARARE R REHITE R E
B RFHREER(MA) 27 -

HZMRAER HE52IA B A B R R E
MEERTRERMARNEE - MazR B RRA
BERISERHER  BRIABEZREE
KERBBILEEWER) - FREEAM
HERRENEELEPENERARER -

W% BERREZFENREEET
fEFAE IR R A MBS AR AR S EE
B AR S - B B 4 A
mF :

EgF 204

R B K % 104F
HERE 5%

RE 2FE54

N YS B ) 56

RIrEE  IERFHRFNETEARS
s B BETTIRE RIEL & (E
R e

ERTRREERZETRAEFTRENBE
K& AR EBBRAR - TE
NEBEERERREFRGFHE -

REWH BERRBOEEELER
BREFHREGHEEREEMREFEDN
EZR - WINMERTER -

101




102

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B RAR MR

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Leases

(e)

(f)

(i)  Operating leases — The Group as lessee

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost and
subsequently amortised on the straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease.

(i) Operating leases — The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Research and development expenditures

Expenditures on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g9) Mushrooms

(h)

The Group is involved in the agricultural activities of the
transformation of biological assets into agricultural produce. The
mushrooms are measured at fair value less costs to sell at initial
recognition and at the end of each reporting period. The fair value
of the mushrooms under growing period and harvest period are
determined based on costs incurred to grow the mushroom and
the market approach respectively. Gain or loss on initial recognition
and from subsequent changes in fair value less costs to sell is
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

The mushrooms are initially measured at their fair value less costs
to sell at the time of harvest. The fair value of the mushrooms is
determined based on market prices in the local area. Gain on initial
recognition at fair value less costs to sell is included in profit or loss
for the period in which it arises.

The fair value less costs to sell at the time of harvest of the
mushrooms becomes their cost for the measurement of
inventories. Such inventories are subsequently stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in
profit or loss.

4.

EX

(9)

(h)

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

BETBER(#)
el

AEBEREBENEEBLARERD
BEEE - BRRI LR ARNE
¥ B A R HR R A BRI B AR
£ - BRAERMEREMOERN AR
B0 IR EEE R EERN KA KT
BAMERE - IFRIBEENBEBEAR
HEZAABEEEHRHERRNTINEL
HRR B R -

TEAR R 4R I 7o R AR K B B 8 6 AR
R ERNARENREEZTHE
EETE o AR ERIEE AT 7] R
Hl e TY N E A BREET AR R A

ARBERERRKENHEERETRFE
ZHAME - BT ERERIZKAEER
BHFEME R ZEEEAR - JER
FEREREBEST MG EERE
EMBE B

BRRKIUIEBIAERMTE

TREEMERAERAKRBERASTA
BRERXZFAT T ER &S BB RAR

7
e ©

HWEEERBREREZSNENE
o AREEEREEMAR BRI,
[N QET RN SE L 3 IS
BEEMAEZBAED R K& ERE
PREEE 2 ZEGIH%E - BIRIFFER SR
BE RUBRTHMEER - BERE
B8 E YR EERE R E A2 AR
R B BEZ AFNMERZ ZHENE
f?/iﬁgﬁfm °

103




104

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN
:éﬁ/T\I:I

4.

B RS Ak M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

(M)

)

(Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the financial assets within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initially measured at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
These assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method (except for short-term receivables where interest
is immaterial) minus any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility.
Typically trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash are
classified in this category.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for impairment.

4.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

U

(m)

(n)

(0)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(P)

(q)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenues from the sales of goods are recognised on the transfer
of significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and the title
has passed to the customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Employee benefits
()  Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination benefits.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors and employees. Equity-settled share-based payments to
directors and employees are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

4.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised
in profit or loss over the period to match them with the costs they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Taxation (Continued)

(v)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows
of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are computed
using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(w)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether
its financial assets (other than those at fair value through profit or
loss) are impaired, based on objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition, the
estimated future cash flows of the (group of) financial asset(s) have
been affected.

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired
individually, the Group assesses them collectively for impairment,
based on the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the delayed payments in the portfolio, observable
changes in economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly
reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the amount of
the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed (either directly or by adjusting the allowance
account for trade receivables) through profit or loss. However, the
reversal must not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what
the amortised cost of the financial asset would have been had
the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is
reversed.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period are
adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

5. KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2016 was RMB180,214,000 (2015: RMB161,802,000).

4.
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5. KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Fair values of biological assets

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess
the fair values of the biological assets. In determining the fair
values, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The directors have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the method of valuation and input used are
reflective of the current market conditions.

The carrying amount of biological assets as at 31 December 2016
was RMB59,319,000 (2015: RMB53,102,000).

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts,
in particular of a loss event, requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the actual result is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade
and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in
which such estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2016, impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts amounted to RMB Nil (2015: RMB Nil).

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the period in which
such estimate has been changed. No allowance for slow-moving
inventories was made for the year ended 31 December 2016
(2015: RMB Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2016
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities,
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), United States dollars (“US$”) and
RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2016, if the Hong Kong dollar had weakened
1 per cent against RMB with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately RMB40,000 (2015: RMB221,000) lower, arising
mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss on bank and cash
balances denominated in Hong Kong dollar. If the Hong Kong
dollar had strengthened 1 per cent against RMB with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year
would have been approximately RMB40,000 (2015: RMB221,000)
higher, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on
bank and cash balances denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

At 31 December 2016, if the US$ had weakened 1 per cent against
RMB with all other variables held constant, consolidated profit
after tax for the year would have been approximately RMB681,000
(2015: RMB372,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the
net foreign exchange loss on bank and cash balances, trade
receivables and trade payables denominated in US$. If the US$
had strengthened 1 per cent against RMB with all other variables
held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year would have
been approximately RMB681,000 (2015: RMB372,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of the net foreign exchange gain on
bank and cash balances, trade receivables and trade payables
denominated in US$.

6.
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HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HEEKRER(E)
(b) Credit risk (b) FEERK
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. AEBVEEZSTHEERR -
It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers AEBEEBRNEBRESIO#HEEE
with an appropriate credit history. EERBZEPED -
The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because the RERBITEHBNEERRER - BRRE
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by EH T RERBREETREEBLE TS
international credit-rating agencies. EEEFRMIRT -
(c) Liquidity risk (c) mBEESRR
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected AREENBE ATHERRBEREHN
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves RBESTFE  UBREERTUER
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer RHEERERDES T ENRSHE o
term.
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash RASESEEERETORNTERS
flows of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: MEMEER Z2TEHFIET ¢
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
DSE 122F 2Z55F EiR5E At

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TRT ARETR ARETRT ARET:

At 31 December 2016 M2016F12A31H
Trade payables T3S 79,993 - - - 79,993
Accruals and EiBAR
other payables H B 7008 24,566 - - - 24,566
Bank loan RITER 10,087 - - - 10,087
114,646 - - - 114,646
At 31 December 2015 M2015%12 8318
Trade payables E S ENZIE 41,278 = = - 41,278
Accruals and B ERR
other payables Hfth T 5008 17,483 - - - 17,483
Bank loan RITER 10,136 - = = 10,136
68,897 - - - 68,897
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HERERER(E)

(d) Interest rate risk (d) FIZREK

(e)

(f)

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits. These deposits bear interests at variable rates varied
with the then prevailing market condition.

The Group’s bank borrowing and certain of the Group’s bank
deposits bear interest at fixed rate and therefore is subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2016, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 10 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would have increased/(decreased) the Group’s
profit after tax for the year as follows:

AEBOFRER T ZRERITFR °
ZEFSHTNELE - BEEROTIRNME

AEBEHRITERRARE B E TRT
FRIDES - YEER XA BN XE

B o

MR20165F12A31H » WA EM A EH
REFTE - A WEEBANELEH T
FRAOMEEEE - ANEENFAEFEBG
#mnCRA)mT

2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETIT

Increase/(decrease) in interest rates =, GRd)
10 basis points 101EEE, 910 764
(10) basis points (10)fE =25 (910) (764)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact on the Group’s
profit for the year and retained profits that would have arisen
assuming that there is an annualised impact on interest income
and expense by a change in interest rates. The analysis has
been performed on the same basis thorough for the years ended
31 December 2016 and 2015.

FiSERESTHBREFNEREHSH
FEWANASTEEFLTE  Flxe
B 0] AL 35 AN 52 B (N i A1) R AR B 0 T
ERFE o ZOMREZE2016%F 2015
F12A31 B L FEIRARIELEELT -

Categories of financial instruments () £RTEIER
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARET T
Financial assets: EREE
Loans and receivables (including cash BERRERGA(BERS
and cash equivalents) FREEEY) 1,379,949 1,145,684
Financial liabilities: TRBE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RHHEK AV RN A E 114,559 68,761

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair value.

(®)

DRE

AEETMEENERBEREAME
MARRBRNEEEEEEBNRAE
R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

7. REVENUE 7. WA

The Group’s revenue which represents sales of goods to customers are AREBHEEERTEPHWALT :

as follows:
2016 2015
2016%F 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
King trumpet mushroom BEpEE 362,106 296,873
Button mushroom, straw mushroom B - BiEREE
and shiitake mushroom 191,564 243,199
Canned food R M 76,146 99,617
Other processed food products B= )| 52,352 45,538
Trading through domestic network Bl AREHE 150,964 3,179
International trading of food BERREMES 253,084 73,712
1,086,216 762,118
8. OTHER INCOME H A A

2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
Exchange gain P& 5 W 2 5,429 11,351
Government subsidies and awards (note) R 48 Bh K2 22 8 (B =) 1,762 4,026
Input value-added tax deduction O ER IR - 1,375
Bank interest income ERITFEMA 9,357 7,255
Rental income WA 448 47

Gain on disposal of property, plant and BEVE  BEREHER
equipment and prepaid land lease payments  TEf} + 38 & 7k Uk 25 1,399 -
Scrap sales HEREE 730 323
Others Hith 36 8
19,161 24,385

BRE - B4R B R B B AR L B M B A R AR S
R B R

Note: Government subsidies and awards mainly related to the subsidy received from the local
government authority to support the local business development.
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group has six reportable segments as follows:

King trumpet mushroom

Planting of king trumpet mushroom

Button mushroom, straw - Planting of button mushroom, straw
mushroom and shiitake mushroom and
mushroom shiitake mushroom
Canned food — Manufacturing and trading of canned
food
Other processed food — Manufacturing and trading of other
products processed food products such

as brined mushroom, preserved
vegetables and dried mushroom
Trading through domestic - Trading of edibles fungi and fresh fruit

network and vegetables in PRC
International trading of — Trading of edibles fungi, fresh fruit and
food vegetables, canned food, frozen food,

edible fungi healthcare products and
etc other than in PRC

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer
different products and services. They are managed separately because
each business requires different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
Segment profits or losses do not include unallocated business tax
and auxiliary charges, selling expenses, administrative expenses,
other income, finance costs and income tax expense. Segment assets
include trade receivables, inventories and biological assets.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales
or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market prices.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

REBRERT2HD AT -

HELE - EEAwEE

B Bk - BEER  BEERERE

B

EER - SEREERERM

EMNTIRG - 4AEREBHMNIE
o v BIanEEKES - EEe
K RE

REHEE - RPEEERARNART
SRR R
BRRmES - %¢ﬁ%%m&§§§%
%ﬁﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁﬁ&
RARERERSE

REEH T 2D F T AR FE @ &R

BRBMEEBERN - AR S EBERTR
iy Ko 5 1 B R - B 2D ET D 5
I -

EE D AR BRI BUR BAR & M TS SRR I RE4 PR
MEARR - HEHEE T REREHENE XD
K ffnn - sHERX - THAX - HlA
MBERARFAERAX - D HEEREES
EYRIE  FEREMEE -

REE KD A HE RBBRERE =77
TTIHE BB ERIE - BIUAR AT EETRRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEPER(E
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and B EHoIiERE  EEREENER :
liabilities:
Button
mushroom,
straw Other Trading
King  mushroom processed through  International
trumpet  and shiitake Canned food domestic trading of
mushroom  mushroom food products network food Total
BHER At AnEE B
& k&R SERM NIBR #HE RS &5
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTR  AREBTR  ARETR  ARETR  AR¥TR
Year ended 31 December 2016 E 22016512831 BLLFE
Revenue from external customers — RESMBEPAIRA 362,106 191,564 76,146 52,352 150,964 253,084 1,086,216
Intersegment revenue AHERA 4,606 970 - 22,107 - - 27,683
Segment profit A 129,065 90,997 16,078 9,868 15,660 14,406 276,074
Other material items of income EfERMAR
and expense: RHER
Income tax expense ikcrilba - 56 2,362 9 30 1,342 3,799
As at 31 December 2016 12016%12A31A
Segment assets PHEE 15,421 48,388 10,926 61,877 22,943 70,495 230,050
Button
mushroom,
straw Other Trading
King mushroom processed through  International
trumpet  and shiitake Canned food domestic trading of
mushroom mushroom food products network food Total
B ER Ef BARE IS
Y RER EERMD NIRE HE BnES @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2015 E 22015512831 BLLEE
Revenue from external customers — RBSNIEEHIKA 296,873 243,199 99,617 45,538 3,179 73,712 762,118
Intersegment revenue AEEBA 18,957 19,342 = = = = 38,299
Segment profit il 128,866 134,263 20,765 5,291 332 3,988 293,505
Other material items of income EEARARZILER :
and expense:
Income tax expense FRR% - - 2,125 - - 580 2,705
As at 31 December 2015 #2015%12A31A
Segment assets PHEE 12,344 40915 15,637 - - 70,510 139,406
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) DERER (&)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss and 2R, WE BEREERLER :
assets:
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETIT
Revenue ON
Total revenue of reportable segments Al 235 ZBRUR A B EE 1,113,899 800,417
Elimination of intersegment revenue HEH D FBREUA (27,683) (38,299)
Consolidated revenue HRE WA 1,086,216 762,118
Profit or loss B#=
Total profit or loss of reportable segments Al 23D EPR BB R 276,074 293,505
Elimination of intersegment profits D E R T (12,205) (17,038)
Change in profit or loss from change in EMEERARBEEEAESE
fair value of biological assets EofERy i) (15,315) (15,355)
Listing expenses kX - (7,193)
Depreciation wE (11,053) (9,639)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments Bt 4 #h 78 & Fui# 44 (761) (761)
Unallocated amounts AP B EIE (15,101) (25,787)
Consolidated profit for the year FRERE = 221,639 217,732
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AE2MHPHNEELT 230,050 139,406
Unallocated amounts RO BEHKIE
—Property, plant and equipment — ¥ - WERE 180,214 161,802
—Prepaid land lease payments —JEft LT E R 32,784 36,858
—Bank and cash balances —RITRIR R 1,174,002 1,014,346
—Others —E A 176,268 170,697
Consolidated total assets IRABERRE 1,793,318 1,523,109
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DIER(E
2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREF T
Geographical information: EER
Revenue A
PRC ==
— Eastern China —IEH 439,516 426,559
— Southern China — ¥ 79,522 52,648
— Northern China — 3 38,576 19,775
— Central China — i 166,069 94,806
— North Eastern China —hEEdL 47,054 24,617
— South Western China — PR 29,353 70,000
— North Western China — L 32,774 =
New Zealand AT 21,118 =
Malaysia B3RP as 132,435 39,385
Netherland eS| 8,808 460
Philippines SEAEE 32,949 19,692
Indonesia e 2,139 3,236
Singapore N 15,875 2,076
United Kingdom B 5,993 2,042
Nigeria JE B g 10,045 1,527
United States of America e 9,375 363
Others Hih 14,615 4,932
Consolidated total IRA1EEE 1,086,216 762,118

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is prepared based
on the shipment destination so that the economic environments, in
which the goods are shipped, can be evaluated.

273 [R E R - WA TIRIBER 093t
7o AR AEE M B M B R

wfy B 3t

o

120




2016 F3f / FEGBEEBBR A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. HEERI(E
Non-current assets FREEE
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Hong Kong e 550 =
PRC except Hong Kong R (BBBIN) 213,138 199,366
Consolidated total 4R A Ha%E 213,688 199,366
During the year, there was no individual customer with revenue from RERN - TEEGNEFHEBREMAER
each of them accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total external GNERUT A LB ERE)10%B A (20154 « &) -
revenue (2015: Nil).
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BfFERAS
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
Interest on bank borrowings HRITHERFE 495 615
Interest on other payables Hh FEAS IR S 313 -
808 615
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

11. FIEHEX

2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
Current tax — PRC BNEARETE —
Provision for the year FNEE 2,342 1,802
Underprovision for prior year DNAEFEBRET R 115 323
Current tax — Hong Kong BNERRETE — B8
Provision for the year FREE 1,359 580
Over provision for prior year AR F B R R (17) =
3,799 2,705

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at 16.5% based on the
assessable profit for the year. The amount provided for the year ended
31 December 2015 was calculated at 16.5% based on the assessable

profit for the year less allowable losses brought forward.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25% (2015:

25%).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect

thereof.

Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards except as described

below.

BB RS E TR A F 5 MR Fm F LA 16.5%
TR - 22015612 A31HILFEE 2
AR 88 Th 3R O R B RR Bl vk A sl AR A AT 40 AR
E518LA16.5% M T K5t HE -

PRSI E E25% (20155 © 25%) 8
FRREHE -

H{h 3 52 8 ER B0 a8 B O B8 TR S T AR IR AR £R
BEERrERRNBBEN - 2B REHIR
HBTHREFE -

BERECEMSRE(RERSRE]D R
EEBEEIED - 820081811
e PEFEARRER25% « T lER
57|\ o
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

According to the EIT Law, income derived from primary processing of
agricultural produce is exempt from the PRC Enterprise Income Tax.
The production and trading of mushroom of certain of the subsidiaries
are recognised as primary processing of agricultural produce under
the EIT Law and therefore are exempt from the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax commenced from 1 January 2008. The following subsidiaries
are recognised as primary processing of agricultural produce which
obtained the exemption from the PRC Enterprise Income Tax:

Year ended 31 December 2015 and 2016

mEEREECEM)BRAR]
(Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture (Zhangzhou) Company Limited)
(“Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture”)

EEGEEYEMERAR

(Liaoning Greenfresh Biological Technology Company Limited)
(“Greenfresh Biological Technology”)

(dissolved in 2015)

BN RBRERMBERRAA
(Zhangzhou Shengtai Agricultural Development Company Limited)
(“Shengtai Agricultural Development”)

EMNRARMAERRAF
(Zhangzhou Jingxiang Foods Company Limited)
(“Jingxiang Foods”)

S8 (FAE)EMRHERAT
(Greenfresh (Nanchang) Biological Technology Limited)
(“Greenfresh Nanchang”)

Year ended 31 December 2016

478 i ) E MR B R A )
(Greenfresh (Xinjiang) Biological Technology Limited)
(“Xinjiang Greenfresh”)

TILARE YRR B R A F)
(Hebei Greenfresh Biological Technology Limited)
(“Hebei Greenfresh”)

TR BRAON E MR B R AR
(Pingguan County Lvhe Biotechnology Co., Limited)
(“Lvhe”)

11.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

FriSHimM (&)

RIBCEMBRE  RERONIERE
ERRAGERBBNPBRSEMSR - &
FTHEBARMNEREERESXBERRA
TEMBHEZPEERMMIER - K
20081 A1 HBERE MM ED RS
e ATHBARERRERERVIMITE
1% ERRHMTREEAEH

HZE20155 K% 2016512831 HIEFE
GBEREECEMN)ARAR

(MzBEEEEx])

BEGEEYRMERA R
([BEEMHAM])
(BER20155E/RE)

BN EREERAEFR AR
(TEB=REmME])

BENSEARBERAF]
(I=3&ml)

FRE(ES)EMHZARAF
(M2Ema 1)

HZE2016512831 8 LFE
E (Fm) EMRIHEER AR

(THEEHE )

T AEE DA AT
(FTeem )

FRGGAON EM R G R AR
(T )
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of
profit before tax multiplied by the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is as
follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE2016F 128318 LFE

1. AR (&)

PIT A5 75% B Sz B R 50 A1 it M) R A h B R 2R PR AS
MEMBENERNT

2016 2015

20164 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBEF T ARBF T

Profit before tax 5 A8 A 225,438 220,437
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25%  1%225% B A P15 7% K5+ E R F 18 56,136 55,109
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BAERTBRANTEZE (871) (1,544)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible IR L AT 22 5,347 6,651
Tax effect of tax concession TIBEBRNTRETE (58,371) (57,518)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised AERHBEENRESZE 315 631

Tax effect of tax rate in different jurisdiction
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses

not previously recognised ik
Underprovision in prior year A FERETE
Underprovision of current year BHIFEEBETE
Income tax expense FSHAX

TREAEEREEZRNRBTE 645 (298)
B BARERTIEEED

- (75)

98 323

- (574)
3,799 2,705

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC
are required to withhold 10% PRC enterprise income tax when it
distributes dividends to its non-PRC resident enterprise shareholders.
According to the tax treaty between Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and PRC for avoidance of double taxation and prevention of
tax evasion, dividends declared from PRC subsidiaries to Hong Kong
holding companies are subject to 5% withholding income tax from
1 January 2008 and onwards. At the end of the reporting period,
the temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
is RMB54,488,000 (2015: RMB39,879,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a
position to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB1,124,283 (2015: RMB630,996) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
RMB1,124,283 (2015: RMB630,996) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of RMB1,124,283 that will expire in 2021 (2015: RMB630,996 that will
expire in 2020).

BIBRERBFIE - KRB MK AN B
AEAFEFEERSCERFREREE - A
RINRBI0% D EMBR - RIBB BT
IR [ B2 B 6 G0 8 S AR R B LE R R AY
REHTE  PEWNEBRARRAETSIERARE
K H AL B B 200841 A 18 RIABARIK S
5%HIFTEE o EHIR - BB A AMAD
IR Z A7 B I R R R TR I B ER T
ERY A ANRES4,488,0007T (20154 = A
R#39,879,0007T) ° M &k It 5 = B R T
AaE AR AEEEMIEH EREEN
BERE - MEETEREERATEISARA
R REEE -

RBEHR  AEENRGARBEBEAR
#1,124,2837T (20154 = A#630,9967T) Al
IR AR F] o B AR B T8RN AR 20 Fll 2K
TR R R AR EE,124,28378 (20154 :
AR#630,996 T ) ERIELERBEE - B&f
ARERTRIBEENARE1,124,283 T8
112021 4 E| 81 (20154 : A R # 630,996
JC * EHR20204F R HR) -
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AN B =
:éﬁlT\ = Ejﬁ'%#&'%% M“J FIE For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

separately above.

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FREF
The Group’ profit for the year is stated after charging the following: AEBFRFEMNB/RTHSHE :
2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments &1 4t 8 & 5 54 761 761
Depreciation e 11,053 9,639
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, BEWE - BB REEREMN L
plant and equipment and prepaid land AERz (W) BB
lease payments (1,399) 33
Operating lease charges KERERY
— Land and buildings — T RETF
— Minimum lease payments —RIEBEEMNK 19,481 14,292
— Contingent rent —AEE - 5
— Others —EAfh
— Minimum lease payments —RRBEEMNK 374 2,474
Research and development expenditure HERX 3,597 926
Auditor’s remuneration =B &
— Current —BNHA 1,320 850
— Under provision prior year —UEFERETR 290 =
Listing expenses ayilibg - 7,193
Cost of inventories sold BHEFERA 1,015,050 747,722
Fair value change of biological assets EYEENRERS
— realised — B & 190,488 232,325
— unrealised —REW 16,931 14,391
Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs, depreciation and operating EHEFEXRABTBE IXAR « HERKE
lease charges of approximately RMB26,068,000, RMB8,056,000 and HERX - 954/ ARK26,068,0007T
RMB19,058,000 respectively, (2015: RMB31,578,000, RMB7,130,000 A R #8,056,0007T & A R # 19,058,000 7T
and RMB17,987,000), which are included in the amounts disclosed (20154 : AR #31,578,0007C * AR ¥

7,130,0007T & A R#17,987,0007T) * HE
ATAEXDRIHERSEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 13. EEREFEMR

2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T

Employee benefits expense: EERMER :
— Salaries, bonus and allowances —¥& ~ TEALROERL 30,231 35,295
— Equity-settled share-based payments —LEREERDBEMR 2R 33,510 31,801
— Retirement benefit scheme contribution — RIREFIFT B 5R 5,835 5,997
69,576 73,093

Five highest paid individuals hARESHMAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included
3 (2015: 3) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented in note 14. The emoluments of the remaining 2 (2015: 2)

RER - AEBRAET=H A LTR2IEISR
(2015%F :3R)EE ' MZIEZ 2SS RHKT
F142MA DT R - H880% (20154 ¢

126

individuals are set out below: 2F)ANTZEE M RETR ¢
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETIT
Basic salaries and allowances EARF & KER 193 188
Discretionary bonus BIBTEAL - 8
Equity-settled share-based payments S EE R D BEMRZ MR 698 3,181
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKREFFTEIE 5K 15 11
906 3,388
The emoluments fell within the following band: HNAR BN T FR -
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0008 7T
(approximately RMB813,000) (¥ AR *¥813,0007T) 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,00178 7T £2,000,000/% 7T
(approximately RMB813,001 to (W AR®813,001 L=
RMB1,626,000) AR #1,626,0007T) 2 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7t 23,000,000 7T
(approximately RMB1,626,001 to (B AR¥1,626,001 TLE
RMB2,439,000) AR #2,439,0007T) 1 3

HK$3,000,001 to HK$5,000,000
(approximately RMB2,439,001 to
RMB4,065,000)

3,000,001 7c E5,000,0005% 7T
(B AR#2 439,001 TE
AR#4,065,0007T) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14, ESEFRES

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=8<
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BREEZMESWTATR ¢

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of inrespect
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking \ of director's
................ ARABATAAFATARKRODESRECOAUZNE ohersenies
Remunerations in connection
paid or with the
(Note (i)) receivable management
Estimated Employer's in respect of the affairs of
money  contribution  of accepting the Company
Discretionary value of  to a retirement office Housing ~ or its subsidiary
Fees Salaries bonus  other benefits ~ benefit scheme as director allowance  undertaking Total
ESiER
L]
RER ENELR
(H3E) EIfBK  ZfEREZ ERNE bR
Lt e | GOES ERELLS
he #& ML EREEE  REZER e i P 4 &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTR  ARMTR  AR¥TR  ARBTR  ARETR  AR¥TR  ARBTR  ARETR
Exeoutive directors s
- Zheng Songhui -BiE - 593 - 1,393 8 - - - 1,994
- Zheng Tianming 878 - 9 - 1,044 8 - - - 1,143
- Zheng Ruyan -8Bk - 494 - 1,044 7 - - - 1,545
Non-execuive director: FaiES:
- Zhang Lin - - - - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUkhfES:
- Mak Hing Keung, Thomas -BRY 90 - - - - - - - 90
- Lou Robert Hsiu-sung -B%% 90 - - - - - - - 90
- Cheng Hiu Yung -8BE 90 - - - - - - - 90
Total for 2016 165 28F 270 1,178 - 3,481 2 - - - 4,952
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14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued) 14. EEFEANRER(Z)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) ESMe(E)

Emoluments
paid or
. o . X receivable
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director, whether of in respect
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking e
................ AL RETARIAAANBAT EIRACHAAIME .. dlesis
Remunerations in connection
paid or with the
(Note (i) receivable management
Estimated Employer's in respect of the affairs of
money contribution of accepting the Company
Discretionary value of  toaretirement office Housing ~ or its subsidiary
Fees Salaries bonus  other benefits  benefit scheme as director allowance undertaking Total
ERjiER
NIES
HER LKERF
(M3 EEMRK  ZEARES EBNEMRE
Afeigflz RilitE Bff% RETLLS
#e i Mg GHREEE  fRHZER BYHE fEERH 2Hg a3t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB%OO
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR

Executive directors %
- Zheng Songhui -HiE - 29 - 2546 6 - - - 2844
- Zheng Tianming ~8X% - 9% 8 1,910 6 - - - 2,018
- Zheng Ruyan -BE - 275 - 1,910 8 - - - 2,193
Non-executive director: FaiTES:
- Zhang Lin i = = = = = = = = =
Independent non-execuive directors: Bukhigs:
- Mak Hing Keung, Thomas (appointed on 27 -4 (#2015%5 8278
May 2015) i £339) Y] - - - - - - - 8
- Lou Robert Hsiu-sung (appointed on 27 May %% (R201555A27R
2015) i £33 Y] - - - - - - - 8
- Cheng Hiu Yung (appointed on 27 May 2015) -BIE5 (32015657278
L 3i9) Y - - = = - - R P
Total for 2015 201552 &5 126 661 8 6,366 20 - - - 7,181
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any RER HMETFTETRABRESHE
emoluments during the year (2015: RMB Nil). EMENE (20154F : ARBEZETT) o
Note: BisE -
(i) Estimated money values of other benefits include share options. (i) HEHN 2 AR S EEaIEEARE -
(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or (b) EERRG ZHHEYNTMERER
contracts
Other than those disclosed in the consolidated financial BERGESMBREHEIN  RNEKRI
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements and FEARNREMER @ AEEEREER
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the SNFEAATESRES BEFEE
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company and AEEREEAESZEERS - T
the director’s connected party had a material interest, whether KAL) o

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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HZE2016F12A31HILFE

15. DIVIDENDS 15. RE
() Dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to () UTEEREEAEQIRBEEAZRE :
the year:
2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Interim dividend in respect of the financial BBV RERE 2P RS (RFEAER
year, approved and paid during the year, of &) &Gk LEIS.007 (L
HK8.00 cents per ordinary share (equivalent  (BERFREERARL6.885)
RMB6.88 cents per ordinary share) (2015: Nil) (20155 : &) 35,774 -
Final dividend proposed after the end of the — REHFRERIE 2 KEREGRTBR
reporting period of HK2.00 cents per ordinary 2.00# (18R GREBER
share (equivalent RMB1.77 cents per ordinary AR#1.77%) (20155 : R EBER
share) (2015: HK20.00 cents per ordinary 20.00 M (HERERE AR
share (equivalent RMB17.00 cents per AR%17.00%))
ordinary share)) 9,514 85,000
45,288 85,000
(ii) Dividends payables to owners of the Company attributable to (i) BETHREERLENSAQIATREEALZ
the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year: BRE (RERHERIRS) :
2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT
Final dividend in respect of the previous EHEBATHHEE 2 RHBRE
financial year, approved and paid during the (A R#E/E RIRN)
year, of HK20.00 cents per ordinary share BR% I A% 20.0078 1L
(equivalent RMB17.09 cents per ordinary (HEERSRT MR
share) (2015: Nil) AR¥17.099) (20165 : &) 86,732 -
The Board has proposed bonus issue of shares on the basis of one new EZQNERETARET  HERLRRQR
ordinary share of US$0.01 each for every one existing ordinary share BRFEE—RAFLTERESR —RTRE
held by the shareholders of the Company. H0.01E L2 F B -
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:éﬁ/T\ = E'?ﬁ‘%#&% Bﬁt FIE For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE2016F 128318 LFE

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BREF

130

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately RMB222,092,000 (2015:
RMB217,732,000) for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 510,391,367 in issue
during the year (2015: 442,808,219).

The calculation of diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of
the Company for the year, is based on the profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately RMB222,092,000 (2015:
RMB217,732,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 510,391,367 (2015: 442,808,219) in issue during the year,
plus the effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares arising from share
options issued by the Company during the year of 1,197,805 (2015:
1,177,304) shares, arrived at the weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share of
ordinary shares of 511,589,172 (2015: 443,985,523).

RRREAANBESREAEFNDREESE
2016F 12 A1 A L FEBREBR AR RIESE A
FERHA AR EE222 092,000 (20154 -
AR#217,732,0007T) * A RIZFABD ET
I 38 A% B 04 F 15 #0510,391,367 % (2015
£ 1 442,808,2190% )51 & -

AARBEEABEFEFRSREETRRT
BESBERAQAREEAERGZFHA
R % 222,092,000 7t (2015 F : AR ¥
217,732,0007C) * AREFARNBEBEITLE
Fi% 9 Hn 4 39 20510,391,367 A% (20154 :
442,808,219/ )5t & + M EARRIRFRNE
771,197,8050% (20154 : 1,177,3044% ) B& i%
BEARBENEZBEEBRIFE &
& T AR Y DN 1T A RT H 511,589,172
A% (20154F : 443,985,523 % ) & @ik 2 &Ik
HERA o
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W% BERERE
Office
Plant and Leasehold Motor  equipment Construction
Buildings machinery improvements vehicles  and others in progress Total
HINE
BF RBER%E HERE AE REfh RIR e
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARET:
Cost KA
At 1 January 2015 R2015F1 18 99,133 40,638 3,301 2,415 3,443 46,960 195,890
Additions NE = 4,434 129 167 290 25,684 30,704
Transfer ER 12,089 13,398 6 305 925 (26,723) -
Disposals RE (11,587) (5,570) = (265) (173) s (17,59)
At 31 December 2015 and R2015%12A31B K
1 January 2016 2016%141A 99,635 52,900 3,436 2,622 4,485 45,921 208,999
Additions NE 5,098 4,045 - 663 295 22,452 32,553
Transfer 85 21,009 5,845 (129) 5 = (26,725) s
Disposals RE (7,196) - - - @) - (7,198)
At 31 December 2016 1#2016512A31A 118,646 62,790 3,307 3,285 4,778 41,648 234,354
Accumulated depreciation 23 iE
At 1 January 2015 R2015F1A18 19,778 18,670 2,637 1,179 2,285 = 44,449
Charge for the year ER;HR 4,352 3,689 677 366 555 - 9,639
Disposals RE (3,663) (2,955) - (139) (134) - (6,891)
At 31 December 2015 and R2015%12A318 K
1 January 2016 20161 A1R 20,467 19,304 3,314 1,406 2,706 = 47,197
Charge for the year ERR 5,268 4,962 6) 400 429 - 11,053
Transfer by 5 - () - - - -
Disposals RE (4,108) - - - ¥] - (4,110)
At 31 December 2016 #2016%12A31A 21,632 24,266 3,303 1,806 3,133 = 54,140
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2016 1#2016%12A31A 96,914 38,524 4 1,479 1,645 41,648 180,214
At 31 December 2015 7#2015%12A31A 79,168 33,596 122 1,216 1,779 45,921 161,802
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18.

19.

20.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment pledged as security for the Group’s bank loan amounted to
approximately RMB22,126,000 (2015: RMB2,738,000).

Certain buildings constructed on the leased land for which the Group
had not applied for the property ownership certificate amounted to
RMB978,000 as at 31 December 2016 (2015: RMB1,143,000). Such
leased land are used by the Group for production of canned food and
other processed food.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

17. W% - BERRE(E

M2016F 12 A31H  MASERITERE
KHOYWE  BELIENRAENAAR
#22 126,0007T (20154 : AR #2,738,000
JL) °

M2016F12A31H » REBE I R ENHA
EtmETIEFTSEAARKEI?8,0007T
(20154 : AR#1,143,0007C ) B 5% &= = B
EiEE - A5EBEEREL B IEEER
SHEmMEREMMIEM -

18. B LHER

2016 2015

20164 2015%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREBTFT

At 1 January ®1A18 36,858 35,270
Addition for the year FRARNE - 2,349
Disposal BE (3,313) -
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments Bt 4 #th 78 & Fui# 4 (761) (761)
At 31 December M12H31H 32,784 36,858

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent payments for land
use rights in the PRC under medium term leases.

OTHER ASSETS
Other assets of the Group represented the rental prepaid for a piece

of land on 1 December 2008 of 50 years for mushroom plantation
purposes.

AREENFEN I HEFRERN D EBLRES
HATH & SN Y LM R RESRE o

19. HthEE
AEBEMEAMEERR2008F 12 A1 HHL—

Bt ENNES - RH50F - AIEERE
18 e

INVENTORIES 20. F&
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREF T
Raw materials R 3,903 3,021
Work in progress TS 13,959 13,320
Finished goods =K 1,175 2,658
19,037 18,999
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21. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The Group is engaged in mushroom plantation for supply to customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

1. £YEE

AEBEEEFERENRTPHE -

Reconciliation of carrying amount of mushroom: ERMREEHRAT

2016 2015

20165 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARETIT

At 1 January ®1A1H 53,102 93,707

Increases due to plantation A& 18 3% hn 178,807 203,324
Gain from changes in fair value RN EZERHEEK A

less costs to sell FREEH 2 Was 207,419 246,716

Decreases due to harvest B R W R (380,009) (490,645)

At 31 December ®W12H31H 59,319 53,102

Gain from changes in fair value less cost to sell included those
biological assets sold during the year (realised) and those biological
assets not yet sold as at the end of the reporting period (unrealised).

Biological assets were mushroom and were stated at fair value less
costs to sell as at the end of the reporting period. The fair value was
determined by the professional valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited with reference to market-determined
prices, cultivation areas, species, growing conditions, cost incurred and
expected yield of crops.

Market and cost approaches are adopted to value the agricultural
produce of mushroom as at the end of respective years. During the
growing period, cost approach is adopted. The costs of direct raw
material, direct labour, labour service and leasing have been considered
in the calculation of the fair values for the growing period and these
costs are approximately to their fair value. During the harvesting
period, market approach is adopted. Therefore, the fair values of the
biological assets as at the end of respective years are calculated to
be the product of market price and estimated the agricultural produce
mushroom after deducting the reasonable cost related to selling.

The fair value measurement of the mushroom is categorised as level
3 fair value measurement within the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. Significant unobservable
inputs are mainly the expected future cash flow and the discount
rate. The higher the future cash flows or the lower the discount rate,
the higher the fair value determined. Due to the production cycle of
the mushroom is relatively short, the impact on the valuation of the
expected future cash flow and discount rate are immaterial.

During the year, there was no transfer occurred between levels in the
hierarchy (2015: Nil).

DA BB ERARES 2 W BN
FADHENENEE(BER) AREER
SHRARDENEMEECRER) -

EMEERER  ERNREHRZIAER
HEKRARTIER - AnEHEXGEMTE
BITEEFGERAERNERABASENSE
B BEEE 2E ERERL - AERA
NIEHZ RERBRMETE °

REBERRAMSERR AN EHERRE
mETEE RERPRAKESE - 5t84
RENAAEREERERRME - BES
T SHEREERES  MAERKALRFH
ARERE - RRKRARBHEE - Bt
NIEAERNEMEEAARBRNINRE B
HENEERARETERA G EERE
mESHE -

BRAREHERBRA=ZALAAESR(ER
RBIBRSBREENE1 - AR EENE)
ME=ZBRAREFE - EETAEREIEE
ERAHPRRBESREIREK - RRBALR
AERMAXTE  BEEN2AABNES -
RN E RN EEESMEERE  AHRKR
R LREREFNGEZELTERX -

RER - EHFPEEHLELIRNER (2015
F4E) o
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21. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 21. EYMEE(E)

The movement in the fair value of the assets within level 3 of the F=RELNEELAAENEESNOT
hierarchy is as follows:

King trumpet mushroom,
button mushroom and
shiitake mushroom

BELE - BREREG

2016 2015

20165 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

At 1 January »1A1H 53,102 93,707

Increases due to plantation R FE 15 3% hn 178,807 203,324

Gain from changes in fair value AR EEBREERAREEZ

less costs to sell (#) WS (#) 207,419 246,716

Decreases due to harvest ESE N (380,009) (490,645)

At 31 December ®12HA31H 59,319 53,102
(#) Included gains or losses for assets held at  (#)BIERHRE BRI E E 2 Wk

the end of the reporting period k& 18 16,931 14,391
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HZE2016F12A31BILFE

21. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 21. EYEEE)
The following unobservable inputs were used to measure the Group’s To BT 2 A% B L BEE TR~ ] B
mushroom plantation: g -
Effect on fair
value for
Valuation Range increase Fair value
Description technique Unobservable inputs As at 31 December of inputs As at 31 December
4B gy M
B HERT ATERHE MM2B31A MMENFE MM2A318
2016 2015 2016 2015
216%F 015% 16F 20158
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEETTR ARETT
King trumpet mushroom  Cost and Market King trumpet mushroom yield 0.27 kg - 0.36 kg 0.30kg-0.39kg Increase 15,266 12,187
approach
BekE HAERTSE AHLES 0.212FE 030RTE %M
0.36F 0.3927
Price of king trumpet RMB7.7 - RMB11.54 ~ RMB9.05-RMB9.29  Increase
mushroom per kg per kg
BHLER I UNTI )i
AE®1.77E AEE9.0512
ARE11.547 ARH9.0910
Button mushroom Cost and Market Button mushroom yield 21.50 kg 19.72kg  Increase 43,963 40915
approach
Bl RAERMRE EiiES 1502 197287 E
Price of button mushroom RMB7.65 per kg RMB6.19 perkg  Increase
BB SN BB £
ARE7.657 ARE6.197C
Shitake mushroom Cost and Market Shitake mushroom yield 0.30 kg N/A  Increase 20 -
approach
&t HAERTSE BliEE 0.302f MER M
Price of shiitake mushroom RMB6.20 per kg N/A~ Increase
BIEER N TER KM
AE®6.207
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22.

B RS Ak M

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its mushroom
plantation:

(1

()

3)

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the PRC where
it operates. The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local environmental
and other laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify
environmental risks and to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate to manage those risks.

Supply and demand risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the
price and sales volume of mushroom. Where possible the Group
manages this risk by aligning its harvest volume to market supply
and demand. Management performs regular industry trend
analysis to ensure that the Group’s pricing structure is in line
with the market and to ensure that projected harvest volumes are
consistent with the expected demand.

Climate and other risks

The Group’s mushroom plantations are exposed to the risk of
damage from climatic changes, diseases and other natural forces.
The Group has extensive processes in place aimed at monitoring
and mitigating those risks, including regular health inspections and
industry pest and disease surveys.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit terms of trade receivables are in accordance with specific
payment schedules agreed with various customers and generally range
from 30 to 90 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. For new
customers, payment in advance is normally required. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE2016F 128318 LFE

21. EYEE(E)

228

AEBEEGS THEAEFEESBORER

1)

()

(©)

EERRERR

AEBEAETHR(EEZME) 5=
FOER - ARBEERIEN AT RE R
HAEROBRERR R - ERETE
HETRAE - UERIRFE AR ERR
THERAEEZERAR -

SRR

R & B TH e (R P 2 (B AR I SH B 7 A AR
BER - AEEFRERRETS
AR A REE R E - LB LA
- EEEERETHEBEOMN 0 U
ERASENEESBEMS 3 I
HEIRIE BAER N & ERTRHATE SR — B -

SR e E A B
AEBWEEEERRERIEZEL &

EREMEANBERNBEERR - &
SECHEREEEEERERA MR
BEIEF - BEEBREREARITE
TREREHE -

B 5 BUWKE

BHRYEGIRZ EEHRRETREFERD

B R

=2

EFBURIEREELR - ¥ EFME -

NEZHEmER BN FI0EWNX - &

—an
A

JAIRRIAT R o AN B = SR R (B E B BUR
HERFBGERIE S - EE ST HIEA LGSR -
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22, E5RENFIE(E)

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on the TN AAREBRREZRHNE 5 EWEIE

invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: MBS ) R BREE AT -
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
0 to 90 days 0Z290K 196,487 124,480
91 to 180 days 91E180K 2 -
Over 1 year 1FEMNU E 156 -
196,645 124,480

M2016F12A31H * EZENKIEARK
29,237,0007t (20154 : AR¥EZT L) B #E 5
BARRBE o b5 FRIEEIT B EH R D8 H
ZEBIUTRFAR  WEZHENRFIBZE

As at 31 December 2016, trade receivables of RMB29,237,000 (2015:
RMB Nil) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

BT :
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARET T
Up to 3 months 3EARN 29,079 =
3 to 6 months 3Z=6f@A 2 -
6 months to 1 year EEENE:S 156 =
29,237 -

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are

AEEE S EURANREEZ A TS ER

denominated in the following currencies: =i
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
RMB AREE 130,974 58,970
us$ e 65,671 70,510
Total et 196,645 124,480

137




ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A Ea =
r%/T\ = Ejﬁ'%#&% M‘T HE For the year ended 31 December 2016
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23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. &% - BNARERHEMEWTIE
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T
Deposits %4 25,433 12,480
Earnest money paid for acquisition of BAWELEREY RES
land use rights 87,600 87,600
Prepayments TET IR 8,292 5,878
Other receivables H e IR 540 6,858
121,865 112,816
24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 24. RITRBF LR
The bank and cash balances of the Group denominated in the REERIRITRIR S HERIRA T B ERHE -

currencies as follows:

2016 2015
20164 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARETTT
RMB AR 1,143,747 982,455
HK$ BT 5,355 29,533
us$ e 24,604 2,358
Singapore dollars oo 190 -
Japanese Yen = 106 -
1,174,002 1,014,346

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s 15 A R 5 3R N R d vh B O B 2B (4 451 )

Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of RCEERE - EERNEEERE)

Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE EETRHE
Number of Number of
shares shares
KRGO E R EE
000 US$’000 ‘000 RMB’000
T & FE=r T ARETT
Balance at 1 January 2015 201591 A1 BBy &84 2,000,000 20,000 5,748 375
Issue of 125,000,000 BERS IR ST
ordinary shares of US$0.01 125,000,0008% &% E &
each pursuant to global 0.013E TR E AR
offering (note (a)) (Kf5E(a)) - - 125,000 7,640
Capitalisation issue of &AL E17369,252,1004%
369,252,100 ordinary shares  FAREE0.01FETTH
of US$0.01 each (note (b)) T EAR (FT5E(b)) - - 369,252 22,571
Balance at 31 December 2015 2015412 H831H
and 1 January 2016 %20164F1 A1 H &R 2,000,000 20,000 500,000 30,586
Issue of shares under share BRI BB 1 TR 1D
option schemes = = 20,000 1,333
Balance at 31 December 2016 2016412 31 H VA& 4 2,000,000 20,000 520,000 31,919

Notes: P &E

(@)  Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 27 May 2015, the shareholders of the (a) IRIEBE2015F5A27THMBHEMARAR - KAFRKR
Company approved the allotment and issue of 125,000,000 new ordinary shares of REERAARBITRMEIREEMEHE RET
US$0.01 each of the Company (the “New Shares”) in connection with the global offering 125,000,000/ & AR FIE0.01 3£ 70 2 AR AIH & i@
of shares by the Company. The New Shares, issued on 17 June 2015, at HK$4.71 each ([#RR]) - FBHER2015F6 A17BAFR4.71
for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$588,750,000 (approximately BLZEBEETEE2HERE  BRSRECRIKRA
RMB464,025,000) and fully paid-up, rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ) /$588,750,000/% 7T (K A R #464,025,0007T) -
issued and fully paid-up shares of the Company. ZERGEARARRRACDETRARHRNESHE

ZERSHEF -

(b)  Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 27 May 2015, the shareholders of the (b) RIE2015F5A27HBBHEMAER - ARRIRRE
Company approved as a result of the issuance of the New Shares pursuant to the global BOE R XI5 (o) Tl IR 4R 2 BR B S BT R D 1% -
offering as mentioned in note (a) above, an amount of US$3,692,521 standing to the KR A AR 15 34 18 BR A0 3 BR 583,692,521 £ T #§ B 1B [A)
credit of the share premium account of the Company was capitalised by applying such EHRBEETKANERRARRICAEREH 2R
sum forwards paying up in full at par a total of 369,252,100 shares for allotment and issue K E1T4 $£869,252, 100 IR D BT E A °

to the then existing shareholders before the completion of the global offering.
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SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-
back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to
reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted
capital. Total debt comprises borrowings. Adjusted capital comprises
all components of equity (i.e. share capital, retained profits and other
reserves).

During 2016, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2015,
was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at a level of industry
average. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 December 2016 and
at 31 December 2015 were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE2016F 128318 LFE

25. BRAN(4E)

$E@§$A£§E’JIEET¥%”& EAEEA
RENERTBELENHRE  WRBBRLER
&%mthi%ﬁ%ﬂx%rﬁ@iﬁ

AEBRLEPIRRARREEASHE - NEE
EREEAGRE YHRELERARLEEE
ERRSHENBELEMAR - BT H#FHAER
EARGEE  AREFTREERERYRE @ &
TER D - Mgk - BAKE  BERA
B EEE R D ET

AEBHAEEHERABRRA L R ARAEER
AR o b KB EFER AL AR E ARG
- ARREBEER KRABREABERE
mZﬁﬁﬁ*B (BMBRAS ~ R i ) B H b fok
) o

R20164F + NE® Z KBS (EH2015F4R)
T B EYEAEEARY RETETFHK
T o 2016412 31 H %2015512 A31 H
Z BB ARERL RINTAR

2016 2015

20164 20155

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Total debt BERE 10,000 10,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents e e RBLEFEY (1,174,002) (1,014,346)
Net debt BEFHE (1,164,002) (1,004,346)
Total equity EmAaEE 1,676,664 1,453,296
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio B AR E AR N/A i@ N/A 73

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is in order to
maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of
at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars weekly on
substantial share interests showing the non-public float and it
demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the
period. As at 31 December 2016, 41% (2015: 40%) of the shares were
in public hands.

G B 44 H B 2 P 2 T s ey S BT 5
%Hé$xiﬁj$%lmﬁ<ﬁ§9 25% 0 /5

IV\*TJ‘HXE °

AEETRAEEROMBREERER L 2K
E BRI TRERARTREZERKRMDE
&= WERAEBRNEA—EHEET25%
ZPREE - 20169 12A318 » 41% 2 5 M
NEEH (20154 : 40%) °
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26. STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 26. ARFZHBERRERRHEEE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) ANATZBBEARRE
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBT T ARETIT
ASSETS EiE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB A RMRE 328 328
Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries AR EENGIE 569,360 453,932
Bank and cash balances RITRIF S LR 5,944 144,344
Total current assets MEEEHARE 575,304 598,276
Total assets BEEMEE 575,632 598,604
Equity and liabilities EnkBE
Equity attributable to owners FEEBRARARMER A
of the Company T
Share capital &N 31,919 30,586
Reserves i 26(b) 530,880 556,793
Total equity TERAAEE 562,799 587,379
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities nEAE
Accruals fEETE 2,050 850
Due to subsidiaries FEAT B B A RIZRIA 10,783 10,375
Total current liabilities mEBELRE 12,833 11,225
Total equity and liabilities EEkBEEE 575,632 598,604
Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2017 and are BEESN2017E3A28B M EN B TIES
signed on its behalf by: RERHEF
Zheng Zonghui Zheng Ruyan
ERFANE A
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26. STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 26. AR B2 BARRERFHEEE(E)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) DB ZEEEEE

Share Share option Shares to Accumulated

premium reserve be issued losses Total
REE BRERE STRIRG By Azt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETR

(note 27(b)(v))
(FH&E27(b)(v))
At 1 January 2015 #2015%1 A1A 129,479 - - (2,369) 127,110
Total comprehensive income FREENEEE
for the year - - - (16,894) (16,894)
Issue of new shares pursuantto  RIERHEERTHRN
global offering(note 25(a)) (P 7E25(a)) 456,385 - - - 456,385
Cost of issuing new shares BESKBERT
pursuant to global offering FTR (D AR (19,038) - - - (19,038)
Capitalisation of issue of shares AR BETRG
(note 25(b)) (FfizE25(b)) (22,571) - - - (22,571)
Equity-settled share-based payment LAREZ 4 E Bk (5 A
e S ANE - 31,801 - - 31,801
414,776 31,801 - (16,894) 429,683
At 31 December 2015 and R2015F128318 &
1 January 2016 20161 A1H 544,255 31,801 - (19,263) 556,793
Total comprehensive income FREAENEEE
for the year = = = (18,105) (18,105)
Transfer ERE (200,000) - - 200,000 -
Receipt for exercise of share options 17{# B ik E YK - - 34,010 - 34,010
Issue of shares under share option 1R IR AR i 2 21247 M1
schemes 75,877 (28,699) - - 47,178
Equity-settled share-based payment LAz 4 k(7 A
B8 AN = 33,510 = = 33,510
Dividend paid EHRRE - - - (1225080 (122,50)
Changes in equity for the year FRERES (124,123) 4,811 34,010 59,389 (25,913)
At 31 December 2016 R2016F12A31H 420,132 36,612 34,010 40,126 530,880
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27. RESERVES

(a) Group

(b)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Other reserve

Other reserve arose as a result of the group reorganisation
as described in the prospectus published by the Company
dated 8 June 2015 and represented the difference between
the consideration of repurchase of equity interests in f&R24x &
RmEEABR AR (Fujian Greenfresh Foods Group Company
Limited) (“Fujian Greenfresh Foods”) by Jingxiang Foods
over the registered capital of Fujian Greenfresh Foods.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
the share premium account of the Company are distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represented the excess of the contribution
by the non-controlling interests to a subsidiary which is non-
distributable.

Statutory surplus reserve

The statutory surplus reserve, which is non-distributable, is
appropriated from the profit after taxation of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries under the applicable laws and regulations in the
PRC.

27. f#fE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

(a) &&EH

AEENRESEREBBH27INER
BaEkEMEERGERARGEERE
BHERA o

(b) REEUERAE

()

(i)

(i)

(iv)

JETE 2

Hit g AREEZAEE (AR
RAIHHIR20166F6 A8 R 2 Mk E2
RHEERR)  ERARMOER
EaErRmEBARAR([BRE
BEem)BENRBEEEZZER
m )M B A Z RRZE

REREFESRFE - AARKRD
BERNESATHD IR TARER
R-EZEEFRERE ZAH
& ARRAGEIBER—RE
BRETIH 2 ER -

=]
BRI S — KK B
NRIZBELIE  ZeBATAS
K °

A (=

1

z

EERBEE - IRESBEERE
RRRGI B AL E T BN E QR
BERENPENAS IR -
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27. RESERVES (Continued) 27. B (4E)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (b) REEHEERRE(E)
(v) Share option reserve (v) BRI
The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual EREREERETARERESL
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted BB 2 BB IEFT ARITEBIREE
to the directors and employees of the Group recognised in BZ AR BERBLEE VB RERME
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for equity- A(r)ARERS B E IR D B ERE 2 1 FRFT
settled share-based payment in note 4(r) to the consolidated NN TR IER ©

financial statement.

28. TRADE PAYABLES 28. ESEMNRE
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the date NEBE G ENZTBEIZKEE Y B 289 BR 5
of receipt of goods, is as follows: DITEAR ¢
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
0 to 90 days 0£90X 75,498 41,189
91 to 180 days 91E180K 2,984 65
181 to 365 days 181E365K 1,009 -
Over 1 year 15 E 502 24
79,993 41,278
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated NEEE FEMNZTENE®RBEIRAT®ES
in the following currencies: & :
2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBTT
RMB AR 79,396 17,963
Uss$ x5 597 23,315
79,993 41,278
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HZE2016F12A31BILFE

29. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. FEFTE AR HEMENFIE
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Accruals fEFTE A 12,346 11,762
Other payables H b AR 12,220 5,721
24,566 17,483

IR
30. BANK LOAN 30. IRITEM

2016 2015
20164 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT
Bank loan repayable on demand BERFIR—FA
or within one year BEZIRITER 10,000 10,000
The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loan are denominated in AREBBTEFNEMEAAREE -
RMB.
The average interest rates at 31 December were as follows: M12 831 BRFEHF =T -
2016 2015
20165 20154
Bank loan RITER 4.35% 7.00%
per annum per annum
BF4.35% FF7.00%
Bank loan of RMB10,000,000 (2015: RMB10,000,000) is arranged at IR1ITE AR % 10,000,0007T (20154 = A
fixed interest rate and expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. E#10,000,0007T ) JHIRE E FMEt B -t
SEEAEARABRNERR
Bank loan of RMB10,000,000 as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was 20169 K2015F 12 A31H » RITERA
secured by corporate guarantee of the group companies and pledge of K #10,000,000;t HE B R A 2 B EERK
the Group’s property, plant and equipment. REEZME - WE RBEEER -
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31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015

The Company operates a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive or
reward to eligible persons (being any director or employee (whether full
time or part time), of any member of the Group) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Company and to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme became effective on 27 May 2015.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which the
share options may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be 25,000,000 shares of the Company representing approximately
5% of the issued share capital of the Company upon listing of the
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration
of RMB1 in total by the grantee. The share options granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme can only be exercised during the three
years from the date of listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Date”) and as set out below:

- 40% of the total number of share options granted after 6 months
from the Listing Date;

—  30% of the total number of share options granted after 18 months
from the Listing Date; and

- 30% of the total number of share options granted after 30 months
from the Listing Date.

The exercise price of the share options is HK$2.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE2016F 128318 LFE

1. ROBER 2N

201555 827 H R EIR A B BRI B
MR

ANRRETRNARBEABREAE(E
RAOFRBERBRESTE ) AAKETM
RERARMNEAEERAL(ESZTHEE (THE
Bhsk Fe %) ) IR BB Sk B3R - NREIRE A
ARRNFEEHEBMBER S » WEAR
SEBURENEEEENES - §AH
HERTE AT 2 2015F5 A27 HR B A
3 o

BEBRXAREERERETSETERD
WEBRESRARAZENESEHE B
25,000,000% 2~ A 1A% 17+ 491k A2 A1 Ak 15
REER AT ET 8RR R Z B BEITRALIS% °

RERHZBRETNIZE AR 28HR
B MARAAXNERARBITTZRE
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

31. RIDAEB 2NE)

201555827 HERAH EIR A B BRI IE
R mERT 8 ()

B SERBIFENT

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
& B SRR HA 1TfEHR TEE
HK$
BT
2015A 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to 18 December 2015 to 2.00
17 December 2015 17 June 2018
2015%6H17H 20156 H17TRE 2015%12H18H & 2.00
201512 A17H 2018%6H17H
2015B 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to 18 December 2016 to 2.00
17 December 2016 17 June 2018
20156 417H 20156 A17H=E 201612818 & 2.00
2016%F12H17H 201856 H17H
2015C 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to 18 December 2017 to 2.00
17 December 2017 17 June 2018
2015%F6817H 20156 817H= 201712818 & 2.00
2017128178 2018%6H17H

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 3 years from the date
of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves
the Group.

fisf s AR R A A X B B RERT B4R 12 IR AT
- Eie2H - MESRKMALRSE @ HiE
PR LRI o
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 31. BRrBER AR (E

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued) A2015F 5827 B M B R AR ERIE
MRRET&I(4E)

Details of the movement of share options during the year are as follows: FR - BRENZIFBET :
2016 2015
20165 20154
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share exercise share exercise
options price options price
BREHE IS IEARE S = hnAEFS
TEE TE(E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at the beginning Bi¥IR1T{E
of the period 25,000,000 2.00 = =
Granted during the year FARE - - 25,000,000 2.00
Exercised during the year FERNITE (10,000,000) 2.00 - -
Outstanding at the end of FRARITE
the year 15,000,000 2.00 25,000,000 2.00
Exercisable at the end of RERA{THE
the year 7,500,000 2.00 10,000,000 2.00
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share FERTENBRERITEES B 2 EFH K%
options exercised during the year was HK$3.73. The options BA3.738 7T - RERKITEREIRE IN#E
outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining FHBRTAELNFEEHAE1.5F «- REE2015F
contractual life of 1.5 years. During the year ended 31 December 2015, 12A31BIEFE - BRER2015F6H17H
options were granted on 17 June 2015. The estimated fair value of the Rt - BRERZBHENESFAABELABA
options on this date is approximately RMB52,680,000. KR #52 680,000 °
These fair values were calculated using the Binomial Model. The inputs AREDTEE_ERAETEBERITE - ZER
into the model are as follows: BB ABURINT ¢
2015A, 2015B 2015A - 2015B
and 2015C K 2015C
Weighted average share price HK$4.71 INEEFEHRLE 4718 7T
Weighted average exercise price HK$2.00 INEEFITEE 2.00/ 7T
Expected volatility 46.40% TEHR R R 46.40%
Expected life 3 years Bt 3%
Risk free rate 0.78% 1 [ B ) 2 0.78%
Expected dividend yield 2.80% TEHARR B K 2.80%
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility TR IE TH IR BB AR B Al LR "l Y
of the comparable companies as at the date of grant of the share PRIEEEE -
options.

148




2016 F3f / FEGBEEBBR A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31.

R B RAR MR

W

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
Share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive or reward to eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full time or part time),
consultants or adviser of the Group who in the sole discretion of the
board of the directors of the Company has contributed to and/or will
contribute to the Group) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts
to promote the interests of, the Group and for such other purposes as
the board of directors of the Company may approve from time to time.
The Share Option Scheme became effective on 27 May 2015 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number
of shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

At the time of adoption by the Company of the Share Option Scheme or
any new share option scheme, the aggregate number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme, the new share option scheme and all schemes
existing at such time of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of the shares in issue as at the Listing Date (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”). The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed by ordinary resolution of
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective close
associates, is required to be approved by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company. In addition, if the Company
proposes to grant options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to their
respective associates which will result in the number and value of the
shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of the offer of such grant in
aggregate exceeding: (i) 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at the relevant time of grant and (i) HK$5 million, based on the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date of each grant.

il

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

ROBER 2 SRE)
201555827 HIRAAVRE R BB

ARARREBEER S ([BRESR D B
BERALT(ARAEEG2RNIBRARE
R/ EAREEERERMOERNAERE
ZHRE (TwmERERE) « BEXEM R
B RGOS E SR - NEBIRE RA KB
MSELERMMIFER N - KRARRES
SARHAEN LM AR - BRERE72015
FE5RA2THAER - RATTBUERERTS »
Bz HRR10FAFH °

RIBE B RS B AT B R AN 2 B ) E At i i
T B 1 i AR 1T (2 # P BB AR T AT
MAlEHTH RN &R EH - TEBBAR
AN B BT ABREN30% © BB L
R - AIASRIEA BB AR & R H A
FERRRERT BI9X h R A -

AR BRI G BB AR 8 S E AT B A
B - ARBA BT 8 - FTIE AR
sTEIRARRERRA 2 A RE BRE
B TR 2 2 AR R M AT (R FT T B AT
ZBp e - AR LT A BB BEITR
D HAER 2 10% ([ ST BIRERS ) o RAEM12
18 F BAFEAR 45 8 A M =t & 7T () R A 51 81 5%
BERZEERTHRSENBERNAR
AEEREEEBETARM 1% o & HEFB
BRI EINE AL RR R RS
EHEAE -

BRI EARRRRNRBRAS £
BRERRBRLAES -

BRFARAIES  TETBRABHTERR
HEMRESEEEBRA L ZBEEAL
RRBVBILIFNITEERAE - ULI - HAR
AEBEARRREERRIBILIRNITES
AWEEEBEALTE THERE - RERE
ZREREEHE12EA BB (2FEEH)
MA A T8 R e A A B AR 1T
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BEEEHL : (BARQRNE @R HSHEE %
TTBAD 20.1% R (N RIBA R B IO N &K H
B EAFERE 2 P A R AT E 2 T (BT H - i
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 31.
Share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
RMB1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the board of directors, and commences
after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than
ten years from the date of the offer of the share options or the expiry
date of the Share Option Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the board
of directors of the Company, but may not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations on the date of the offer of the
share options; (ii) the average of the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company on the date of the offer,
when applicable.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE2016F 128318 LFE

ROBER 2 SRGE)
201555 5 27 B 5RAVE BB AR R =T 81 (48)

REXHZBRERNMES B HEF28A R
B MARARINEHARBITZRE
ARE - AIREZBREZTEHHESS
EE - YhaETHRBHRFELG - mERDH
MMEENEEEREABEA T FREHE
PRt BlEm B B AR R E R%E) -

BREZTEERARAEESETE - D
BERATZREE : ((ARRRONIZEZE
P HE B BAFE R 22 P SRR Pl 2 W 8 ¢ (i)
ARBRONRERREZAHIAERZHE
B Z2 P A SRR P 2 P TE ¢ KRR
ARMI 2 Az EE(ER) -

R RN I T A AU B IR IR ER A
BREZRER -

B2 ERRFHBIT

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
Bl EH =B 1T1EHE TRE
HK$
BT
2016A 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 to 1 April 2016 to 3.71
1 April 2016 30 March 2019
201643 H31H 201643 HA31HE 2016F4A1EE
201654 A1H 201943 A30H
2016B 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 to 1 October 2016 to 3.71
30 September 2016 30 March 2019
20164 3A31H 2016%F3A31HZE 2016%F10A1H
201649 A30H F2019F3A30H
2016C 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 to 1 April 2017 to 3.71
31 March 2017 30 March 2019
20164 3A31H 2016%F3A31HE 20174 R1BE

201743 A31H

If the options remain unexercised after 30 March 2019, the options
expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

201943 A30H

MBS R HE R 201943 H30H B IR 1TfE - H
BEEE - WESBEMASR @ HBRIES
R ©
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 31. RIOBEBZIRE)
Share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued) R20156 5827 HERMM B IRFETEI (&)
Details of the movement of share options during the period are as REIA - BEIRENEE BT
follows:
2016
2016%F
Weighted
Number of average exercise
share options price
BREHE  NMETEHETEE
HK$
BT
Outstanding at the beginning of the year REVRITE - -
Granted during the year REREH 25,000,000 3.71
Exercised during the year RERTTE (10,000,000) 3.71
Outstanding at the end of the year MNERKITE 15,000,000 3.71
Exercisable at the end of the year MNERB{TE 10,000,000 3.71
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share RERNTEZERETES B Z INEFEY
options exercised during the year was HK$3.72. The options BREBAIT72HB T - RERKITEEBRED
outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining MELHHRTAEHNERAB23E - REE
contractual life of 2.3 years. During the year ended 31 December 2016, 201612 A31H - BEARER 2016 3 A 31
options were granted on 31 March 2016. The estimated fair value of the BRE - BRERZBBNGHFTAAEN A
options on this date is approximately HK$19,698,000. 19,698,000/ 7T °
These fair values were calculated using the Binomial Model. The inputs ARENFERA—BAEEBREATE - 2B
into the model are as follows: A ASUELNT ¢
2016A 2016B 2016C 2016A 2016B 2016C
Weighted average share price HK$3.53 HK$3.53 HK$3.53 EFERE  3538BT 353JBT  353IEBTT
Weighted average exercise price HK$3.71 HK$3.71 HK$3.71 MEEHTEE 3718 37181 3718
Expected volatility 55.06% 55.06% 55.06% Ta R g 55.06%  55.06%  55.06%
Expected life 1.85 years 2.05 years 2.33 years B EH 1.854% 2.05% 2.334F
Risk free rate 0.83% 0.83% 0.83% 4 3 b 1| 2R 0.83% 0.83% 0.83%
Expected dividend yield 5.66% 5.66% 5.66% FEHIRR B & 5.66% 5.66% 5.66%
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility S ER PR 1 2 = B NG )
of the comparable companies as at the date of grant of the share PRIEETEAETE
options.
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33.

34.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2015: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period

32.

33.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

\\\\\\\

M20165F12A31H - AEBEIWEL A E A
REE(2015%F « &) o

BRI

MRS HRE AT B M R A 2 B AR

7

but not incurred are as follows: T
2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Prepaid land lease payment and property, AR EEFIARYE
plant and equipment B K &1 75,477 76,247
LEASE AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 34. HERHMEE
The Group as lessee AEEEREBA

At 31 December 2016 the total future minimum lease and other
payment under non-cancellable operating lease are repayable as
follows:

R20165F12 A31 BRE T A BEHLCLHER
RRFEAEREARBERUT AR
i

2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETIT
Within one year —FR 17,700 14,483
In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_EZERAFTAN(BIEEERT) 32,248 36,044
After five years hFR 4,600 4,612
54,548 55,139

Operating lease and other payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its offices and production plants and
subcontracting fee payable to the contractors for planting of the
mushrooms. Leases are negotiated for an average term from 1 to 50
years.

The above lease commitments only include commitments for basic
rentals based on the prevailing terms and prices of rental as at the
end of the reporting periods, and do not include commitments for
additional/decrement of rental payable (contingent rents), if any, which
are to be determined generally by applying prevailing market prices
of agricultural products when the Group are demanded for rental
payments, as it is not possible in advance the amount of such additional
rental.

rReEEEREMNFEAREREE THA
ERBEFERCEERE BN ZES U RE
NEBENDSEER - HOTVEN F1E50
FO IS F R -

LR E AR E B RIR S R E B F
REBEERAEZEAREAE Y IE
RN BRI E AE (A S) (4
B) ARTAIRE R EZSEIMEE S
B MZERIMMEE - BRRAREFE (S
MEFRRERRERMNIRITHEMETE
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HZE2016F12A31BILFE

34. LEASE AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (Continued) 34. HERHMAIEE
The Group as lessor AEBEEREHBEA
Property rental income earned during the year was RMB415,000 (2015: FAMEHES WA BAREE415,0007T(2015
RMB68,000). & AR¥68,0007T) °
At 31 December 2016 the total future minimum lease payments under K20165F12 A31 HRE T AT BEELCEHER
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows: RRFEAE R EAFRIB AN AT B HUK
BY :
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFIT
Within one year —FR 60 68
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_EFERFAN(RIEEEMSF) 135 =
195 68
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The Group had the following transactions with its related parties as
follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

35. BEARS

(@) AKEEHERRESNZZHAT

2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT
Rental paid to a close family member SNF—REBOHRNES
of a director 160 243
Property, plant and equipment and prepaid ~ [A—ZE R HEEWE -
land lease payments sold to a close family 85 & aR i R B
member of a director TR ER 7,800 -

(b) Due from a related party
This represented the balance of the proceed for disposal of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments

receivable from a close member of a director.

(c) The remuneration of directors and other members of key

(b) FEW—HBIES KA
WAREEYE - BB MRENREM
T ERER — R E R AR PSR

TRAEER

() FRAEFREMTIEEREKNE 2HE

management during the year was as follows: R
2016 2015
20164 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARKEF T
Short-term benefits S R A 1,822 1,193
Post-employment benefit RKEF 50 43
Equity-settled share-based payments ARz B AR ) A ERET K 5,224 9,547
7,096 10,783
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

36. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36. RIBE AR ZRE

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: MBRARZFBO TR

Date and place
of incorporation/

Issued and paid-

establishment up/registered Effective interests
Name and operation capital held by the Group (%) Principal activities
AL ERITREAN/
#8 HYREE 2 AL HEER AEERE 2 ER#ES (%) TEXRED
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
Directly held B35
Empire Foods Limited 23 June 2011 US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding
British Virgin Islands
Empire Foods Limited 201146 23R 50,0003 75 BAER
EEBELHS
Indirectly held f #1545
China Green Group Co., Limited 25 February 2011 HK$10,000 100 100  Investment holding
Hong Kong and trading
HEZEEEERAR 2011%2A258 10,0007%7C REBREES
B
Jingxiang Foods 24 December 2001 US$17,820,000 100 100  Investment holding
PRC (2015: US$13,620,000) and trading of
mushroom
SARM 2001128248 17,820,000% 7T REBRREEES
HE (2015%
13,620,000% L)
Fujian Greenfresh Foods 3 November 1995 RMB68,000,000 100 100  Investment holding
PRC and manufacturing
of canned food
BREZERM 199511 A3H AR #68,000,0007T REERREER
H B
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

36. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. RITBEARZ2RE (&

Date and place
of incorporation/

Issued and paid-

establishment up/registered Effective interests
Name and operation capital held by the Group (%) Principal activities
ML BRIREHN/
A8 BYREE AR HEMER AEERAZERER (%) TEERED
2016 2015
201645 20154
RERm (8M) BRAF 11 January 1999 RMB7,000,000 100 100 Manufacturing of
(Greenfresh Foods (Zhangzhou) PRC canned food
Company Limited)
&ERm C8M) BRAF 19991 A11H ARH7,000,0007 SEHEBER M
HE
Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture 24 November 2009 RMB30,000,000 100 100  Investment holding
PRC and mushroom
plantation
BEERER 2009511 A24H AR#%30,000,0007T REAZRREERE
HE
Shengtai Agricultural Development 26 August 2011 RMB500,000 100 100  Trading of food
PRC
BREZRE 201148A268 AR500,0007C RRES
HE
BN EMRRER AR 9 October 2015 RMB15,000,000 100 100 Mushroom plantation
(Zhangzhou Greenfresh Biological ~ PRC
Technology Limited)
EMEEEMNBBER R 2015610A9H AR15,000,0007C R
HE
Greenfresh Nanchang 15 October 2015 HK$3,000,000 100 100  Trading of food
PRC
#EBS 2015%10A158 3,000,000 7 AnE5
H
Xinjiang Greenfresh 23 November 2015 RMB10,000,000 100 100  Trading of food
PRC
NESE 2015611 A23H AE#10,000,0007T 100 100 2mESH
HE
Singapore Cambo Biological 09 December 2015 US$300,000 100 100  Trading of food
Technology PTE. Ltd Singapore
HMIERE AT 201561298 300,000% 7T 100 100 RmES
HN%
Jl=V et 4 Z—HASH 14 January 2016 JPY20,000,000 99.75 - Trading of food
(“Japan Lvhui”) PRC
J)=2 et Z-HASH 201651 R148 20,000,0008 70 99.75 - RmE5H
(TB&&E]) H
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36. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. RMBARIZIRE (&

Date and place
of incorporation/

Issued and paid-

establishment up/registered Effective interests
Name and operation capital held by the Group (%) Principal activities
ML/ BRIREHN/
A1 RYREE AR HEMER AEEREZERES (%) TEERED
2016 2015
201645 20154
Hebei Greenfresh 24 March 2016 US$2,002,000 100 - Trading of food
PRC
Wik E 201693 A 248 2,002,000%7T 100 - RmEH
H
Lvhe 11 May 2016 RMB10,000,000 60 - Mushroom Plantation
PRC
590 201645H11H AR®10,000,0007C 60 - REEE
H
ERIHBEENREERAT 1 November 2016 HK$10,000,000 100 - Not yet commenced
(Heilongjiang Greenfresh Biological ~ PRC business
Technology Limited)
EREIAEERBEERAA 2016F11R18 10,000,000/ 7T 100 - ARRER
H
MG E ERHBR AR 3 November 2016 RMB10,000,000 100 - Not yet commenced
(Hulin Greenfresh Biological PRC business
Technology Limited)
BRI ERRAE 2016511 3R AR 10,000,000 100 - ARRER
H
EfgBEEYRRER AR 23 December 2016 HK$10,000,000 100 - Not yet commenced
(Yunnan Lvhui Biological PRC business
Technology Limited)
ERBENRBEERD A 2016512238 10,000,000% 7T 100 - ARRER
H
I EEEYRRARAE 1 November 2016 US$2,000,000 100 - Not yet commenced
(Shenzhen New Biological PRC business
Technology Limited)
YR E LR BRA A 2016F11R18 2,000,000 70 100 - ARRER
H
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31H ILFE

36. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. RITEARZRE (&

TERATAEEHAEER S BERLIFE
Pt ss ([ R MER ) 2B ARER - B

The following table shows information on the subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised

158

financial information represents amounts before inter-company

BEHNMERR AR MY HE 22 -

eliminations.
Lvhe Japan Lvhui
#5m Ep:N=3
2016 2016
Name £ 20165 20164
Principal place of business/country F 2B R ER PRC PRC
of incorporation == A
% of ownership interests/voting rights AR RS A 40% 0.25%
held by NCI ZEEEE DL
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET
At 31 December: M12H8318 :
Non-current assets SEmBNEE 20,771 -
Current assets MENEE 9,252 224
Non-current liabilities FERBAE - -
Current liabilities mBBE (16,746) (55)
Net assets BEFRE 13,277 169
Accumulated NCI BErIEER i 5,311 -
Year ended 31 December: HZ12A31HILEFE :
Revenue A 8,896 3
Loss g (1,124) (949)
Total comprehensive income FHW L (1,124) (949)
Loss allocated to NCI DB T IR IR R Y B8 (450) (3)
Dividends paid to NCI ST IR ERARE - -
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating RETEIE,
activities (FrA)BR&F5E 6,137 (1,012)
Net cash used in investing activities KA EEFTAE S 58 (20,291) -
Net cash generated from financing activities B BTSRRI R 14,401 1,118
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re RBFSEEYEINFE 247 106
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36.

37.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB1,003,375,000 (2015: RMB675,219,000). Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2016 of HK2.00 cents (equivalent to
approximately RMB1.77 cents) (2015: HK20.00 cents (equivalent to
approximately RMB17.00 cents) per ordinary share has been proposed
by the board of directors of the Company and is subject to approval
by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On 28 March 2017, the Board has proposed, subject to the
shareholders’ approval, a bonus issue of shares on the basis of
one bonus share for every one existing ordinary share held by the
shareholders. Further details of this bonus issue, including the relevant
details of the resolutions to be passed by the shareholders and
the record date for such entitlements, will be disclosed in a further
announcement and circular to be published by the Company.

36.

37.

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HZE2016F12A31HILFE

RB AR ZRE (&

M2016F 12 A31 H » REBE N R B
RAINBETRREAEB(UAARESIE) A
A R #1,008,375,000 7T (20154 : AR
675,219,0007T) ° i AR H i BINEEIR
AR B ONE B IR R KAETE - S B RNEE
BIREVELT -

HEHRSEE

HEHRE  ARRIEZSEEREZ2016
F12 A31 A IEFE IR G T @AR2.00781(L
(HBERHAREA. 775 ) (20155 : 20.007%
I(HEEROAREEA7.000)) 2 KRR L.
WEFARARGBRER ARG ERERRAEFA
e FHER T AER -

R201743 A28 ' EECEBZRBRER
BB A LB — IS o E LT
MR HERESACKREMESAES -
BRARBITHE—SHE  BERRESR
BZREZROBBFBREEEN 28R
B BRAREBITHIE 2 A% RBE T A
WE -
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Summary Financial Information

MBHE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group prepared on the bases set out in the note below:

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE

T AAREERMEM T 2 EEREZE R
XERBERAEIHE

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
20165 20154 20144 20134 20124
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARET T ARBTTT
RESULTS E
Revenue WA 1,086,216 762,118 545,655 471,490 425,428
Profit before tax 56 517 Y A 225,438 220,437 177,340 153,833 111,667
Income tax expense FTisRiF (3,799) (2,705) (2,252) (6,047) (10,610)
Profit for the year F A A 221,639 217,732 175,088 147,786 101,057
Attributable to: BEEN
Owners of the Company RNATEE A 222,092 217,732 175,088 147,786 101,517
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR M 2 (453) - - - -
221,639 217,732 175,088 147,786 101,057
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FERHEE 213,688 199,366 187,434 176,670 154,590
Current assets RENEE 1,579,630 1,323,743 625,878 385,881 253,143
Non-current liabilities FERHEE (1,091) - - - -
Current liabilities mBAE (115,563) (69,813) (54,536) (48,566) (101,357)
Net assets BEFH 1,676,664 1,453,296 758,776 513,985 306,376
Attributable to: SRR
Owners of the Company ~ Z&AFHEAE A 1,671,353 1,453,296 758,776 513,985 306,376
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR RS 5,311 - _ _ _
Total equity HmiBEE 1,676,664 1,453,296 758,776 513,985 306,376
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